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                                     PART I

Item 1. Business
- ----------------

         Ethan Allen Inc. ("Ethan Allen") is a leading manufacturer and retailer
of quality home  furnishings,  offering a full range of  furniture  products and
accessories.  Ethan Allen was founded in 1932 and has sold  products  since 1937
under the Ethan Allen brand name.  Ethan Allen Interiors Inc. (the "Company") is
a Delaware corporation, incorporated in 1989.

         Ethan Allen manufactures and distributes three principal product lines:
(i) case goods (wood  furnishings),  consisting  primarily of bedroom and dining
room furniture,  wall units and tables;  (ii) upholstered  products,  consisting
primarily  of  sofas,   loveseats,   chairs,  and  recliners;   and  (iii)  home
accessories,  and other,  including  carpeting and area rugs, lighting products,
clocks, wall decor,  bedding ensembles,  draperies,  decorative  accessories and
indoor\outdoor furnishings. The following table shows the approximate percentage
of wholesale sales of home  furnishing  products for each of these product lines
during the three most recent fiscal years:

                                       Fiscal Year Ended June 30:
                                       --------------------------
                                        1999      1998      1997
                                        ----      ----      ----

          Case Goods                     57%       58%       58%
          Upholstered Products           28        28        30
          Home Accessories               15        14        12
                                        ---       ---       ---



                                        100%      100%      100%
                                        ===       ===       ===

         Ethan Allen's product  strategy has been to expand its home furnishings
collections  to appeal to a broader  consumer base while  providing good quality
and value. Ethan Allen continuously  monitors consumer demands through marketing
research  and through  consultation  with its dealers  and store  designers  who
provide valuable input on consumer tastes and needs. As a result, the Company is
able to react quickly to changing  consumer  tastes and has added or revised six
major new home furnishing collections in the past five years. In addition, Ethan
Allen  continuously  refines and enhances  each  collection by adding new pieces
and, as appropriate,  discontinuing or redesigning pieces.  Approximately 90% of
the Company's products have been redesigned over the last six years. This allows
the Company to maintain  focused lines within each style category which enhances
efficiencies.  In fiscal year 1999, the Company's  focus was on introducing  the
Avenue and Ethan  Allen  Kids lines of home  furnishings.  These  products  have
recently been  introduced at the retail level and revenues to date have not been
significant.  Also,  in fiscal year 1999,  the Company  initiated  its  Internet
distribution strategy, which is expected to be launched in the second quarter of
fiscal year 2000.

         Current  products are  positioned  in terms of  selection,  quality and
value.  Management believes that the two most important style categories in home
furnishings  today are Classic and Casual.  Ethan  Allen's  products are grouped
into collections within these two lifestyle categories. Each collection includes
case goods,  upholstered  products and  accessories,  each styled with  distinct
design characteristics.  Accessories,  including lighting,  floor covering, wall
decor, draperies and textiles, play an important role in Ethan Allen's marketing
program as this  enables  the  Company to  provide a complete  home  furnishings
collection.  Ethan  Allen's  store  concept  allows  for the  display  of  these
categories in complete room settings  which utilize the related  collections  to
project the category lifestyle.
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         The following is a summary of Ethan  Allen's  major  categories of home
furnishing collections that have been introduced at the wholesale level:
<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

                         PRINCIPAL
                          STYLE                      HOME FURNISHING            CASE GOOD       YEAR OF
         CATEGORY     CHARACTERISTICS                COLLECTIONS                WOOD TYPE     INTRODUCTION
         --------     ---------------                ---------------            ---------     ------------
         <S>               <C>                           <C>                      <C>              <C>

         Classic      An opulent style, which        Georgian Court             Cherry            1965
                      includes English 18th          18th Century               Mahogany          1987
                      Century and 19th Century       Medallion                  Cherry            1990
                      Neo-Classic styling.           Avenue                     Cherry            1998
                                                     Collectors Classics        Various           Various
                                                     Legacy Collection          Maple             1992
                                                     British Classics           Maple             1995
                                                     Country French             Birch             1998

         Casual       This style is based            American Impressions       Cherry            1991
                      on classic contemporary        American Dimensions        Maple             1992
                      design elements.               Radius                     Prima Vera        1994
                                                     Farmhouse Pine             Pine              1988
                                                     Country Crossings          Maple             1993
                                                     Country Colors             Maple             1995
                                                     American Artisan           Oak               1998
</TABLE>

Industry Segments

         The  Company's  operations  are  classified  into two main  businesses:
wholesale and retail home furnishings.  The wholesale home furnishings  business
is  principally  involved  in the  manufacture,  sale and  distribution  of home
furnishing  products to a network of  independently-owned  and Ethan Allen-owned
stores. The wholesale  business primarily consists of three operating  segments;
case goods (wood furniture),  upholstery, and home accessories.  The retail home
furnishings  business sells home furnishing  products through a network of Ethan
Allen-owned stores.

         The retail business  exclusively  sells Ethan Allen's products though a
network  of 309  retail  stores.  As of June 30,  1999,  Ethan  Allen  owned and
operated  73 stores  and  independent  retailers  owned and  operated  215 North



American stores and 21 stores abroad. In the past six years, Ethan Allen and its
independent retailers have opened over 130 new stores, many of them relocations.
Sales to independent  dealer-owned  stores  accounted for  approximately  60% of
total net sales of the  Company  in fiscal  1999.  The ten  largest  independent
dealers own a total of 42 stores,  which accounted for  approximately 22% of net
orders booked in fiscal 1999.

         Ethan Allen  desires to maintain  independent  ownership of most of its
retail stores and has an active program to identify and develop new  independent
dealers.  Independent dealers are required to enter into license agreements with
Ethan  Allen  authorizing  the use of  certain  Ethan  Allen  service  marks and
requiring  adherence to certain standards of operation.  These standards include
the exclusive sale of Ethan Allen products.  Additionally,  dealers are required
to enter into  warranty  service  agreements.  Ethan Allen is not subject to any
territorial or exclusive dealer agreements in the United States.

Wholesale Home Furnishings:

         Case Good Business.  For 1999, the Company's case good business had net
sales of $352.2  million (57% of the Company's  wholesale  net sales).  The case
good  segment  is  engaged  in the  manufacture  and sale of wood  furniture  to
independent and company-owned  retailers. The Company currently has 12 case good
locations which includes 3 sawmill  operations.  Sales of wood furniture include
home furnishing items such as, beds, dressers,  armoires,  night tables,  dining
room chairs and tables, buffets, sideboards, coffee tables, entertainment units,
and home offices.

         Upholstery Business.  For 1999, the upholstery segment had net sales of
$174.6  million  (28% of the  Company's  wholesale  net sales).  The  Upholstery
segment is involved in the manufacture and sale of upholstered  frames,  and cut
fabrics and leathers.  Skilled craftsmen cut and sew custom-designed  upholstery
items having a variety of frame and fabric  options.  Sales of  upholstery  home
furnishing items include sleepers, recliners, sofas and cut fabrics.
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         Home Accessory  Business.  For 1999, home  accessories had net sales of
$90.1 million (14% of the Company's  wholesale  net sales).  The home  accessory
segment primarily sells home accent items such as wall decor, lighting,  clocks,
wood accents, bedspreads, decorative accessories, area rugs, and bedding.

Retail Home Furnishings:

         Company Retail Business.  For 1999, the retail segment had net sales of
$294.7  million  (39% of the  Company's  net sales).  As of June 30,  1999,  the
Company-owned  stores  consisted of 73 locations as compared to 67 at the end of
the  prior  fiscal  year.  During  1999,  the  Company  acquired  5 stores  from
independent  retailers,  opened 4 new  stores,  relocated 3 stores and closed an
additional 3 stores.

         For further information  regarding  operating segments,  see Note 14 to
the  Company's  Consolidated  Financial  Statements  for the year ended June 30,
1999.

         Retail Store Concept.  Ethan Allen's retail concept is flexible in size
and format  depending  on the limits of real estate and the retail  environment.
Although  stores  range in size from  approximately  6,000 square feet to 30,000
square feet, the average size of a store is about 15,000 square feet.  Depending
on the  opportunity  in the market,  stores are located in busy urban  settings,
suburban strip malls and free-standing destination stores.

         Ethan Allen maximizes  uniformity of store presentation  throughout the
retail  network  through  uniform  standards of  operation.  These  standards of
operation  help each store  present the same high quality image and offer retail
customers  consistent  levels of product  selection and service.  The stores are
staffed with a sales force consisting of approximately  2,400 trained designers,
who assist customers at no additional  charge in decorating  their homes.  Ethan
Allen  believes this design  service gives it an unusual  competitive  advantage
over other furniture retailers.

         In  1992,  Ethan  Allen  instituted  a  new  image  and  logo  program.
Additionally,  Ethan Allen  undertook a program to renovate  the exterior of its
stores.  As of June 30, 1999,  this  renovation  program has been  substantially
completed  with  297 or 96% of all  stores  (including  dealer-owned  and  Ethan
Allen-owned  stores)  having either  implemented  new exteriors or are currently
under  renovation.  Ethan Allen also  provides  display  planning  assistance to
dealers to support them in updating the interior  projection of their stores. In
May 1997, the Company unveiled a 30,000 square foot prototype store in Stamford,
Connecticut.  The store is divided into  three-stores-in-one and positions Ethan
Allen as specialists in casual styles,  classic designs and decorative accessory
retailing.  It features two fully  designed show homes to inspire  consumers and
show them how  product  could look in their  homes.  In  addition,  it  presents
products in focused vignettes that are easy and relatively inexpensive to update



each season.  Information  displays educate  consumers as they travel throughout
the store.  In the fall of 1997, the Company adapted this concept into a smaller
15,000 - 20,000 square foot format and presented the new format to the Company's
retail  network.  To date,  68 or 22% of all  stores  have  incorporated  or are
currently in the process of  incorporating  this new interior  design.  Consumer
response has been strong and Ethan Allen expects to have  essentially all of its
Company-owned  retail stores incorporate the new interior look over the next few
years  and  believes  that  many of its  independent  retail  stores  will  also
incorporate this new strategy.

         Ethan  Allen  recognizes  the  importance  of its store  network to its
long-term  success and has developed and maintains a close ongoing  relationship
with its  dealers.  Ethan Allen offers  substantial  services to the Ethan Allen
stores in support of their marketing  efforts,  including  coordinated  national
advertising,  merchandising and display programs,  and extensive dealer training
seminars and educational materials. Ethan Allen believes that the development of
designers,  sales  managers,  service  and  delivery  personnel  and  dealers is
important for the growth of its business. Ethan Allen has, therefore,  committed
to offer to all  dealers  a  comprehensive  training  program  that will help to
develop retail managers/owners,  designers and service and delivery personnel to
their fullest  potential.  Ethan Allen has offered  dealers  various  assistance
programs,  including  long-term  financial  assistance  in  connection  with the
financing of their inventory,
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the opening of new stores and the renovation of stores in accordance  with Ethan
Allen's image and logo program.

Advertising and Promotion

         Ethan Allen has developed a highly coordinated,  nationwide advertising
and promotional  campaign designed to increase consumer awareness of the breadth
of Ethan Allen's product  offerings.  Ethan Allen launched an expanded  national
television campaign in January 1997 to increase the Company's  projection at the
national level.  In addition to its national  television  campaign,  Ethan Allen
utilizes direct mail,  magazine,  newspaper and radio  advertising.  Ethan Allen
believes that its ability to coordinate  its  advertising  efforts with those of
its  dealers  provides  a  competitive  advantage  over  other  home  furnishing
manufacturers and retailers.

         Ethan Allen's in-house staff,  working with a leading advertising firm,
has developed and  implemented  what the Company  believes is the most extensive
national television campaign in the home furnishings industry.  This campaign is
designed to support the eight  annual sale  periods and to increase  the flow of
traffic into stores during the sale periods.  Ethan Allen television advertising
is aired approximately 27 weeks per year.

         The Ethan Allen Interiors  magazine,  which features Ethan Allen's home
furnishing collections,  is one of Ethan Allen's most important marketing tools.
Over 58 million  copies of the  magazine,  which  features  sale  products,  are
distributed to consumers  during the eight sale periods.  The Company  publishes
and sells  the  magazines  to its  dealers  who,  with  demographic  information
collected  through  independent  market  research,  are able to target potential
consumers.

         Ethan  Allen's  television  advertising  and direct  mail  efforts  are
supported by strong  print  campaigns  in various  markets,  and in leading home
fashion magazines using advertisements and public relations efforts. The Company
coordinates significant advertisements in major newspapers in its major markets.
The  Ethan  Allen  Treasury,  a  complete  catalogue  of the  Ethan  Allen  home
collection which is distributed in the stores, is one of the most  comprehensive
home furnishing catalogues in the industry.

Manufacturing

         Ethan  Allen  is one of the  ten  largest  manufacturers  of  household
furniture  in the United  States.  Ethan  Allen  manufactures  and/or  assembles
approximately 90% of its products at 21 manufacturing  facilities which includes
3 saw mills,  thereby  maintaining control over cost, quality and service to its
consumers.  The case  goods  facilities  are  located  close to  sources  of raw
materials and skilled  craftsmen,  predominantly  in the Northeast and Southeast
regions of the country.  Upholstery facilities are located across the country in
order to reduce  shipping costs to stores and are located at sites where skilled
craftsmanship  is  available.   Management   believes  that  its   manufacturing
facilities  with  reasonable   investments  are  currently  well  positioned  to
accommodate future sales growth.

Distribution

         Ethan Allen  distributes its products  primarily through eight regional
distribution centers and terminals  strategically  located throughout the United



States. These distribution centers and terminals hold finished products received
from Ethan  Allen's  manufacturing  facilities  for  shipment  to Ethan  Allen's
dealers or home  delivery  service  centers.  Ethan Allen  stocks case goods and
accessories  to provide for quick  delivery  of in-stock  items and to allow for
more efficient production runs.

         Approximately  35% of shipments  are made to and from the  distribution
and home delivery service centers by the Company's fleet of trucks and trailers.
The  balance  of  Ethan  Allen's  shipments  are  subcontracted  to  independent
carriers.  Approximately 80% of Ethan  Allen-owned  delivery vehicles are leased
under two to eight-year leases.
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         Ethan Allen's policy is to sell its products at the same delivered cost
to all dealers  nationwide,  regardless of their shipping point. The adoption of
this policy has discouraged dealers from carrying significant inventory in their
own warehouses.  As a result, Ethan Allen obtains accurate information regarding
sales to dealers to better plan production runs and manage inventory. Having one
national landed cost has permitted Ethan Allen to provide one national suggested
retail price which, in turn, helps facilitate a national advertising program.

Raw Materials and Suppliers

         The most  important  raw  materials  used by Ethan  Allen in  furniture
manufacturing are lumber,  veneers,  plywood,  particle board,  hardware,  glue,
finishing materials,  glass, mirrored glass,  laminates and fabrics. The various
types of wood used in Ethan Allen's products include cherry,  oak, maple,  prima
vera,  mahogany,  birch  and  pine,  substantially  all of which  are  purchased
domestically.  Fabrics and other raw materials are purchased  both  domestically
and abroad.  Ethan Allen has no long-term supply contracts,  and has experienced
no significant  problems in supplying its  operations.  Ethan Allen  maintains a
number of sources for its raw materials which management  believes contribute to
its ability to obtain  competitive  pricing  for raw  materials.  Lumber  prices
fluctuate  over time  depending  on factors  such as weather and  demand,  which
impact  availability.  Upward trends in prices could have a short-term impact on
margins.  A  sufficient  inventory  of lumber and  fabric is usually  stocked to
maintain  approximately 10 to 19 weeks of production.  Management  believes that
its  sources  of supply  for these  materials  are  adequate  and that it is not
dependent on any one supplier.

Competition

         The home furnishings industry at the retail level is highly competitive
and  fragmented.  Although  Ethan  Allen  is  among  the ten  largest  furniture
manufacturers,   industry   estimates   indicate   that  there  are  over  1,000
manufacturers  of all types of  furniture  in the United  States.  Some of these
manufacturers  produce furniture types not manufactured by Ethan Allen.  Certain
of the  companies  which  compete  directly  with Ethan  Allen may have  greater
financial and other resources than the Company.

         Recently,  additional  competition has entered the industry in the form
of Internet retailers.  The Company estimates that these start-up companies have
received funding in excess of $150.0 million.

         Since Ethan Allen's  products are sold  primarily  through stores which
sell exclusively Ethan Allen products, Ethan Allen's effort is focused primarily
upon obtaining and retaining  independent dealers and upon increasing the volume
of such dealers' retail sales and opening new Ethan Allen-owned stores. The home
furnishings  industry  competes  primarily  on the basis of product  styling and
quality,  personal  service,  prompt delivery,  product  availability and price.
Ethan Allen believes that it effectively  competes on the basis of each of these
factors  and  believes  that its store  format  provides  it with a  competitive
advantage because of the complete home furnishing  product selection and service
available to the consumer.

         Furniture Today (a leading industry publication)  published a survey of
America's Top 100 Furniture  Retailers for 1999. Ethan Allen was ranked No. 2 in
terms  of  furniture,   beddings  and  accessary  sales  for   dealer-owned  and
company-owned  stores and was ranked No. 1 as the  largest  single-source  store
network for home  furnishings  in the  country.  According  to the  survey,  the
nation's 100 largest  furniture  retailers  accounted  for 48% of all  furniture
sales in the United States in 1998. Sales for the top 10 retailers grew 11.9% to
approximately $8.0 billion which represents a 21% share of all furniture stores.

Trademarks

         Ethan Allen  currently  holds  numerous  trademarks,  service marks and
design  patents for the Ethan Allen name,  logos and designs in a broad range of
classes for both  products and  services.  Ethan Allen also holds  international
registrations  for Ethan Allen  trademarks  in forty  foreign  countries and has
applications  for registration  pending in thirty-one  other foreign  countries.



Ethan Allen has
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registered or has applications pending for many of its major collection names as
well as certain of its slogans  coined for use in  connection  with retail sales
and other  services.  Ethan Allen views its trade and service  marks as valuable
assets and has an ongoing program to diligently  monitor their  unauthorized use
through appropriate action.

Backlog and Net Orders Booked

         As  of  June  30,  1999,  Ethan  Allen  had  a  wholesale   backlog  of
approximately  $56.9 million,  compared to a backlog of $68.6 million as of June
30,  1998.  The backlog is  anticipated  to be serviced in the first  quarter of
fiscal  2000.  Backlog at any point in time is  primarily a result of net orders
booked in prior  periods,  manufacturing  schedules  and the  timing of  product
shipments.  Net orders booked at the wholesale level from all Ethan Allen stores
(including all  independently-owned and Ethan Allen-owned stores) for the twelve
months ended June 30, 1999 were $618.5 million, resulting in an increase of 5.6%
for fiscal year 1999.  The fiscal year 1999 orders were  negatively  impacted by
the absence of a spring  conference,  adjusting  for this event,  orders for the
year would have  increased  8.0%.  Net orders  booked in any period are recorded
based on  wholesale  prices and do not reflect  the  additional  retail  margins
produced by the Ethan Allen-owned stores.

Employees

         Ethan Allen has 7,514 employees as of June 30, 1999. Approximately 7.8%
of  the  employees  are  represented  by  unions  under  collective   bargaining
agreements.  Ethan Allen  believes it has good  relations with its employees and
there have been no work stoppages during the last three years.
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Item 2. Properties
- ------------------

         The  corporate   headquarters  of  Ethan  Allen,  located  in  Danbury,
Connecticut,  consists of one building  containing 144,000 square feet, situated
on  approximately  17.5  acres  of land,  all of which is owned by Ethan  Allen.
Located  adjacent to the corporate  headquarters is the Ethan Allen Inn, a hotel
containing 195 guest rooms.  This hotel,  owned by a wholly-owned  subsidiary of
Ethan Allen,  is used for Ethan Allen  functions and in connection with training
programs as well as for accommodations for the general public.

         Ethan Allen has 21 manufacturing facilities, which includes 3 saw mills
located in 11 states,  all of which are owned,  with the  exception  of a leased
upholstery  plant in California,  totaling 122,300 square feet. These facilities
consist of 12 case goods  manufacturing  plants,  totaling 3,019,500 square feet
(including three sawmills), six upholstered furniture plants, totaling 1,384,000
square feet and three plants  involved in the  manufacture and assembly of Ethan
Allen's  non-furniture  coordinates  totaling  413,200 square feet. In addition,
Ethan Allen owns five and leases three distribution warehouses, totaling 863,900
square feet, and leases two home delivery  service centers  aggregating  102,800
square feet. The Company's manufacturing and distribution facilities are located
in  North  Carolina,  Vermont,  Pennsylvania,   Virginia,  New  York,  Oklahoma,
California, New Jersey, Georgia, Indiana, Maine, and Massachusetts.

         Ethan Allen  operates 73 Ethan Allen  stores in the United  States,  of
which 21 stores are owned and 52 stores are leased.

         Certain store  properties are subject to mortgage loan  agreements.  In
addition,  Ethan Allen's  Maiden,  North Carolina  facility was financed with an
industrial  revenue bond.  Ethan Allen  believes that all of its  properties are
well maintained and in good condition.

         Ethan  Allen  estimates  that  its  case  goods,  upholstery,  and home
accessories  operating segments are currently  operating at approximately 85% of
capacity.  Management  believes it has significant  additional  capacity at many
facilities,  which it could utilize with minimal additional capital expenditures
by  adding  multiple  shift  operations.   Ethan  Allen  considers  its  present
manufacturing capacity to be sufficient for its foreseeable needs.
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Item 3.  Legal Proceedings
- --------------------------

         Ethan  Allen  is a party  to  various  legal  actions  with  customers,
employees and others  arising in the normal course of its business.  Ethan Allen
maintains  liability  insurance  which Ethan Allen  believes is adequate for its
needs and commensurate  with other companies in the home  furnishings  industry.
Ethan Allen believes that the final resolution of pending actions (including any
potential  liability not fully covered by insurance) will not have a substantial
adverse effect on the Company's results of operations and financial position.

Environmental Matters

         The Company has been named as a potentially  responsible  party ("PRP")
for the cleanup of three sites currently listed or proposed for inclusion on the
National Priorities List ("NPL") under the Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation  and  Liability  Act of  1980  ("CERCLA").  The  Company  is also a
settling defendant for remedial design and construction activities at one of the
sites.  Numerous other parties have been identified as PRP's at these sites. The
Company  believes  its  share of waste  contributed  to these  sites is small in
relation to the total; however, liability under CERCLA may be joint and several.
The Company has total reserves of $500,000  applicable to these sites, which the
Company  believes  would be sufficient to cover any  resulting  liability.  With
respect  to all of these  sites,  the  Company  believes  that it is not a major
contributor  based on the very small volume of waste generated by the Company in
relation to total volume at the site. The Company has concluded its  involvement
with one site and  settled as a  de-minimis  party.  For two of the  sites,  the
remedial  investigation is ongoing.  A volume based allocation of responsibility
among the parties has been prepared.

         Ethan Allen is subject to other federal,  state and local environmental
protection   laws  and  regulations  and  is  involved  from  time  to  time  in
investigations and proceedings regarding  environmental  matters. The Company is
regulated under several federal, state and local laws and regulations concerning
air emissions,  water discharges,  and management of solid and hazardous wastes.
The Company  believes that its  facilities are in material  compliance  with all
applicable  laws and  regulations.  Regulations  issued  under the Clean Air Act
Amendments  of 1990  required  the  Company  to  reformulate  certain  furniture
finishes or institute  process changes to reduce  emissions of volatile  organic
compounds.  These  requirements  have been  implemented  via high solids coating
technology and alternative  formulations.  Ethan Allen has implemented a variety
of  technical  and  procedural  controls,  such as  reformulating  of  finishing
materials to reduce toxicity, implementation of high velocity low pressure spray
systems,  development of  inspections/audit  teams including  coating  emissions
reductions teams at all finishing factories and storm water protection plans and
controls, that have reduced emissions per unit of production. In addition, Ethan
Allen  is  currently  reclassifying  its  waste  as  part of the  factory  waste
minimization  programs,  developing  environment  and safety job hazard analysis
programs on the shop floor to reduce  emissions and safety risks, and developing
an auditing system to control and ensure consistent protocols and procedures are
applied.  The  Company  will  continue  to evaluate  the best  applicable,  cost
effective,  control  technologies for finishing  operations and design hazardous
materials out of the manufacturing processes.

                                       9

Item 4.  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
- ------------------------------------------------------------

         The following matters were submitted to security holders of the Company
in fiscal 1999:

         o        Proposal for the election of Clinton A. Clark,  Kristin Gamble
                  and Edward H. Meyer as Directors.

         o        Proposal for ratification of KPMG LLP as Independent  Auditors
                  for fiscal year 2000.

         o        Proposal  of an  amendment  to the 1992 Stock  Option  Plan to
                  award options to purchase 3,000 shares of stock to each of the
                  Independent Directors.

         o        Proposal for an amendment to the Certificate of  Incorporation
                  to increase  the number of  authorized  shares of common stock
                  from 70,000,000 to 150,000,000.



                                       10

                                    PART II

Item 5.  Market for Registrant's Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------------

         The  Company's  Common Stock is traded on the New York Stock  Exchange.
The  following  table  indicates  the high and low sales prices of the Company's
Common  Stock as  reported on the New York Stock  Exchange  Composite  Tape,  as
adjusted for the three-for-two stock split:

                                             Market Price
                                      -----------------------
                                      High              Low
                                      ----              ---

         Fiscal 1999
         -----------

         Fourth Quarter              $ 37 3/4         $ 24 21/32
         Third Quarter                 33 13/16         25 1/2
         Second Quarter                29               15 3/4
         First Quarter                 34 3/4           20

         Fiscal 1998
         -----------

         Fourth Quarter              $ 43             $ 30 1/4
         Third Quarter                 44 13/32         22 7/8
         Second Quarter                28 9/16          20
         First Quarter                 25 3/16          16 1/2

         As of August 27, 1999,  there were  approximately  451 share holders of
record of the Company's Common Stock.

         On August 5,  1999,  the  Company  declared  a $0.04 per  common  share
dividend  for all  holders  of record on  October  8, 1999 and  payment  date of
October 22, 1999. The Company expects to continue to declare quarterly dividends
for the foreseeable future.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data
- -------------------------------

         The  following   table  sets  forth  summary   consolidated   financial
information  of the  Company  for the  years  and dates  indicated  (dollars  in
thousands, except per share data):
<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                                              Fiscal Years Ended June 30,
                                              ----------------------------------------------------------
                                                1999             1998              1997           1996           
1995
                                              ---------        --------          --------       --------       ---
-----
<S>                                              <C>             <C>               <C>             <C>            
<C>
Statement of Operations Data:

Net sales                                     $762,233         $679,321          $571,838       $509,776       
$476,111

Cost of sales                                  407,234          363,746           323,600        304,650        
291,038

Selling, general and
 administrative expenses                       222,107          195,885           162,389        149,559        
137,387

Expenses related to business
 reorganization and write-down
 of assets held for sale (1)                       -                -                 -              -            
1,550
                                              --------         --------          --------       --------       ---



------

0perating income                               132,892          119,690            85,849         55,567         
46,136

Interest and other
 miscellaneous income, net                       1,707            3,449             1,272          1,039          
1,766
                                              --------         --------          --------       --------       ---
------

Income before interest expense,
 income taxes, extraordinary
 charge and cumulative effect
 of accounting change                          134,599          123,139            87,121         56,606         
47,902

Interest expense (2)                             1,882            4,609             6,427          9,616         
11,937

Income tax expense                              51,429           46,583            31,954         18,845         
13,233 (3)
                                              --------         --------          --------       --------       ---
-----

Income before extraordinary
 charge and cumulative
 effect of accounting
 change                                         81,288           71,948            48,740         28,145         
22,732
Extraordinary charge (net of tax)                  -               (802)(7)           -              -           
(2,073)(4)

Cumulative effect of
 accounting change (net of tax)                    -                -                 -              -            
1,467 (5)
                                              --------         --------          --------       --------       ---
------

Net income                                    $ 81,288         $ 71,146          $ 48,740       $ 28,145       $ 
22,126
                                              ========         ========          ========       ========       
=========

Per Share Data: (6)

Net income per basic share                    $   1.97         $   1.65          $   1.13       $   0.66       $   
0.51
Basic weighted average shares
 outstanding                                    41,278           43,050            43,190         42,936         
42,996

Net income per diluted share                  $   1.92         $   1.61          $   1.11       $   0.64       $   
0.50
Diluted weighted average
 shares outstanding                             42,287           44,136            43,815         43,692         
43,869

Cash dividends declared                       $   0.12         $   0.09          $   0.07       $   0.03       $    
-

Other information:

Depreciation and amortization                 $ 16,100         $ 15,504          $ 15,848       $ 16,761       $ 
16,098

Capital expenditures                            40,628           29,665            23,383         13,314         
11,244

Balance Sheet Data (at end of period):

Total assets                                  $480,622         $433,123          $427,784       $395,981       
$408,288

Long-term debt including
 capital lease obligations                       9,919           12,496            66,766         82,681        
127,032

Shareholders' equity                          $350,535         $314,320          $265,434       $220,293       
$193,098

Footnotes on following page.
</TABLE>
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                        Notes to Selected Financial Data
                             (Dollars in thousands)

(1)      Included in the $1.6 million charge in fiscal 1995 are fees  associated
         with the business  reorganization  and the  write-down  of property and
         plants held for sale to fair market value.

(2)      Interest  expense  includes  a  non-cash   component  relating  to  the
         amortization of deferred financing costs. Amortization expense included
         in each fiscal year is presented below:

                    1999      1998     1997     1996       1995
                  -------   -------   ------   ------    --------

                  $   243   $  364    $  490   $  596    $ 1,160

(3)      Includes a $1.7 million  credit to income tax expense,  resulting  from
         the  restatement  of deferred  taxes to reflect the Company's  expected
         future   effective  tax  rate  upon  the  completion  of  the  business
         reorganization.

(4)      During fiscal 1995, the Company entered into a bank credit agreement to
         provide up to $110.0 million of senior secured debt. As a result of the
         repayment  of debt,  an  extraordinary  charge of $3.4  million  in the
         aggregate,  $2.1 million net of tax benefit or $0.05 a share  (adjusted
         for the  two-for-one  and  three-for-two  stock  splits)  was  recorded
         relating to the  write-off  of  unamortized  deferred  financing  costs
         associated with the existing bank financing.

(5)      As of July 1, 1994,  the Company  changed its method of accounting  for
         packaging  costs to better  match  revenue with  expenses.  This change
         resulted in a cumulative  adjustment  of $2.4 million ($1.4 million net
         of tax or $0.03 a share adjusted for the two-for one and  three-for-two
         stock splits) which  represents the  capitalization  of packaging costs
         into finished goods and retail inventories.

(6)      Amounts  have been  retroactively  adjusted to reflect the  two-for-one
         stock split on September 2, 1997 and the  three-for-two  stock split on
         May 21, 1999.

(7)      During fiscal 1998, the Company completed its optional early redemption
         of all of its $52.4 million  then-outstanding  8-3/4% Senior Notes, due
         on March 15, 2001,  at 101.458% of par value.  As a result of the early
         redemption,  an  extraordinary  charge  of  $0.8  million,  net  of tax
         benefit, was recorded.  The extraordinary charge included the write-off
         of unamortized  deferred  financing  costs  associated  with the Senior
         Notes and the premium related to the early redemption.
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Item 7.  Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
         Results of Operations
- ------------------------------------------------------------------------

         The  following  discussion  of  results  of  operations  and  financial
condition is based upon and should be read in conjunction  with the Consolidated
Financial  Statements of the Company and notes thereto  included under Item 8 of
this Report.

Forward-Looking Statements

         Management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results
of operations and other  sections of this annual report contain  forward-looking
statements  relating  to future  results of the  Company.  Such  forward-looking
statements are identified by use of forward-looking words such as "anticipates",
"believes",  "plans", "estimates",  "expects", and "intends" or words or phrases
of similar expression.  These forward-looking  statements are subject to various
assumptions,  risks and uncertainties,  including but not limited to, changes in
political and economic conditions, demand for the Company's products, acceptance
of new products, technology developments affecting the Company's products and to
those  discussed  in the  Company's  filings  with the  Securities  and Exchange
Commission.  Accordingly,  actual  results  could differ  materially  from those
contemplated by the forward-looking statements.

Basis of Presentation



         The Company has no material  assets  other than its  ownership of Ethan
Allen's  capital stock and conducts all significant  transactions  through Ethan
Allen;  therefore,  substantially  all of the  financial  information  presented
herein is that of Ethan Allen.

Results of Operations:

         Ethan Allen's revenues are comprised of wholesale sales to dealer-owned
and company-owned  retail stores and retail sales of company-owned  stores.  The
Company's wholesale sales are mainly derived from its three reportable operating
segments;  case  goods,  upholstery,  and home  accessories.  See Note 14 to the
Company's  Consolidated  Financial  Statements for the year ended June 30, 1999.
The components of consolidated revenues are as follows (dollars in millions):
<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

                                                                    Fiscal Years Ended June 30,
                                                           ------------------------------------------
                                                             1999              1998             1997
                                                           -------            ------           ------
           <S>                                                <C>               <C>              <C>
           Revenue:
           Wholesale Revenue:
              Case goods                                    $352.2            $328.6           $279.1
              Upholstery                                     174.6             160.1            145.5
              Home Accessories                                90.1              71.4             59.6
              Other                                           13.7               9.0              4.8
                                                           -------            ------           ------
           Total Wholesale Revenue                           630.6             569.1            489.0
           Total Retail Revenue                              294.7             235.2            175.8
           Other                                               6.4               6.7              5.9
           Elimination of inter-segment sales               (169.5)           (131.7)           (98.9)
                                                            ------            ------           ------
             Consolidated Revenue                           $762.2            $679.3           $571.8
                                                            ======            ======           ======

           Operating Income:
           Wholesale Operating Income:
              Case goods                                    $127.5            $120.3            $95.1
              Upholstery                                      53.2              51.2             44.4
              Home Accessories                                29.2              22.9             18.0
              Unallocated Corporate Expenses                 (87.8)            (86.4)           (74.7)
                                                           -------            ------            -----
           Total Wholesale Operating Income                  122.1             108.0             82.8
           Total Retail Operating Income                      15.1              13.8              7.4
           Other                                               1.4               1.7              1.2
           Eliminations                                       (5.7)             (3.8)            (5.6)
                                                           -------            ------            -----
             Consolidated Operating Income                  $132.9            $119.7            $85.8
                                                            ======            ======            =====
</TABLE>
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Fiscal 1999 Compared to Fiscal 1998

         Consolidated revenue for fiscal year 1999 increased by $82.9 million or
12.2% from fiscal year 1998 to $762.2  million.  Overall  sales growth  resulted
from new product  offerings,  new and relocated  stores and growth in the retail
segment.

         Total wholesale revenue for fiscal year 1999 increased by $61.5 million
or 10.8% to $630.6 million from $569.1  million in fiscal year 1998.  Case goods
revenue increased $23.6 million or 7.2% to $352.2 million in fiscal year 1999 as
compared to the prior year of $328.6 million mainly due to new product offerings
and the benefit of a selected price increase effective December 1, 1998.

         Upholstery revenue increased $14.5 million or 9.1% to $174.6 million in
fiscal  year 1999 as compared  to $160.1 in fiscal  year 1998.  The  increase in
revenue of $14.5 million was primarily  attributable to new fabric introductions
and the impact of expanded national television advertising.

         Home  accessory  revenue  increased  $18.7  million  or  26.2% to $90.1
million in fiscal year 1999. This increase resulted from enhanced  merchandising
strategies,  new  product  introductions,  and an  improved  in-stock  inventory
position which reduced customer lead time.

         Total retail revenue from Ethan  Allen-owned  stores during fiscal year
1999  increased by $59.5 million or 25.3% to $294.7  million from $235.2 million
in fiscal year 1998. The increase in retail sales by Ethan Allen-owned stores is
attributable to a 14.3% or $30.9 million increase in comparable store sales, and
an  increase in sales  generated  by newly  opened or  acquired  stores of $35.2



million,  partially  offset by closed stores,  which generated $6.6 million less
sales in fiscal year 1999 as  compared to fiscal year 1998.  The number of Ethan
Allen-owned  stores  increased to 73 as of June 30, 1999 as compared to 67 as of
June 30, 1998. The Company acquired 5 stores from independent retailers,  opened
4 new stores, relocated 3 stores and closed an additional 3 stores.

         Comparable  stores are those which have been  operating for at least 15
months.  Minimal  net sales,  derived  from the  delivery  of  customer  ordered
product,  are  generated  during the first three months of  operations  of newly
opened  stores.  Stores  acquired  from  dealers by Ethan Allen are  included in
comparable store sales in their 13th full month of Ethan Allen-owned operations.

         During  fiscal year 1999,  the Company  and its  independent  retailers
opened 20 new stores,  of which 9 stores  represented  relocations.  At June 30,
1999, there were 309 total stores,  of which 236 were dealer-owned  stores.  The
Company's  objective is to continue the expansion of both the  dealer-owned  and
Ethan Allen-owned stores.

         Gross profit for fiscal year 1999  increased by $39.4  million or 12.5%
from fiscal year 1998 to $355.0 million. This increase is attributable to higher
sales  volume,  combined  with an increase in gross  margin from 46.5% in fiscal
1998 to 46.6% in fiscal  1999.  Gross  margins have been  favorably  impacted by
higher  sales  volumes,  greater  manufacturing  efficiencies,  improvements  in
manufacturing technology, a selected case good price increase effective December
1, 1998, and a higher  percentage of retail sales to total sales.  These factors
are partially offset by higher raw material and labor costs.

         Operating expenses increased $26.2 million from $195.9 million or 28.8%
of net sales in fiscal 1998 to $222.1  million or 29.1% of net sales,  in fiscal
1999. This increase is attributable to an increase in operating  expenses in the
Company's  retail  division  of $23.1  million due the  expansion  of the retail
segment resulting in the addition of 7 new Ethan Allen-owned stores in 1999.

         Consolidated  operating  income for fiscal year 1999 was $132.9 million
or 17.4% of net sales compared to $119.7 million or 17.6% of net sales in fiscal
year 1998. This represents an increase of $13.2 million or 11.0%.  This increase
is primarily  attributable to higher sales volume,  partially  offset by a lower
wholesale and retail gross margin and higher  operating  expenses related to the
higher retail volume.
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         Total  wholesale  operating  income  for  fiscal  year 1999 was  $122.1
million or 19.4% of net sales  compared to $108.0  million or 19.0% of net sales
in fiscal year 1998.  Wholesale  operating  income  increased  $14.1  million or
13.1%.  Case goods operating  income  increased  $7.2  million or 6.0% to $127.5
million  in fiscal  year 1999 over the prior  year  mainly  due to higher  sales
volume and a selected  price  increase,  offset by a slight  reduction  in gross
margin to 39.4%.

         Upholstery  operating  income  increased  $2.0 million or 3.9% to $53.2
million  in fiscal  year 1999 as  compared  to $51.2 in fiscal  year  1998.  The
increase  resulted from increased  volume and continued  management of expenses.
These  factors are  partially  offset by a reduction in gross margin to 32.9% in
fiscal year 1999 as compared to 34.5% in the prior fiscal year.

         Home  accessory  operating  income  increased  $6.3 million or 27.5% to
$29.2 million in fiscal year 1999. This increase resulted from higher volume and
lower operating  expenses,  slightly offset by a 0.6%  reduction in gross margin
to 33.2%.

         Operating  income from the retail segment  increased by $1.3 million or
9.4% to $15.1  million or 5.1% of net sales  from  $13.8  million or 5.8% of net
sales in fiscal  year 1998.  The  increase in retail  operating  income by Ethan
Allen-owned  stores is  primarily  attributable  to increased  volume,  slightly
offset by a reduction in gross margin from 44.6% in fiscal year 1998 to 44.0% in
fiscal year 1999 and a higher composition of expenses related to the start-up of
7 retail  stores and the  acquisition  of 5 additional  stores from  independent
retailers in fiscal year 1999.

         Interest  expense,  including the  amortization  of deferred  financing
costs,  for fiscal 1999 decreased by $2.7 million to $1.9 million,  due to lower
debt balances and lower amortization of deferred financing costs.

         Income tax expense of $51.4  million was  recorded in fiscal year 1999.
The Company's effective tax rate was 38.8% in 1999 as compared to 39.3% in 1998.
The  decline in the  effective  income tax rate in 1999 as  compared to 1998 has
resulted from  planning  strategies  initiated by the Company during fiscal year
1999.

         During  the year  ended  June 30,  1998,  the  Company  recorded a $0.8
million  extraordinary  charge  (net  of  tax  benefit)  related  to  the  early
retirement  of its  8-3/4%  Senior  Notes due  2001.  The  extraordinary  charge
included the write-off of unamortized  deferred  financing costs and the premium



paid related to the early redemption.

         In fiscal year 1999, the Company  recorded net income of $81.3 million,
an increase of 14.3%, compared to $71.1 million in fiscal year 1998.

Fiscal 1998 Compared to Fiscal 1997

         Consolidated  revenue for fiscal year 1998  increased by $107.5 million
or 18.8% from fiscal year 1997 to $679.3 million.  Overall sales growth resulted
from an  enhanced  national  advertising  program,  product  introductions,  the
addition  of  new  and  relocated   stores  in  the  retail  segment,   improved
effectiveness  in existing  retail stores,  and the benefit of a case good price
increase effective January 1, 1997.

         Total wholesale revenue for fiscal year 1998 increased by $80.1 million
or 16.4% to $569.1 million from $489.0  million in fiscal year 1997.  Case goods
revenue  increased  $49.5 million or 17.7% to $328.6 million in fiscal year 1998
from $279.1 million in fiscal year 1997 due to strong product introductions, and
an enhanced national television advertising campaign.

         Upholstery  revenue  increased $14.6 million or 10.0% to $160.1 million
in fiscal  year 1998 as  compared  to $145.5  million in fiscal  year 1997.  The
increase  in  revenue  of  $14.6  million  was  primarily  attributable  to  the
advertising focus placed on the upholstery product lines.
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         Home  accessory  revenue  increased  $11.8  million  or  19.8% to $71.4
million  in fiscal  year 1998 from  $59.6  million  in fiscal  year  1997.  This
increase  resulted  from a  re-merchandising  focus on  product  lines and price
points.

         Total retail  revenue from Ethan  Allen-owned  stores  increased  $59.4
million or 33.8% in fiscal year 1998 to $235.2  million  from $175.8  million in
fiscal year 1997.  The increase in retail sales by Ethan  Allen-owned  stores is
attributable to a 33.6% or $56.7 million increase in comparable store sales, and
an  increase  in sales  generated  by newly  opened or  acquired  stores of $5.8
million,  partially  offset by closed stores,  which generated $3.1 million less
sales in  fiscal  year 1998 as  compared  to fiscal  1997.  The  number of Ethan
Allen-owned stores increased to 67 at June 1998 as compared to 65 at June 1997.

         During  fiscal year 1998,  the Company  and its  independent  retailers
opened 21 new stores,  of which 3 stores  represented  relocations.  At June 30,
1998, there were 310 total stores, of which 243 were dealer-owned stores.

         Gross profit for fiscal year 1998  increased by $67.4  million or 27.1%
from fiscal year 1997 to $315.6 million. This increase is attributable to higher
sales  volume,  combined  with an increase in gross  margin from 43.4% in fiscal
1997 to 46.5% in fiscal  1998.  Gross  margins have been  favorably  impacted by
higher  sales  volumes,  greater  manufacturing  efficiencies,  improvements  in
manufacturing  technology,  and a higher  percentage  of  retail  sales to total
sales.  These  factors  are  partially  offset  by higher  lumber  and other raw
materials cost.

         Operating expenses increased $33.5 million from $162.4 million or 28.4%
of net sales in fiscal  year 1997 to $195.9  million or 28.8% of net  sales,  in
fiscal year 1998.  This  increase is  attributable  to an increase in  operating
expenses due to higher sales volume and the addition of 21 new Ethan Allen-owned
stores.  Operating  expenses  also  increased due to a $10.4 million rise in the
Company's  advertising  expense  resulting from additional  national  television
costs. The Company  implemented a new national television campaign on January 1,
1997.

         Consolidated  operating  income for fiscal year 1998 was $119.7 million
or 17.6% of net  sales as  compared  to $85.8  million  or 15.0% of net sales in
fiscal year 1997.  This  represents an increase of $33.9  million or 39.4%.  The
increase is  attributable  to higher  sales  volumes,  increased  gross  margins
reflecting, in part, improved efficiencies,  the benefit of a selected case good
price increase  effective January 1, 1997 and continued  monitoring of expenses,
partially offset by higher operating expenses related to higher retail volumes.

         Total  wholesale  operating  income for fiscal  year 1998  amounted  to
$108.0 million or 19.0% of net sales from $82.8 million or 16.9% of net sales in
fiscal year 1997. Case goods operating  income  increased $25.2 million or 26.5%
to $120.3 million in fiscal year 1998 from $95.1 million in fiscal year 1997 due
to higher  volumes and  continued  manufacturing  efficiencies,  resulting in an
improvement  in gross  margin  from 37.6% in fiscal year 1997 to 39.8% in fiscal
year 1998.

         Upholstery  operating  income  increased $6.8 million or 15.3% to $51.2
million in fiscal year 1998 as  compared  to $44.4  million in fiscal year 1997.
Upholstery  gross  margin  improved  to 34.5% in fiscal year 1998 as compared to
33.5% in fiscal year 1997. The increase in income from  operations was primarily



attributable to higher sales volume and lower  manufacturing  costs per unit due
to higher production volumes.

         Home  accessory  operating  income  increased  $4.9 million or 27.2% to
$22.9 million in fiscal year 1998 from $18.0  million in fiscal year 1997.  This
increase  resulted  from higher  volumes and an  improvement  in gross margin to
33.8% in fiscal year 1998 as compared to 32.0% in the prior fiscal year.

         Total retail income from operations  increased $6.4 million or 86.5% in
fiscal year 1998 to $13.8 million or 5.8% of net sales from $7.4 million or 4.2%
of net sales in fiscal year 1997.  The  increase in retail  operating  income by
Ethan Allen-owned stores is attributable to increased volume and lower operating
expenses.

                                       17

         Interest  expense,  including the  amortization  of deferred  financing
costs,  for fiscal 1998 decreased by $1.8 million to $4.6 million,  due to lower
debt  balances and lower  amortization  of deferred  financing  costs.  Interest
expense  excludes  the  accelerated  write-off of the  deferred  financing  cost
related to the Senior  Note  redemption,  which was  reported  separately  as an
extraordinary charge, net of tax benefit.

         Income tax expense of $46.6  million was  recorded in fiscal year 1998.
The  Company's  effective tax rate for fiscal year 1998 was 39.3% as compared to
39.6% in fiscal year 1997.

         During the year ended  June 30,  1998,  the  Company  recorded  an $0.8
million  extraordinary  charge  (net  of  tax  benefit)  related  to  the  early
retirement  of its  8-3/4%  Senior  Notes due  2001.  The  extraordinary  charge
included the write-off of unamortized  deferred  financing costs and the premium
paid related to the early redemption.

         In fiscal year 1998, the Company  recorded net income of $71.1 million,
an increase of 46.0%, compared to $48.7 million in fiscal year 1997.

Financial Condition and Liquidity

         The  Company's  principal  sources  of  liquidity  are cash  flow  from
operations and borrowing  capacity under a revolving credit  facility.  Net cash
provided  by  operating  activities  totaled  $86.7  million  for fiscal 1999 as
compared to $87.6 million in fiscal 1998 and $78.3  million in fiscal 1997.  The
1999 decrease in net cash provided by operating activities  principally resulted
from a $25.0 million  increase in inventory in fiscal year 1999 as compared to a
$6.8  million  increase  in fiscal  year 1998,  offset by, an  increase of $10.1
million in net income,  an increase in accrued  expenses of $4.0 million  during
fiscal year 1999 as compared to a $0.4 million increase in fiscal year 1998, and
a $1.2 million decrease in accounts  receivable in fiscal year 1999, as compared
to a $3.3 million  increase in accounts  receivable  in 1998.  The $25.0 million
increase in inventory in fiscal year 1999 was  attributable  to an $11.4 million
increase  in  Company-owned  store  inventory  and a $13.6  million  increase in
finished  goods.  These  increases  reflect the expansion of the business and an
improvement in the in-stock inventory position,  thereby reducing lead times. At
June 30, 1999 and 1998,  the Company's  working  capital was $123.6  million and
$114.3 million,  respectively.  The current ratio was 2.43 to 1 in 1999 and 2.55
to 1 in 1998.

         During fiscal 1999,  capital spending totaled $40.6 million as compared
to $29.7  million  and  $23.4  million  in fiscal  1998 and 1997,  respectively.
Capital  expenditures in fiscal 2000 are anticipated to be  approximately  $50.0
million. The Company anticipates that cash from operations will be sufficient to
fund  this  level of  capital  expenditures.  The  increased  level  of  capital
spending,  which is  attributable  to new store  openings  and  relocations  and
expanding  manufacturing  capacity,  is expected to continue for the foreseeable
future.

         Total debt outstanding at June 30, 1999 was $10.7 million.  At June 30,
1999, there were no revolving loans outstanding under the Credit Agreement.  The
Company had $84.6 million  available under its revolving credit facility at June
30, 1999.  Trade and standby letters of credit of $15.4 million were outstanding
as of June 30, 1999.

         During fiscal 1998, the Company  completed an optional early redemption
of all of its $52.4 million  outstanding  8-3/4% Senior Notes,  due on March 15,
2001,  at  101.458%  of par  value.  As a result  of the  early  redemption,  an
extraordinary  charge of $.8 million,  net of tax  benefit,  was  recorded.  The
extraordinary  charge included the write-off of unamortized  deferred  financing
costs  associated  with the Senior  Notes and the  premium  related to the early
redemption.  During  fiscal  1998 and  1997,  $0.1  million  and  $9.5  million,
respectively, principal amount of Senior Notes were repurchased.

         The Company  may also,  from time to time,  either  directly or through
agents,  repurchase  its  common  stock in the open  market  through  negotiated



purchases or
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otherwise,  at prices and on terms  satisfactory  to the  Company.  On August 5,
1999,  the  Board of  Directors  authorized  the  Company  to  repurchase  up to
2,000,000  shares.  Through  August 27, 1999,  the Company  repurchased  153,757
shares at an average  price of $27.07 per share.  Depending on market prices and
other conditions relevant to the Company,  such purchases may be discontinued at
any time. During fiscal 1999 and 1998, the Company purchased 1,921,784 shares of
its stock at an  average  price of $23.49  per  share and  774,096  shares at an
average price of $30.11, respectively.

         As of June 30, 1999,  aggregate scheduled  maturities of long-term debt
for each of the next five fiscal years are $0.4 million for fiscal year 2000 and
$0.1 million for each of the four subsequent fiscal years.  Management  believes
that its cash flow from operations, together with its other available sources of
liquidity,  will be adequate to make all  required  payments  of  principal  and
interest on its debt, to permit  anticipated  capital  expenditures  and to fund
working capital and other cash requirements.

Impact of Inflation

         The Company does not believe that  inflation has had a material  impact
on its  profitability  during  the last three  fiscal  years.  In the past,  the
Company  has  generally  been able to  increase  prices to offset  increases  in
operating costs.

Income Taxes

         At June 30, 1999,  the Company has  approximately  $22.3 million of net
operating  loss  carryovers  ("NOL's")  for  federal  income tax  purposes.  The
Recapitalization  in 1995  triggered an  "ownership  change" of the Company,  as
defined  in  Section  382 of the  Internal  Revenue  Code of 1986,  as  amended,
resulting in an annual limitation on the utilization of the NOL's by the Company
of approximately $3.9 million.

New Accounting Pronouncements

         In June 1998, the Financial  Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued
Statement of Financial  Accounting  Standard  ("SFAS") No. 133  "Accounting  for
Derivative  Instruments  and Hedging  Activities"  and No. 137  "Accounting  for
Derivative  Instruments and Hedging  Activities - Deferral of the Effective Date
of FASB Statement No. 133".  SFAS No. 133  establishes  accounting and reporting
standards for derivative instruments,  including derivative instruments embedded
in other contracts, and for hedging activities. This pronouncement requires that
an entity  recognize  all  derivatives  as either assets or  liabilities  in the
statement of financial  position and measure  those  instruments  at fair value.
SFAS No. 137 has  deferred the  effective  date of SFAS No. 133 until the fiscal
year  beginning  after June 15,  2000.  The  Company  will adopt SFAS No. 133 in
fiscal year 2001.  However,  the Company does not expect this  pronouncement  to
have a material impact on its financial results.

Year 2000

         The Company  expects to implement the systems and  programming  changes
necessary  to address  Year 2000  issues and does not  believe  the cost of such
actions  has or  will  have  a  material  effect  on the  Company's  results  of
operations  or financial  condition.  However,  there is no  guarantee  that the
Company,  its  suppliers or other third  parties will be able to make all of the
modifications  necessary  to address  Year 2000 issues on a timely  basis.  This
could  have a  material  adverse  effect on the  Company's  business,  financial
condition  and  results of  operations.  The  Company  views all of its  retail,
wholesale  and  manufacturing  applications  as mission  critical.  The  Company
recently  converted  its retail,  wholesale  and a portion of its  manufacturing
applications  onto one  single  mid range  computer,  utilizing  newly  acquired
integrated software. The newly implemented software is substantially  compliant,
with all date fields  expanded to four  digits.  The Company  formed a redundant
environment  and has rolled the date forward to the year 2000 and has  completed
testing all of its business transactions.
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         Concurrently  with the  aforementioned  project,  the  Company has been
remediating its pre-existing  manufacturing systems. This process is complete in
the Company's wood and upholstery manufacturing facilities. Substantial progress



has been made in the Company's accessory  manufacturing  systems.  The accessory
systems are expected to be fully compliant by September 30, 1999.

         Investments have been made in the Company's peripheral hardware.  These
investments were  necessitated by the retail and wholesale  systems  conversion.
The  Company  compiled a  comprehensive  data base of  hardware  and  associated
software  that is currently in service.  The Company  expects all hardware to be
remediated or replaced by September 30, 1999. To date,  the Company has expended
less than $1.0 million in capital expenditures related to Year 2000 remediation.

         The  Company's  vertical  integrated  structure  might  to some  degree
mitigate the impact of third  parties' Year 2000 issues to adversely  affect the
Company.  However,  the Company  anticipates the possibility that not all of its
vendors,  retailers and other third parties will have taken the necessary  steps
to adequately  address their  respective  Year 2000 issues on a timely basis. In
order to minimize the impact on the  Company,  a project team has been formed to
monitor the  activities of third  parties,  including  sending out inquiries and
evaluating responses.

         Notwithstanding   the  progress  the  Company  has  made  thus  far  in
remediating its existing systems and  implementing  new systems,  the Company is
proceeding in finalizing its formal contingency plan,  including  monitoring its
independent  retailers.  The Company intends to continue monitoring the progress
of others in order to determine  whether  adequate  services will be provided to
run the Company's operations in the Year 2000.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk
- ------------------------------------------------------------------

         The  Company is exposed to  interest  rate risk  primarily  through its
borrowing  activities.  The Company's  policy has been to utilize  United States
dollar denominated  borrowings to fund its working capital and investment needs.
Short term debt, if required,  is used to meet working capital  requirements and
long term debt is  generally  used to finance  long term  investments.  There is
inherent roll-over risk for borrowings as they mature and are renewed at current
market rates. The extent of this risk is not quantifiable or predictable because
of the variability of future interest rates and the Company's  future  financing
requirements.  At June 30, 1999, the Company had $0.8 million of short term debt
outstanding and $9.9 million of total long term debt outstanding.

         The  Company  has  one  debt  instrument  outstanding  with a  variable
interest  rate.  This debt  instrument  has a principal  balance of $4.6 million
which  matures  in  2004.  Based on the  principal  outstanding  in 1999,  a one
percentage  point  increase in the variable  interest  rate would not have had a
significant impact on the Company's 1999 interest expense.

         Currently,  the  Company  does not  enter  into  financial  instruments
transactions  for trading or other  speculative  purposes or to manage  interest
rate exposure.
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Item 8.  Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
- -------  -------------------------------------------

                          INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Ethan Allen Interiors Inc.:

We have  audited the  accompanying  consolidated  balance  sheets of Ethan Allen
Interiors Inc. and Subsidiary  (the "Company") as of June 30, 1999 and 1998, and
the related  consolidated  statements of operations,  shareholders'  equity, and
cash flows for each of the years in the  three-year  period ended June 30, 1999.
In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements,  we also
have audited the financial statement schedule listed in the index under Item No.
14. The consolidated  financial  statements and financial statement schedule are
the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on the  consolidated  financial  statements  and financial  statement
schedule based on our audits.

We  conducted  our  audits  in  accordance  with  generally   accepted  auditing
standards.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material



misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes
assessing the  accounting  principles  used and  significant  estimates  made by
management,  as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated  financial statements referred to above present
fairly,  in all  material  respects,  the  financial  position  of  Ethan  Allen
Interiors  Inc. and  Subsidiary as of June 30, 1999 and 1998, and the results of
their  operations  and their cash flows for each of the years in the  three-year
period ended June 30, 1999, in conformity  with  generally  accepted  accounting
principles.  Also in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when
considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a
whole,  presents  fairly,  in all material  respects,  the information set forth
therein.

                                                      KPMG LLP

Stamford, Connecticut
August 4, 1999, except for Note 16,
  which is as of August 25, 1999
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                    ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
                           Consolidated Balance Sheets
                             June 30, 1999 and 1998
                             (Dollars in thousands)
<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

                                                                       1999         1998
                                                                    ----------   ----------
<S>                                                                     <C>          <C>

ASSETS
Current assets:
  Cash and cash equivalents                                         $   8,968    $  19,380
  Accounts receivable, less allowance of
    $2,460 and $1,962 at June 30, 1999 and
    1998, respectively                                                 34,302       35,640
  Notes receivable, current portion, less
    allowance of $79 and $27 at
    June 30, 1999 and 1998, respectively                                  640          686
  Inventories                                                         144,045      114,364
  Prepaid expenses and other current assets                            14,088       10,735
  Deferred income taxes                                                 7,783        7,094
                                                                    ---------    ---------
     Total current assets                                           $ 209,826    $ 187,899
                                                                    ---------    ---------

Property, plant and equipment, net                                    214,492      188,171
Property held for sale                                                    484        1,129
Notes receivable, net of current portion,
  less allowance of $92 and $259 at
  June 30, 1999 and 1998, respectively                                  1,407        1,790
Intangibles, net                                                       51,598       50,773
Deferred financing costs, net of amortization of
  $952 and $709 at June 30, 1999 and 1998,
  respectively                                                            444          632
Other assets                                                            2,371        2,729
                                                                    ---------    ---------

     Total assets                                                   $ 480,622    $ 433,123
                                                                    =========    =========

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
  Current maturities of long-term debt and
    capital lease obligations                                       $     757    $     879
  Accounts payable                                                     59,378       51,135
  Accrued expenses                                                      9,174        5,863
  Accrued compensation and benefits                                    16,937       15,735
                                                                    ---------    ---------
     Total current liabilities                                         86,246       73,612
                                                                    ---------    ---------

Long-term debt, less current maturities                                 9,611       11,480



Obligations under capital leases, less current
  maturities                                                              308        1,016
Other long-term liabilities                                             1,370          812
Deferred income taxes                                                  32,552       31,883
                                                                    ---------    ---------

     Total liabilities                                              $ 130,087    $ 118,803
                                                                    ---------    ---------

Commitments and contingencies                                               -            -

Shareholders' equity:
  Class A common stock, par value $.01, 150,000,000
    shares authorized, 44,666,791 shares issued
    at June 30, 1999, 44,504,205 shares issued
    at June 30, 1998                                                      447          445
  Preferred stock, par value $.01, 1,055,000 shares
    authorized, no shares issued and outstanding
    at June 30, 1999 and 1998                                               -            -
  Additional paid-in capital                                          267,286      262,313
                                                                    ---------    ---------
                                                                      267,733      262,758
  Less:
    Treasury stock (at cost) 3,745,928 shares
    at June 30, 1999 and 1,824,144 shares at
    June 30, 1998                                                     (78,887)    (33,750)
                                                                    ---------    ---------
                                                                      188,846      229,008
  Retained earnings                                                   161,689       85,312
                                                                    ---------    ---------
    Total shareholders' equity                                        350,535      314,320
                                                                    ---------    ---------

     Total liabilities and shareholders' equity                     $ 480,622    $ 433,123
                                                                    =========    =========
</TABLE>

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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                    ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
                      Consolidated Statements of Operations
                   For the years ended June 30, 1999, 1998 and 1997
                  (Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                                  1999             1998              1997
                                               ---------        ---------         ----------
<S>                                                <C>              <C>               <C>

Net sales                                      $ 762,233        $ 679,321         $ 571,838
Cost of sales                                    407,234          363,746           323,600
                                               ---------        ---------         ---------
    Gross profit                                 354,999          315,575           248,238

Operating expenses:
  Selling                                        123,742          110,240            85,927
  General and administrative                      98,365           85,645            76,462
                                               ---------        ---------         ---------
    Operating income                             132,892          119,690            85,849
                                               ---------        ---------         ---------

Interest and other miscellaneous
  income, net                                      1,707            3,449             1,272
Interest and other related financing
 costs:
  Interest expense                                 1,639            4,245             5,864
  Amortization of deferred
     financing costs                                 243              364               563
                                               ---------        ---------         ---------
    Total interest and other related
     financing costs                               1,882            4,609             6,427
                                               ---------        ---------         ---------

   Income before income taxes
    and extraordinary charge                     132,717          118,530            80,694

Income tax expense                                51,429           46,582            31,954
                                               ---------        ---------         ---------

   Income before extraordinary
     charge                                       81,288           71,948            48,740



Extraordinary charge from early
  retirement of debt, net of
  income tax benefit of $527                         -                802               -
                                               ---------        ---------         ---------

Net income                                     $  81,288        $  71,146         $  48,740
                                               =========        =========         =========

Per share data:

Net income per basic share:
  Income before extraordinary charge           $    1.97        $    1.67         $    1.13
  Extraordinary charge                                -             (0.02)               -
                                               ---------        ---------         ---------

  Net income per basic share                   $    1.97        $    1.65         $    1.13
                                               =========        =========         =========

Net income per diluted share:
  Income before extraordinary charge           $    1.92        $    1.63         $    1.11
  Extraordinary charge                                -             (0.02)               -
                                               ---------        ---------         ---------

  Net income per diluted share                 $    1.92        $    1.61         $    1.11
                                               =========        =========         =========

Dividends declared per common share            $    0.12        $    0.09         $    0.07
                                               =========        =========         =========

</TABLE>

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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                    ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
                      Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
                For the years ended June 30, 1999, 1998 and 1997
                             (Dollars in thousands)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                                      1999            1998              1997
                                                   ---------       ---------         ----------
<S>                                                    <C>             <C>               <C>
Operating activities:
  Net income                                       $ 81,288        $ 71,146          $ 48,740
  Adjustments to reconcile net income
   to net cash provided by operating
   activities:
     Depreciation and amortization                   16,344          15,868            16,411
     Compensation expense related to
        restricted stock award                        1,819           2,136               891
     Provision for deferred
        income taxes                                    (20)            683               575
     Extraordinary charge                                 -             802                -
     Other non-cash benefit                             251              77               498

  Change in assets and liabilities:
     Accounts receivable                              1,222          (3,340)            1,822
     Inventories                                    (25,040)         (6,839)            2,726
     Prepaid and other current assets                (3,353)         (4,011)              653
     Other assets                                    (1,065)           (891)              137
     Accounts payable                                10,652          11,576             5,099
     Accrued expenses                                 4,023             414               973
     Other long-term liabilities                        558              (3)             (221)
                                                   ---------       ---------         ---------
Net cash provided by operating
   activities                                        86,680          87,618            78,304
                                                   ---------       ---------         ---------

Investing activities:
  Proceeds from the disposal of property,
   plant, and equipment                               1,721             827               110
  Proceeds from the disposal of property
   held for sale                                         -               -              1,945
  Capital expenditures                              (40,628)        (29,665)          (23,383)
   Acquisition of businesses                         (7,164)             -                 -



  Payments received on long-term notes
   receivable                                           799           1,538             1,152
  Disbursements made for long-term notes
   receivable                                          (255)           (302)           (1,077)
  Redemption of short term securities                    -           30,270                -
  Investments in short term securities                   -          (12,295)          (17,975)
                                                   ---------       ---------         ---------
Net cash used in investing activities               (45,527)         (9,627)          (39,228)
                                                   ---------       ---------         ---------

Financing activities:
  Borrowings on revolving credit facilities           81,500              -             14,500
  Payments on revolving credit facilities            (81,500)             -            (21,500)
   Redemption of Senior Notes                             -          (52,543)           (9,457)
   Premium paid on Senior Note redemption                 -             (461)               -
   Other payments on long-term debt and
    capital leases                                    (2,717)         (2,079)           (2,134)
   Other borrowings on long-term debt                     18             111               794
  Payments to acquire treasury stock                 (45,137)        (23,310)           (7,249)
   Net proceeds from issuance of common stock            747           1,255             1,235
   Increase in deferred financing costs            (55)             -               (173)
   Dividends paid                                     (4,421)         (3,450)           (2,304)
                                                    --------        --------          --------
Net cash used in financing activities                (51,565)        (80,477)          (26,288)
                                                    --------        --------          --------
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash
  equivalents                                        (10,412)         (2,486)           12,788
Cash and cash equivalents
  at beginning of year                                19,380          21,866             9,078
                                                   ---------       ---------          --------
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year           $   8,968       $  19,380          $ 21,866
                                                   =========       =========          ========

Supplemental disclosure:
  Cash payments for:
     Income taxes                                  $  50,331        $ 45,382          $ 28,116
     Interest                                          1,637           5,585             6,138
  Non cash transactions:
     Additions to obligations under
       capitalized leases                                 -               -                504
     Acquisition of stores with treasury stock            -               -              3,327
</TABLE>

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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                    ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
                 Consolidated Statements of Shareholders Equity
                For the years ended June 30, 1999, 1998 and 1997
                             (Dollars in thousands)
<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

                                                                                                             
Retained
                                                              Additional                                    
Earnings/
                                                 Common        Paid-in         Notes         Teasury      
(Accumulated
                                                 Stock         Capital       Receivable       Stock          
Deficit)       Total
                                                 ------       ----------     ----------      -------      --------
-----     -----
<S>                                               <C>             <C>           <C>            <C>               
<C>         <C>
Balance at June 30, 1996                         $ 292         $254,825       $ (51)         $(5,371)       $ 
(29,402)    $220,293

Adjustment for restatement
  resulting from three-for-two
  stock split                                      148             (148)          -                -                
-            -
                                                 -----         --------       ------         -------        ------
----    --------

Adjusted balance June 30, 1996                     440          254,677         (51)          (5,371)         
(29,402)     220,293

Issuance of common stock                             2            2,124           -                -                
-        2,126



Payment received on note receivable                  -                -          51                -                
-           51

Increase in vested management
  warrants                                           -               71           -                -                
-           71

Purchase of 499,944 shares of
  treasury stock                                     -                -           -           (7,249)               
-       (7,249)

Shares issued in connection
  with acquisition                                   -            1,147           -            2,180                
-        3,327

Dividends declared                                   -           (1,152)          -                -           
(1,442)      (2,594)

Tax benefit associated with the
  exercise of employee stock
  options and warrants                               -              669           -                -                
-          669

Net income                                           -                -           -                -           
48,740       48,740
                                                 -----         --------       ------        --------        ------
----    --------

Balance at June 30, 1997                           442          257,536            -         (10,440)          
17,896      265,434

Issuance of common stock                             3            3,388            -               -                
-        3,391

Purchase of 774,096 shares of
  treasury stock                                     -                -            -         (23,310)               
-      (23,310)

Dividends declared                                   -                -            -               -           
(3,730)      (3,730)

Tax benefit associated with the
  exercise of employee stock
  options and warrants                               -            1,389            -               -                
-        1,389

Net income                                           -                -            -               -           
71,146       71,146
                                                 -----         --------       ------        --------        ------
---     --------

Balance at June 30, 1998                           445          262,313            -         (33,750)          
85,312      314,320
                                                 -----         --------       ------        --------        ------
---     --------

Issuance of common stock                             2         2,564               -               -                
-        2,566

Purchase of 1,921,784 shares of
  treasury stock                                     -             -               -         (45,137)               
-      (45,137)

Dividends declared                                   -             -               -               -           
(4,911)      (4,911)

Tax benefit associated with the
  exercise of employee stock
  options and warrants                               -         2,409               -               -               
-         2,409

Net income                                           -             -               -               -          
81,288        81,288
                                                 -----      --------          ------       ---------        ------
--      --------

Balance at June 30, 1999                         $ 447      $267,286          $    -       $(78,887)        $161,689      
$350,535
                                                 =====      ========          ======       =========        
========      ========
</TABLE>

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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                   ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

                   NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(1)     Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

        Basis of Presentation

        Ethan Allen  Interiors  Inc. (the  "Company") is a Delaware  corporation
        incorporated  on May 25, 1989.  The  consolidated  financial  statements
        include the  accounts of the  Company  and its  wholly-owned  subsidiary
        Ethan Allen Inc.  ("Ethan  Allen") and Ethan Allen's  subsidiaries.  All
        intercompany  accounts  and  transactions  have been  eliminated  in the
        consolidated financial statements. All of Ethan Allen's capital stock is
        owned by the  Company.  The  Company  has no other  assets or  operating
        results other than those associated with its investment in Ethan Allen.

        Nature of Operations

        The  Company,  through  its  wholly-owned   subsidiary,   is  a  leading
        manufacturer  and retailer of quality home  furnishings and sells a full
        range of  furniture  products  and  decorative  accessories  through  an
        exclusive   network  of  309  retail  stores,  of  which  73  are  Ethan
        Allen-owned and 236 are independently owned. The Company's retail stores
        are primarily  located in North America,  with 21 located abroad.  Ethan
        Allen has 21  manufacturing  facilities  and 3 sawmills  throughout  the
        United States.

        Use of Estimates

        The  preparation  of financial  statements in conformity  with generally
        accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and
        assumptions  that affect the reported  amounts of assets and liabilities
        and disclosure of contingent  assets and  liabilities at the date of the
        financial  statements and the reported  amounts of revenues and expenses
        during the  reporting  period.  Actual  results  could differ from those
        estimates.

        Cash Equivalents

        Cash equivalents of $4,999,000 at June 30, 1998,  consisted of overnight
        repurchase  agreements and commercial paper with an initial term of less
        than three months. For the purposes of the statements of cash flows, the
        Company  considers  all highly  liquid debt  instruments  with  original
        maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

        Inventories

        Inventories  are stated at the lower of cost  (first-in,  first-out)  or
        market.

        Property, Plant and Equipment

        Property,  plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation of plant
        and  equipment  is  provided  over  the  estimated  useful  lives of the
        respective  assets on a straight-line  basis.  Estimated useful lives of
        the  respective  assets  generally  range from twenty to forty years for
        buildings and  improvements and from three to twenty years for machinery
        and equipment.

        Property Held for Sale

        Property held for sale is recorded at net realizable  value. The Company
        continues to actively market the properties.
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                   ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

                   NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(1)     Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

        Intangible Assets

        Intangible assets primarily represent  goodwill,  trademarks and product



        technology  which will be amortized on a straight-line  basis over forty
        years.  Goodwill  represents  the excess of cost of the Company over the
        fair value of net identifiable assets acquired. The Company continuously
        assesses the  recoverability  of these  intangible  assets by evaluating
        whether the  amortization  of the  intangible  asset  balances  over the
        remaining  lives  can be  recovered  through  expected  future  results.
        Expected  future results are based on projected  undiscounted  operating
        results   before  the  effects  of  intangible   amortization.   Product
        technology is measured  based upon  wholesale  operating  income,  while
        goodwill and  trademarks  are assessed  based upon total  wholesale  and
        retail operating income.  The amount of impairment,  if any, is measured
        based on the fair value or projected discounted future results.

        Notes Receivable

        Notes  receivable  represent  financing  arrangements  under which Ethan
        Allen has made loans to certain of its  dealers.  These loans  primarily
        have terms ranging from five to eight years and are generally secured by
        the assets of the borrower.  Interest is charged on outstanding balances
        at a rate which generally approximates the prime rate plus an additional
        rate which may be adjustable over the loan term.

        Financial Instruments

        The carrying value of the Company's financial  instruments  approximates
        fair market value.

        Deferred Financing Costs

        Debt financing costs are deferred and amortized, using the straight-line
        method, over the term of the related debt.

        Income Taxes

        Income taxes are  accounted  for under the asset and  liability  method.
        Deferred tax assets and  liabilities  are  recognized for the future tax
        consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement
        carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective
        tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards.  Deferred tax
        assets and  liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to
        apply  to  taxable  income  in  the  years  in  which  those   temporary
        differences  are  expected to be  recovered  or  settled.  The effect on
        deferred  tax  assets  and  liabilities  of a  change  in tax  rates  is
        recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

        Revenue Recognition

        Sales are recorded when goods are shipped to dealers, with the exception
        of shipments  under Ethan Allen's Home Delivery  Service Center Program.
        These sales are recognized as revenue when goods are shipped to the Home
        Delivery  Service  Centers,  at which  point  title  has  passed  to the
        dealers.  Ethan  Allen,  through  its  Home  Delivery  Service  Centers,
        provides  preparation  and  delivery  services for its dealers for a fee
        which is  recognized  as revenue  upon  delivery  of goods to the retail
        customer.  Sales made through Ethan  Allen-owned  stores are  recognized
        when delivery is made to the customer.
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(1)     Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

        Advertising Costs

        Advertising   costs  are  expensed  when  first  aired  or  distributed.
        Advertising  costs  for the  fiscal  years  1999,  1998,  and 1997  were
        $43,215,000,   $40,035,000,  and  $27,712,000,   respectively.   Prepaid
        advertising  costs  at June  30,  1999  and  1998  were  $2,806,000  and
        $3,021,000, respectively.

        Closed Store Expenses

        Future  expenses,  such as rent and real estate  taxes,  net of expected
        lease  or  sublease  recovery,  which  will be  incurred  subsequent  to
        vacating a closed Ethan  Allen-owned  store,  are charged to  operations
        upon a formal decision to close the store.

        Earnings Per Share



        The Company  presents  earnings  per share as set forth in  Statement of
        Financial  Accounting  Standard ("SFAS") No. 128,  "Earnings per Share".
        This statement  requires dual presentation of basic and diluted earnings
        per share.  Basic  earnings per share is computed by dividing net income
        by the weighted  average  number of common  shares  outstanding  for the
        period.  Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential dilution that
        could occur if all dilutive potential common shares were exercised.

        Stock Compensation

        In fiscal 1997, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123,  "Accounting for Stock
        Based Compensation". As permitted by SFAS 123, the Company will continue
        to follow the provisions of APB No. 25,  "Accounting for Stock Issued to
        Employees" and related  interpretations  in accounting for  compensation
        expense related to the issuance of stock options.

        Comprehensive Income

        In June 1997,  the FASB issued SFAS No.  130,  "Reporting  Comprehensive
        Income",  effective for fiscal years  beginning after December 15, 1997.
        SFAS No. 130  established  standards  for the  reporting  and display of
        comprehensive income in financial statements.  The Company does not have
        any components of comprehensive income as defined in the pronouncement.

        Segment Reporting

        In fiscal 1999,  the Company  adopted SFAS No. 131,  "Disclosures  About
        Segments  of an  Enterprise  and  Related  Information."  SFAS  No.  131
        established  standards  for the  reporting  of  information  related  to
        operating segments.  The Company has revised its disclosure with regards
        to its operating  segments and has restated  prior year amounts in order
        to conform with the current year presentation.

(2)     Inventories

        Inventories at June 30 are summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):

                                                1999        1998
                                              --------    --------

             Retail Merchandise               $ 49,742    $ 38,329
             Finished products                  42,562      28,931
             Work in process                    16,143      15,707
             Raw materials                      35,598      31,397
                                              --------    --------
                                              $144,045    $114,364
                                              ========    ========
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(3)      Property, Plant and Equipment

        Property,  plant and  equipment  at June 30 are  summarized  as  follows
        (dollars in thousands):

                                                1999        1998
                                              --------    --------

             Land and improvements            $ 30,849    $ 26,941
             Buildings and improvements        201,543     182,437
             Machinery and equipment            93,576      80,294
                                              --------    --------
                                               325,968     289,672
             Less accumulated depreciation    (111,476)   (101,501)
                                              --------    --------
                                              $214,492    $188,171
                                              ========    =========

(4)     Intangibles

        Intangibles at June 30 are summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):

                                                1999        1998
                                              --------    --------



             Product technology               $ 25,950    $ 25,950
             Trademarks                         28,200      28,200
             Goodwill                           13,855      11,333
             Other                                 350         350
                                              --------    --------
                                                68,355      65,833
             Less accumulated amortization     (16,757)    (15,060)
                                              --------     -------
                                              $ 51,598    $ 50,773
                                              ========    ========

(5)     Borrowings

        Long-term  debt  at  June  30  consists  of the  following  (dollars  in
        thousands):

                                                1999         1998
                                              --------     --------

         Long term debt:
           9.75% mortgage note payable        $     -      $  1,552
           Industrial Revenue Bonds,
             2.45%-7.50%, maturing at
             various dates through 2011         8,455         8,455
           Other                                1,527         1,627
                                              -------      --------
         Total debt                             9,982        11,634

         Less current maturities                  371           154
                                              -------      --------
                                              $ 9,611      $ 11,480
                                              =======      ========

        During fiscal year 1999, the Company repaid its outstanding indebtedness
        of $1.6 million on its 9.75% mortgage note  collateralized  by the Ethan
        Allen Inn which was due in 2015.

        During  fiscal  year 1998,  the Company  completed  its  optional  early
        redemption of all of its  then-outstanding  $52.4 million  8-3/4% Senior
        Notes,  due on March 15, 2001, at 101.458% of par value.  As a result of
        the early redemption, an extraordinary charge of $0.8 million or $0.02 a
        share,  net of tax  benefit,  was  recorded.  The  extraordinary  charge
        included  the  write-off  of  unamortized   deferred   financing   costs
        associated  with the Senior  Notes and the premium  related to the early
        redemption.  During fiscal 1998 and 1997, $0.1 million and $9.5 million,
        respectively, of Senior Notes were repurchased at 102.19% and 101.48% of
        face value, respectively.

        During 1995, the Company had completed a five year financing arrangement
        to provide up to $110.0 million of senior secured debt under a revolving
        credit  facility  pursuant to a Credit  Agreement  with Chase  Manhattan
        Bank,  as agent,  proceeds of which were used to repay  existing  senior
        secured debt.
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(5)     Borrowings  (continued)

        The revolving credit facility includes a $40.0 million  sub-facility for
        trade and  standby  letters of credit  availability  and a $3.0  million
        swingline loan  sub-facility.  Loans under the revolving credit facility
        bear  interest  at Chase  Manhattan  Bank's  Alternative  Base Rate,  or
        adjusted  LIBOR plus 0.5%,  which is subject to adjustment  arising from
        changes in the credit rating of Ethan Allen's  senior  secured debt. For
        fiscal  years ended June 30,  1999,  1998 and 1997 the  weighted-average
        interest rates were 6.17%, 8.13% and 7.37%,  respectively.  There are no
        minimum repayments required during the term of the facility.

        During  1997,  the  Company  amended its Credit  Agreement  which it had
        originally entered into during 1995, with Chase Manhattan Bank as agent.
        Amendments  to the Credit  Agreement  include:  (1) the reduction of the
        commitment of senior secured debt under a revolving  credit  facility to
        $100.0  million;   (2)  reduction  of  the  Eurodollar  spread  used  in
        determining  adjusted LIBOR which is subject to adjustment  arising from
        changes in the credit  rating of Ethan  Allen's  senior  secured debt or



        Fixed Charge Ratio; (3) elimination of a lien on certain fixed assets as
        collateral and (4) amendment of certain  additional  debt and restricted
        payment limitations.  At June 30, 1999 and 1998, there were no revolving
        loans outstanding under the Credit Agreement.

        The  Credit  Agreement  is  secured  by a first lien in respect of Ethan
        Allen's  accounts  receivable,  inventory,  trademarks,  patents and the
        Company's  shares  of Ethan  Allen's  capital  stock.  The  Company  has
        guaranteed  Ethan Allen's  obligation under the Credit Agreement and has
        pledged all the  outstanding  capital stock of Ethan Allen to secure its
        guarantee.

        The Credit  Agreement  contains  covenants  requiring the maintenance of
        certain  defined  tests and ratios and limit the  ability of Ethan Allen
        and the  Company to incur debt,  engage in mergers  and  consolidations,
        make restricted  payments,  make asset sales, make investments and issue
        stock.  The  Credit  Agreement  requires  the  Company  to meet  certain
        financial  covenants  including  Consolidated  Net Worth,  Fixed  Charge
        Coverage and  Leverage  ratios.  The Company is currently in  compliance
        with all covenants under the Credit Agreement.

        In June 1996,  the Company  closed on loan  commitments in the aggregate
        amount of approximately $1.4 million related to the modernization of its
        Beecher  Falls  manufacturing  facility.  Loans made  pursuant  to these
        commitments  bear  interest at rates  ranging from 3.0% to 5.5% and have
        maturities of 10 to 30 years.  The loans have a first and second lien in
        respect  of  equipment  financed  by such  loans and a first and  second
        mortgage  interest in respect of a building,  the  construction of which
        was financed by such loans.

        Aggregate  scheduled  maturities of long-term  debt for each of the five
        fiscal years  subsequent to June 30, 1999, and thereafter are as follows
        (dollars in thousands):

                2000 . . . . . . . . . . . .         $  371
                2001 . . . . . . . . . . . .            124
                2002 . . . . . . . . . . . .            131
                2003 . . . . . . . . . . . .            141
                2004 . . . . . . . . . . . .             61
                Subsequent to 2004 . . . . .          9,154

(6)     Leases

        Ethan Allen leases real property and equipment  under various  operating
        and capital  lease  agreements  expiring  through the year 2028.  Leases
        covering retail outlets and equipment  generally require, in addition to
        stated minimums,  contingent rentals based on retail sales and equipment
        usage.
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(6)     Leases (continued)

        Generally,  the  leases  provide  for  renewal  for  various  periods at
        stipulated rates.

        Future minimum payments by year and in the aggregate,  under the capital
        leases and  non-cancelable  operating leases,  with initial or remaining
        terms of one year or more  consisted  of the  following at June 30, 1999
        (dollars in thousands):

                                               Capital      Operating
        Fiscal Year Ending June 30:            Leases        Leases
        --------------------------             -------      ---------

            2000                                $ 420        $ 13,550
            2001                                  337          12,228
            2002                                   15          11,726
            2003                                    8          10,529
            2004                                    -           8,726
            Subsequent to 2004                      -          31,395
                                                -----        --------

            Total minimum lease payments          780        $ 88,154
                                                             ========

            Amounts representing interest          86
                                                -----



            Present value of future minimum
              lease payments                      694
            Less amounts due in one year          386
                                                -----
            Long-term obligations under
              capital leases                    $ 308
                                                =====

        The  above  amounts  will be  offset  by  minimum  future  rentals  from
        subleases of $17,709,000 on operating leases.

        Total rent  expense  for the fiscal  years  ended June 30 was as follows
        (dollars in thousands):

                                                  1999      1998       1997
                                                --------   -------   --------

            Basic rentals under operating
              leases                            $ 16,761  $ 14,997   $ 14,578
            Contingent rentals under
              operating leases                     1,509       977      1,028
                                                --------  --------   --------
                                                  18,270    15,974     15,606
            Less sublease rent                     2,812     2,173      1,923
                                                --------  --------   --------
                                                $ 15,458  $ 13,801   $ 13,683
                                                ========  ========   ========

(7)     Shareholders' Equity

        On April 28, 1999, the Company  declared a three-for-two  stock split to
        be distributed on May 21, 1999 to shareholders of record on May 7, 1999.
        On August 6, 1997, the Company declared a two-for-one  stock split to be
        distributed on September 2, 1997 to shareholders of record on August 18,
        1997. All related  amounts have been  retroactively  adjusted to reflect
        the stock splits.

        During fiscal 1997,  the Company  acquired a number of retail stores and
        used 146,224  treasury  shares with a fair value of $3.3 million as part
        of the consideration of the transaction.
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(7)     Shareholders' Equity   (continued)

        On May 20, 1996,  the Board of Directors  adopted a  Stockholder  Rights
        Plan and declared a dividend of one Right for each outstanding  share of
        common stock as of July 10, 1996. Each Right entitles its holder,  under
        certain  circumstances,  to purchase one one-hundredth of a share of the
        Company's  Series C Junior  Participating  Preferred Stock at a price of
        $41.67 on a post split basis.  The Rights may not be exercised  until 10
        days  after a person  or  group  acquires  15% or more of the  Company's
        common stock, or 15 days after the  commencement or the  announcement of
        the intent to  commence a tender  offer  which,  if  consummated,  would
        result in a 15% or more ownership of the Company's  common stock.  Until
        then,  separate  Rights  certificates  will not be issued,  nor will the
        Rights be traded separately from the stock.

        Should an acquirer  become the beneficial  owner of 15% of the Company's
        common stock, and under certain additional circumstances,  the Company's
        stockholders  (other than the acquirer)  would have the right to receive
        in lieu of the Series C Junior  Participating  Preferred Stock, a number
        of shares of the Company's  common  stock,  or in stock of the surviving
        enterprise  if the Company is  acquired,  having a market value equal to
        two times the Purchase Price per share.

        The Rights will expire on May 31, 2006,  unless  redeemed  prior to that
        date.  The redemption  price is $0.01 per Right.  The Board of Directors
        may redeem  the Rights at its option any time prior to the  announcement
        that a person or group has acquired 15% or more of the Company's  common
        stock.

        The  Company's  authorized  capital  stock  consists of (a)  150,000,000
        shares of Common Stock,  par value $.01 per share, (b) 600,000 shares of
        Class B Common Stock,  par value $.01 per share, (c) 1,055,000 shares of



        Preferred  Stock,  par value $.01 per share of which (i)  30,000  shares
        have been designated  Series A Redeemable  Convertible  Preferred Stock,
        (ii) 30,000 shares have been designated Series B Redeemable  Convertible
        Preferred  Stock,  (iii) 155,010 shares have been designated as Series C
        Junior  Participating  Preferred Stock,  and (iv) the remaining  839,990
        shares may be designated by the Board of Directors  with such rights and
        preferences as they determine (all such preferred  stock,  collectively,
        the  "Preferred  Stock").  As of June 30,  1999,  no shares of Preferred
        Stock or shares of Class B Common Stock were issued or outstanding.

        The Company has been  authorized by its Board of Directors to repurchase
        up to an  additional  2,000,000  shares of its Class A Common Stock from
        time to  time in the  open  market.  During  fiscal  1999,  the  Company
        repurchased 1,921,784 shares of its Common Stock for $45.1 million or an
        average of $23.49 per share.  The Company  funded its purchases  through
        cash from  operations  and through  revolver loan  borrowings  under the
        Credit Agreement.

(8)     Earnings per Share

        The  following  table sets forth the  calculation  of  weighted  average
        shares based upon the provisions of SFAS No. 128 (amounts in thousands):

                                                   1999      1998     1997
                                                  -------   ------   ------
         Weighted average common shares
           outstanding for basic
           calculation                             41,278   43,050   43,190

         Add: Effect of stock options
           and warrants                             1,009    1,086      625
                                                   ------   ------   -------

         Weighted average common shares
           outstanding, adjusted for
           diluted calculation                     42,287   44,136    43,815
                                                   ======   ======    ======
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(9)     Employee Stock Plans

        The Company has reserved  7,419,699  shares of Common Stock for issuance
        pursuant to the Company's stock option and warrant plans as follows:

        1992 Stock Option Plan

        The 1992  Stock  Option  Plan  provides  for the grant of options to key
        employees and non-employee  directors to purchase shares of Common Stock
        that are either  qualified  or  non-qualified  under  Section 422 of the
        Internal  Revenue  Code,  as well as stock  appreciation  rights on such
        options.  The awarding of such options is determined by the Compensation
        Committee   of  the   Board  of   Directors   after   consideration   of
        recommendations  proposed by the Chief  Executive  Officer.  The options
        awarded to employees  vest 25% per year over a four-year  period and are
        exercisable  at the  market  value  of the  Common  Stock at the date of
        grant.  The  maximum  number  of shares of  Common  Stock  reserved  for
        issuance under the 1992 Stock Option Plan is 5,490,597  shares.  Through
        June 30, 1998, options covering 138,000 shares, which are exercisable at
        prices  ranging  from  $6.00 to  $21.17,  were  awarded  to  independent
        directors and will vest 50% on each of the first two  anniversary  dates
        of the grant. During fiscal year 1999, options to purchase 22,500 shares
        at an exercise price of $27.37 per share were granted to the independent
        directors.  Options  to  purchase  180,000  shares  were  awarded to Mr.
        Kathwari,  Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer, and President
        of Ethan Allen Interiors Inc., during fiscal year 1995 and an additional
        720,000  options to purchase  shares were awarded to Mr. Kathwari during
        1996.  These  options  are  exercisable  at $6.50 and  $6.33 per  share,
        respectively  and will vest over seven years  commencing  with the first
        vesting  date of July 27, 1994,  and each of the next six years.  During
        fiscal year 1998, Mr. Kathwari was awarded  options to purchase  750,000
        shares at an exercise  price of $21.17 and  options to purchase  750,000
        shares at an  exercise  price of $27.52.  These  options  will vest over
        three years from the date of grant.  Through June 30,  1998,  options to
        purchase  880,350  shares were issued to other  employees  with exercise
        prices  ranging  from  $6.33 to $32.67 per  share.  Options to  purchase



        82,200 shares were issued to certain key employees at an exercise  price
        of $26.25 per share in fiscal year 1999.

        Incentive Stock Option Plan

        Pursuant to the Incentive  Stock Option Plan, the Company has granted to
        members of management options to purchase 829,542 shares of Common Stock
        at an  exercise  price of $5.50 per  share.  Such  options  vest  twenty
        percent per year over a five-year period.

        Management Warrants

        Warrants  to purchase  699,560  shares of Common  Stock were  granted to
        certain  key members of  management  during  fiscal  1991 and 1992.  The
        warrants are currently exercisable at $1.23 per share.

        Earn-In Warrants

        Earn-In  Warrants  have been fully  earned and 400,000  shares have been
        allocated to Ethan Allen's managers and employees. Earn-In warrants were
        exercisable at $0.13 per share.

        Restricted Stock Award

        Commencing  in 1994 and for each of the four  subsequent  years,  annual
        awards of 30,000 shares of restricted stock were granted to Mr. Kathwari
        with the  vesting  based on  performance  of the  Company's  stock price
        during the three year period after grant as compared to the Standard and
        Poors 500 index. As of June 30, 1999, 60,000 shares have vested.
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(9)     Employee Stock Plans  (continued)

        Stock Unit Award

        During fiscal year 1998, pursuant to his New Employment  Agreement,  the
        Company  established  a book  account  for Mr.  Kathwari,  which will be
        credited  with 21,000 Stock Units as of July 1 of each year,  commencing
        July 1, 1997,  for a total of up to 105,000 Stock Units over the term of
        the New Employment  Agreement,  with an additional 21,000 Stock Units to
        be  credited in  connection  with each of the two  one-year  extensions.
        Following the  termination of Mr.  Kathwari's  employment,  Mr. Kathwari
        will  receive  shares of Common Stock equal to the number of Stock Units
        credited to the account.

        Stock  option and  warrant  activity  during  1999,  1998 and 1997 is as
        follows:
<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                                                                Number of
                                                                                  shares
                                                  --------------------------------------------------------------
                                                     92 Stock         Incentive        Management        Earn-In
                                                  Option Plan         Options          Warrants         Warrants
                                                  -----------         -------          --------         --------
          <S>                                         <C>               <C>              <C>              <C>
         Options Outstanding
           at June 30, 1996                       1,520,175           485,277          262,029           211,467

         Granted in 1997                            209,850                -                -                 -
         Exercised in 1997                          (91,662)          (98,601)         (69,177)         (202,467)
         Canceled in 1997                           (26,664)           (3,345)             (18)           (9,000)
                                                  ---------           -------          -------          --------

         Options Outstanding
           at June 30, 1997                       1,611,699           383,331          192,834                -

         Granted in 1998                          1,610,400                -                -                 -
         Exercised in 1998                         (112,629)          (55,210)        (108,274)               -
         Canceled in 1998                            (6,900)              (15)             (15)               -
                                                  ---------           -------         --------          -------

         Options Outstanding
           at June 30, 1998                       3,102,570           328,106           84,545                -

         Granted in 1999                            104,700                -                -                 -
         Exercised in 1999                          (64,034)          (32,247)         (37,756)               -



         Canceled in 1999                           (33,761)               (2)          (2,101)               -
                                                  ---------           -------          -------          -------
         Options Outstanding
           at June 30, 1999                       3,109,475           295,857           44,688                -
                                                  =========          ========          =======          ========
</TABLE>

        The  following   tables   summarize   information   about  stock  awards
        outstanding at June 30, 1999:
<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                                                                          Weighted     Weighted
                                                                           Average      Average
                                       Range of             Number        Remaining     Exercise
                                        Prices            Outstanding        Life        Prices
                                        ------            -----------     --------      --------
          <S>                             <C>                 <C>             <C>          <C>

         1992 Stock Option Plan      $ 6.00 to $ 6.50     1,235,825        5.6 yrs       $ 6.36
                                     $14.50 to $21.17       978,000        8.1 yrs       $19.97
                                     $26.25 to $32.67       895,650        8.4 yrs       $27.64
                                                          ---------
                                                          3,109,475

         Incentive Options            $5.50                 295,857        0.5 yrs        $5.50
         Management Warrants          $1.23                  44,688        0.5 yrs        $1.23
</TABLE>
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(9)     Employee Stock Plans (continued)
                                                                        Weighted
                                                           Number of     Average
                                           Range of          Shares     Exercise
                                           Prices         Exercisable    Prices
                                           ------         -----------    ------

         1992 Stock Option Plan       $ 6.00 to $ 6.50      821,460      $ 6.30
                                      $14.50 to $21.17      341,575      $19.80
                                      $26.25 to $32.67      259,450      $27.70
                                                          ---------
                                                          1,422,485

         Incentive Options            $ 5.50                 95,857      $ 5.50

         Management Warrants          $ 1.23                 44,688      $ 1.23

Had  compensation  costs  related to the  issuance  of stock  options  under the
Company's  1992 Stock Option Plan been  determined  based on the estimated  fair
value at the grant dates for awards under SFAS No. 123, the Company's net income
end earnings  per share for the fiscal years ended June 30, 1999,  1998 and 1997
would have been  reduced to the  proforma  amounts  listed  below,  (dollars  in
thousands, except per share data):

                                                 1999         1998      1997
                                               -------      -------    ------
         Net Income
         ----------

           As reported                        $81,288       $71,146   $48,740
           Proforma                            77,840        67,945    48,350

         Net Income per Basic Share
         --------------------------

           As reported                       $  1.97       $  1.65    $  1.13
           Proforma                             1.89          1.58       1.12

         Net Income per Diluted Share
         ----------------------------

           As reported                       $  1.92       $  1.61    $  1.11
           Proforma                             1.84          1.54       1.10

The per share weighted average fair value of stock options granted during fiscal



1999, 1998 and 1997 was $11.98, $8.59, and $6.02,  respectively.  The fair value
of each  stock  option  grant  was  estimated  on the  date of grant  using  the
Black-Scholes  option-pricing  model with the  following  assumptions;  weighted
average  risk-free  interest rates of 5.15%,  5.99%,  and 6.35% for fiscal 1999,
1998 and  1997,  respectively,  dividend  yield of 0.60%,  0.67%,  and 0.83% for
fiscal 1999, 1998 and 1997,  respectively,  expected volatility of 46.8%, 43.3%,
and 39.8% in fiscal 1999,  1998 and 1997,  respectively,  and expected  lives of
five years for each.

(10)    Income Taxes

        Total income taxes were allocated as follows (dollars in thousands):

                                     1999          1998           1997
                                   --------      ---------      --------

         Income from operations    $ 51,429      $ 46,582       $ 31,954

         Extraordinary charge             -          (527)             -

         Stockholders' equity        (2,409)       (1,389)          (669)
                                   --------       -------       --------
                                   $ 49,020      $ 44,666       $ 31,285
                                   ========      ========       ========
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(10)    Income Taxes (continued)

        The income  taxes  credited to  stockholders'  equity  relate to the tax
        benefit arising from the exercise of employee stock options.

        Income tax expense  attributable to income from  operations  consists of
        the following for the fiscal years ended June 30 (dollars in thousands):

                                             1999       1998        1997
                                           --------   --------    --------
         Current:
              Federal                      $ 44,478   $ 37,205    $ 25,434
              State                           6,971      8,694       5,945
                                           --------   --------    --------
                    Total current            51,449     45,899      31,379
                                           --------   --------    --------
         Deferred:
              Federal                           (17)       625         595
              State                              (3)        58         (20)
                                           --------   --------    --------
                    Total deferred              (20)       683         575
                                           --------   --------    --------
         Income tax expense
              on income before
              extraordinary charge         $ 51,429   $ 46,582    $ 31,954
                                           ========   ========    ========

        The following is a reconciliation  of expected income taxes (computed by
        applying  the  Federal   statutory  rate  to  income  before  taxes  and
        extraordinary   charge)  to  actual  income  tax  expense   (dollars  in
        thousands):

                                             1999       1998        1997
                                           --------   --------    --------

         Computed "expected" income
            tax expense                    $ 46,451   $ 41,486    $ 28,243
         State income taxes, net of
            federal income tax benefit        4,529      4,786       3,163
         Goodwill amortization                  117         99          99
         Other, net                             332        211         449
                                           --------   ---------    --------

         Income tax expense on income
            before extraordinary charge    $ 51,429   $ 46,582     $ 31,954
                                           ========   ========     ========

        The significant  components of the deferred tax expense (benefit) are as



        follows (dollars in thousands):

                                             1999       1998        1997
                                           --------   --------    --------

         Deferred tax (benefit)            $ (1,503)  $   (825)   $   (933)
         Utilization of net operating
           loss carryforwards                 1,483      1,508        1,508
                                           ---------  --------    ---------

                                           $    (20)  $    683    $     575
                                           ========   ========    =========

        The  components  of the net deferred tax  liability as of June 30 are as
        follows (dollars in thousands):

                                                         1999         1998
                                                      --------       ------
         Deferred tax assets:
           Accounts receivable                        $  1,045       $    901
           Inventories                                   2,430          2,483
           Other liabilities and reserves                4,308          3,710
           Net operating loss carryforwards              8,737         10,243
                                                      --------        --------
         Total deferred tax asset                       16,520         17,337
                                                      --------        --------

         Deferred tax liabilities:
           Property, plant and equipment                24,335         25,423
           Intangible assets other
            than goodwill                               14,697         15,186
         Miscellaneous                                   2,257          1,517
                                                      --------        --------
         Total deferred tax liability                   41,289         42,126
                                                      --------        --------
          Net deferred tax liability                  $ 24,769        $ 24,789
                                                      ========        ========
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(10)    Income Taxes (continued)

        The Company has tax operating loss carryforwards of approximately  $22.3
        million at June 30, 1999, of which $0.5 million  expires in 2006,  $11.3
        million expires in 2007 and $10.5 million  expires in 2008.  Pursuant to
        Section 382 of the Internal  Revenue Code, the Company's  utilization of
        the net operating loss carryforwards are subject to an annual limitation
        of approximately $3.9 million.

        During fiscal 1997,  Ethan Allen received a $5.2 million  investment tax
        credit from the State of  Vermont.  The credit may be utilized to offset
        80% of current and future years tax liability and may be carried forward
        up to 10 years.  Ethan  Allen does not expect to be able to utilize  the
        entire credit.  The estimated net  realizable  credit of $2.0 million is
        being accounted for under the deferral method,  with  amortization  over
        the average life of the related assets.

        Management  believes that the results of future operations will generate
        sufficient taxable income to realize the deferred tax assets.

(11)    Employee Retirement Programs

        The Ethan Allen Retirement Savings Plan

        The  Ethan  Allen   Retirement   Savings   (the  "Plan")  is  a  defined
        contribution plan which is offered to substantially all employees of the
        Company  who have  completed  both one year and 1,000  hours of  service
        during the Plan year.

        Ethan Allen, may at its discretion,  make a matching contribution to the
        401(k) portion of the Plan on behalf of each  participant,  provided the
        contribution  does not  exceed  the  lesser of 50% of the  participant's
        contribution or $1,000 per participant per Plan year.  Contributions  to
        the profit  sharing  portion of the Plan are made at the  discretion  of
        management.  Total profit  sharing and 401(k)  company match expense was
        $2,578,356 in 1999, $2,287,549 in 1998, and $1,595,099 in 1997.



        Other Retirement Plans and Benefits

        Ethan Allen provides  additional  benefits to selected members of senior
        and  middle  management  in the  form  of  previously  entered  deferred
        compensation  arrangements and a management incentive program. The total
        cost of these  benefits was  $3,806,708,  $3,105,000,  and $1,567,000 in
        1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively.

(12)    Wholly-Owned Subsidiary

        The Company owns all of the outstanding  stock of Ethan Allen and has no
        material  assets  other  than its  ownership  of Ethan  Allen  stock and
        conducts all significant operating transactions through Ethan Allen. The
        Company  has  guaranteed  Ethan  Allen's  obligation  under  the  Credit
        Agreement  and has pledged all the  outstanding  capital  stock of Ethan
        Allen to secure its guarantee.

        The condensed balance sheets of Ethan Allen as of June 30 are as follows
        (dollars in thousands):

                                              1999            1998
                                              ----            ----

              Assets
              Current assets                $ 209,768       $ 187,677
              Non-current assets              357,237         282,874
                                            ---------       ---------
              Total assets                  $ 567,005       $ 470,551
                                            =========       =========

              Liabilities
              Current liabilities           $  84,500       $  72,380
              Non-current liabilities          43,841          45,191
                                            ---------       ---------
              Total liabilities             $ 128,341       $ 117,571
                                            =========       =========
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(12)     Wholly-Owned Subsidiary (continued)

        A summary of Ethan Allen's  operating  activity for each of the years in
        the three-year period ended June 30, 1999, is as follows:

                                             1999        1998        1997
                                           --------    --------    --------

      Net sales                            $762,233    $679,321    $571,838
      Gross profit                          354,999     315,575     248,238
      Operating income                      133,060     119,845      85,943
      Interest expense                        1,639       4,245       5,864
      Amortization of deferred
        financing costs                         243         364         563
      Income before income
        taxes and extraordinary
        charge                              132,885     118,685      80,787
      Net income                           $ 81,456    $ 71,301    $ 48,833

(13)    Litigation

        The Company has been named as a  potentially  responsible  party ("PRP")
        for the  cleanup  of  three  sites  currently  listed  or  proposed  for
        inclusion  on  the   National   Priorities   List   ("NPL")   under  the
        Comprehensive Environmental Response,  Compensation and Liability Act of
        1980 ("CERCLA").  The Company is also a settling  defendant for remedial
        design and construction  activities at one of the sites.  Numerous other
        parties  have  been  identified  as PRP's at these  sites.  The  Company
        believes  its  share of  waste  contributed  to these  sites is small in
        relation to the total; however,  liability under CERCLA may be joint and
        several.  The Company has total reserves of $500,000 applicable to these
        sites,  which the  Company  believes  would be  sufficient  to cover any
        resulting  liability.  With respect to all of these  sites,  the Company
        believes  that it is not a major  contributor  based on the  very  small
        volume of waste  generated by the Company in relation to total volume at
        the site.  The Company has concluded its  involvement  with one site and
        settled  as a  de-minimis  party.  For two of the  sites,  the  remedial



        investigation is ongoing.  A volume based  allocation of  responsibility
        among the parties has been prepared.

(14)    Segment Information

        The Company has adopted SFAS No. 131,  "Disclosures about Segments of an
        Enterprise  and  Related   Information"   which  changes  the  financial
        disclosure  requirements  for operating  segments.  Segment  information
        presented   for  1998  and  1997  has  been   restated  to  reflect  the
        requirements of the new pronouncement. The Company's reportable segments
        are  strategic  business  areas that are  managed  separately  and offer
        different products and services. The Company's operations are classified
        into two main  businesses:  wholesale and retail home  furnishings.  The
        wholesale  home  furnishings  business  is  principally  involved in the
        manufacture,  sale and  distribution  of home  furnishing  products to a
        network  of  independently-owned   and  Ethan  Allen-owned  stores.  The
        wholesale  business  consists of three operating  segments;  case goods,
        upholstery,  and home accessories.  Wholesale profitability includes the
        wholesale  gross margin which is earned on wholesale sales to all retail
        stores, including Ethan Allen-owned stores.

        The retail home  furnishings  business  sells home  furnishing  products
        through a network  of Ethan  Allen-owned  stores.  Retail  profitability
        includes the retail gross margin which is earned based on purchases from
        the wholesale business.
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(14)    Segment Information (continued)

        The accounting  policies of the operating segments are the same as those
        described in Note 1, Summary of  Significant  Accounting  Policies.  The
        Company  evaluates  performance  of the  respective  segments based upon
        revenues and  operating  income.  Inter-segment  eliminations  primarily
        comprise  the  wholesale  sales and profit on the  transfer of inventory
        between  segments.  Inter-segment  eliminations  also include  items not
        allocated to reportable segments.

        The following  table presents  segment  information for the fiscal years
        ended June 30, 1999, 1998, and 1997 (dollars in thousands):

                                                1999        1998      1997
                                              --------    --------  ---------
         Net Sales:
         ----------
         Case Goods                           $352,203    $328,637    $279,119
         Upholstery                            174,599     160,058     145,537
         Home Accessories                       90,130      71,411      59,615
         Other  (1)                             13,712       9,039       4,768
                                               -------    --------    ---------
           Wholesale Net Sales                 630,644     569,145     489,039
         Retail                                294,701     235,230     175,825
         Other  (2)                              6,392       6,722       5,962
         Eliminations                         (169,504)   (131,776)    (98,988)
                                              --------    --------    --------
           Consolidated Total                 $762,233    $679,321    $571,838
                                              ========    ========    ========

         Operating Income:
         -----------------
         Case Goods                           $127,514    $120,277    $ 95,111
         Upholstery                             53,250      51,150      44,435
         Home accessories                       29,166      22,966      17,979
         Unallocated corporate expenses (3)    (87,788)    (86,371)    (74,730)
                                              --------    --------    --------
           Wholesale Operating Income          122,142     108,022      82,795
         Retail                                 15,146      13,747       7,419
         Other  (2)                              1,365       1,692       1,239
         Eliminations                           (5,761)     (3,771)     (5,604)
                                              --------    --------    --------
            Consolidated Total                $132,892    $119,690    $ 85,849
                                              ========    ========    ========

         Total Assets:
         -------------



         Case Goods                           $107,556    $ 90,403    $ 84,139
         Upholstery                             30,861      27,820      24,821
         Home accessories                        7,033       5,521       5,682
         Corporate (4)                         255,125     245,697     257,744
                                              --------    --------    ---------
           Wholesale Total Assets              400,575     369,441     372,386
         Retail                                 97,419      76,365      65,310
         Other (2)                               5,773       5,096       4,919
         Inventory Profit Elimination (5)      (23,145)    (17,779)    (14,831)
                                              --------    --------    --------
            Consolidated Total                $480,622    $433,123    $427,784
                                              ========    ========    ========

         Capital Expenditures:
         ---------------------
         Case Goods                           $ 17,498    $  8,263    $  6,768
         Upholstery                              3,073       1,814       1,530
         Home accessories                          459          21         229
         Other  (1)                             15,542      16,778      11,359
                                              --------    --------    --------

           Wholesale Capital Expenditures       36,572      26,876      19,886
         Retail                                  2,893       2,390       3,338
         Other  (2)                              1,163         399         159
         Eliminations                               -           -           -
                                              --------    --------    --------
            Consolidated Total                $ 40,628    $ 29,665    $ 23,383
                                              ========    ========    ========
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(14)    Segment Information (continued)

        (1) The Other category  included in the wholesale  business  consists of
        the operating  activity for  indoor/outdoor  furniture and the corporate
        holding company.

        (2) The Other category includes miscellaneous operating activities.

        (3)  Unallocated  corporate expenses   primarily  consist  of  corporate
        advertising   costs,  unreimbursed  training  costs, system  development
        costs, and other corporate administrative charges.

        (4) Corporate  assets  primarily  include  receivables  from third party
        retailers,  finished  goods  inventory,  deferred  tax  assets,  and the
        Company's distribution operations.

        (5) Inventory profit elimination  reflects the embedded wholesale profit
        in  the Company-owned store inventory that has not  been realized. These
        profits   will  be  recorded  when  shipments  are  made  to the  retail
        customer.

        There are 21 independent  dealers  located  abroad.  Less than 3% of the
        Company's total revenue is derived from sales to these dealers.

(15)    Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

        Tabulated  below are certain  data for each  quarter of the fiscal years
        ended June 30, 1999 and 1998 (dollar  amounts in  thousands,  except per
        share data).
<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

                                                                          Quarter Ended
                                                    --------------------------------------------------------------
                                                    September 30     December 31        March 31           June 30
                                                    ------------     -----------        --------           -------
              <S>                                        <C>              <C>             <C>                 <C>

              1999 Quarters:
              Net Sales                               $166,226          $193,674         $194,571          $207,762
              Gross Profit                              77,004            89,756           91,064            97,175
              Income before
                extraordinary charge                    16,209            21,186           21,174            22,719
              Net income                                16,209            21,186           21,174            22,719
              Net income per basic



                share                                    0.39             0.51              0.52             0.56
              Net income per diluted
                share                                    0.38             0.50              0.50             0.54
              Dividend declared per
                common share                             0.03             0.03              0.03             0.04

              1998 Quarters:
              --------------
              Net Sales                               $152,494          $172,743         $171,434          $182,650
              Gross Profit                              70,766            80,713           80,404            83,692
              Income before
               extraordinary charge                     14,034            19,091           18,793            20,030
              Net income                                14,034            19,091           17,991            20,030
              Net income per basic
                share                                    0.33             0.44              0.41             0.47
              Net income per diluted
                share                                    0.32             0.43              0.41             0.45
              Dividend declared per
                common share                             0.02             0.02              0.03             0.03

              1997 Quarters:
              --------------
              Net sales                               $132,355          $138,330         $144,719          $156,434
              Gross profit                              54,578            59,921           63,308            70,431
              Net income                                 8,783            12,227           12,849            14,881
              Net income per basic
                share                                $   0.21         $   0.28          $   0.30         $   0.35
              Net income per diluted
                share                                    0.20         $   0.28          $   0.29         $   0.34
              Dividend declared per
                common share                             0.01         $   0.01          $   0.02         $   0.02
</TABLE>

                                       41

                    ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

                   NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(16)  Subsequent Event

        On August 25,  1999,  the  Company  entered  into a new  $125.0  million
        unsecured  revolving credit facility with Chase Manhattan Bank as agent.
        Proceeds  from the  Credit  Agreement  may be used for  working  capital
        purposes or general corporate purposes.

        The revolving  credit  facility  includes a  sub-facility  for trade and
        standby  letters  of  credit  of  $25.0  million  and a  swingline  loan
        sub-facility of $3.0 million.  Loans under the revolving credit facility
        bear interest at Chase Manhattan  Bank's  Alternative Base Rate ("ABR"),
        or adjusted  LIBOR plus .625%,  which is subject to  adjustment  arising
        from  changes in the credit  rating of Ethan  Allen's  senior  unsecured
        debt. The Credit Agreement  provides for the payment of a commitment fee
        equal to the ABR per annum on the  average  daily  unused  amount of the
        revolving credit  commitment.  The Company is also required to pay a fee
        equal to the ABR per annum  plus a .125%  per  annum fee on the  average
        daily letters of credit outstanding.

        The  credit  facility  matures  in five  years and there are no  minimum
        repayments required during the term of the facility. The revolving loans
        may be  borrowed,  repaid and  reborrowed  over the term of the facility
        until final maturity.

         The revolving credit facility  contains  various  covenants which limit
         the ability of the Company and its  subsidiaries to incur debt,  engage
         in mergers and  consolidations,  make restricted  payments,  make asset
         sales,  make  investments  and issue stock.  The Company is required to
         meet certain  financial  covenants  including  consolidated  net worth,
         fixed charge coverage and leverage ratios.
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Item 9.  Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and
         Financial Disclosures
         ---------------------



         No changes  in or  disagreements  with  accountants  on  accounting  or
         financial disclosure occurred in fiscal years 1999, 1998 and 1997.
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                                    PART III

        Part III is omitted as the Company  intends to file with the  Commission
within 120 days after the end of the  Company's  fiscal year a definitive  proxy
statement  pursuant  to  Regulation  14A which  will  involve  the  election  of
directors.

ITEM 10.     Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant
- --------     --------------------------------------------------

        See reference to definitive proxy statement under Part III.

ITEM 11.     Executive Compensation
- --------     ----------------------

        See reference to definitive proxy statement under Part III.

ITEM 12.     Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management
- --------     --------------------------------------------------------------

        See reference to definitive proxy statement under Part III.

ITEM 13.     Certain Relationships and Related Transactions
- --------     ----------------------------------------------

       See reference to definitive proxy statement under Part III.
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Item 14.    Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports on Form 8-K
- --------    ----------------------------------------------------------------

  (a)  Listing of Documents

       (1)     Financial  Statements.   The  Company's   Consolidated  Financial
               Statements  included  in Item 8 hereof,  as  required at June 30,
               1999 and 1998,  and for the years ended June 30,  1999,  1998 and
               1997, consist of the following:

                Consolidated Balance Sheets

                Consolidated Statements of Operations

                Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

                Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity

                Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

         (2)    Financial Statement Schedules.  Financial Statement Schedules of
                the Company  appended  hereto,  as required  for the years ended
                June 30, 1999, 1998 and 1997, consist of the following:

II.     Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

        The schedules listed in Reg.  210.5-04,  except those listed above, have
        been omitted because they are not applicable or the required information
        is shown in the financial statements or notes thereto.

        (3)     The following  Exhibits are filed as part of this report on Form
                10-K:



                Exhibit
                Number                         Exhibit
                ------                         -------
                 *2(a)     Agreement  and Plan of  Merger,  dated  May 20,  1989
                           among  the  Company,   Green   Mountain   Acquisition
                           Corporation  ("Merger  Sub"),  INTERCO  Incorporated,
                           Interco Subsidiary, Inc. and Ethan Allen
                 *2(b)     Restructuring  Agreement,  dated as  March  1,  1991,
                           among  Green  Mountain  Holding  Corporation,   Ethan
                           Allen,   Chemical  Bank,   General  Electric  Capital
                           Corporation,  Smith Barney Inc. and the stockholder's
                           name on the signature page thereof
                 *2(c)     Purchase  and Sale  Agreement,  dated March 28, 1997,
                           between the Company and Carriage  House  Interiors of
                           Colorado, Inc.
                 *3(a)     Restated   Certificate  of  Incorporation  for  Green
                           Mountain Holding Corporation
                 *3(b)     Restated and Amended  By-Laws of Green Mountain
                           Holding Corporation
                 *3(c)     Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company
                 *3(c)-1   Certificate of  Designation  relating to the Series C
                           Junior Participating Preferred Stock
                 *3(d)     Amended and Restated By-laws of the Company
                 *3(e)     Certificate  of  Designation   relating  to  the  New
                           Convertible Preferred Stock
                 *3(e)-1   Certificate of  Designation  relating to the Series C
                           Junior Participating Preferred Stock
                 *3(f)     Certificate of  Incorporation  of Ethan Allen Finance
                           Corporation
                 *3(g)     By-Laws of Ethan Allen Finance Corporation
                 *3(h)     Certificate   of   Incorporation   of   Ethan   Allen
                           Manufacturing Corporation
                 *3(i)     By-Laws of Ethan Allen Manufacturing Corporation
                 *4(a)     First  Amendment to  Management  Non-Qualified  Stock
                           Option Plan
                 *4(b)     Second  Amendment to Management  Non-Qualified  Stock
                           Option Plan
                 *4(c)     1992 Stock Option Plan
                 *4(c)-1   First Amendment to 1992 Stock Option Plan
                 *4(c)-2   Amended and Restated 1992 Stock Option Plan
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                Exhibit
                Number                         Exhibit
                ------                         -------
                *4(d)      Management  Letter  Agreement  among  the  Management
                           Investors and the Company
                *4(e)      Management  Warrant, issued by the Company to members
                           of the  Management  of Ethan Allen
                *4(f)      Form  of  Dealer   Letter   Agreement   among  Dealer
                           Investors and the Company
                *4(g)      Form of Kathwari Warrant, dated June 28, 1989
                *4(j)      Form of Indenture relating to the Senior Notes
                *4(j)-1    First  Supplemental  Indenture  dated as of March 23,
                           1995 between Ethan Allen and the First  National Bank
                           of Boston for  $75,000,000  8-3/4%  Senior  Notes due
                           2007
                *4(k)      Credit  Agreement among the Company,  Ethan Allen and
                           Bankers Trust Company
                *4(k)-1    Amended Credit  Agreement among the Company,
                           Ethan Allen and Bankers Trust Company
                *4(k)-2    110,000,000  Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility
                           dated  March 10, 1995  between  Ethan Allen and Chase
                           Manhattan Bank
                *4(k)-3    Amended and Restated Credit  Agreement as of December
                           4,  1996  between  Ethan  Allen  Inc.  and the  Chase
                           Manhattan Bank
                *4(k)-4    Credit  Agreement,  as of August 25, 1999,  among the
                           Company, Ethan Allen and the Chase Manhattan Bank
                *4(l)      Catawba County Industrial Facilities Revenue Bond
                *4(l)-1    Trust  Indenture dated as of October 1, 1994 securing
                           $4,6000,000  Industrial Development Revenue Refunding
                           Bonds,  Ethan  Allen Inc.  Series 1994 of the Catawba
                           County  Industrial  Facilities and Pollution  Control
                           Financing Authority
                *4(m)      Lease for 2700 Sepulveda Boulevard Torrance,
                           California
                *4(n)      Amended and Restated Warrant  Agreement,  dated March
                           1, 1991, among Green Mountain Holding Corporation and
                           First Trust National Association
                *4(o)      Exchange Notes Warrant Transfer Agreement
                *4(p)      Warrant  (Earned) to purchase shares of the Company's



                           Common Stock dated March 24, 1993
                *4(q)      Warrant   (Earned-In)  to  purchase   shares  of  the
                           Company's Common Stock, dated March 23, 1993
                *4(r)      Recapitalization Agreement among the Company, General
                           Electric  Capital  Corporation,  Smith  Barney  Inc.,
                           Chemical  Fund  Investments,   Inc.,  Legend  Capital
                           Group,  Inc.,  Legend  Capital   International  Ltd.,
                           Castle Harlan,  Inc., M. Farooq  Kathwari,  the Ethan
                           Allen Retirement Program and other stockholders named
                           on the signature pages thereto, dated as of March 24,
                           1993
                *4(s)      Preferred   Stock  and  Common   Stock   Subscription
                           Agreement,  dated March 24, 1993,  among the Company,
                           General  Electric  Capital  Corporation,   and  Smith
                           Barney Inc.
                *4(t)      Security  Agreement,  dated  as of  March  10,  1995,
                           between  Ethan Allen Inc.  and Chase  Manhattan  Bank
                *4(u)      Rights  Agreement,  dated as of July 26, 1996,
                           between the Company and Harris Trust and Savings Bank
                *4(v)      Registration Rights Agreement,  dated March 28, 1997,
                           between the Company and Carriage  House  Interiors of
                           Colorado, Inc.
                *10(b)     Employment Agreement, dated June 29, 1989,  among Mr.
                           Kathwari,  the Company and Ethan Allen
                *10(c)     Employment  Agreement dated July 27, 1994 among Mr.
                           Kathwari, the Company and Ethan Allen
                *10(d)     Restated  Directors Indemnification  Agreement, dated
                           March 1993, among the Company and Ethan Allen and
                           their Directors
                *10(e)     Registration  Rights  Agreement, dated March 1993, by
                           and   among   Ethan Allen,  General Electric  Capital
                           Corporation and Smith Barney Inc.
                *10(f)     Form of Management Bonus Plan, dated October 30, 1991
                *10(g)     Ethan Allen Profit Sharing and 401(k) Retirement Plan
                *10(h)     General Electric Capital Corporation Credit Card
                           Agreement
                *10(i)     Employment  Agreement  dated October 28, 1997 between
                           Mr. Kathwari and Ethan Allen Interiors, Inc.
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                Exhibit
                Number                         Exhibit
                ------                         -------
                *21        List of wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company
                23         Consent of KPMG LLP
                27         Financial Data Schedule

- -----------
*    Incorporated  by  reference  to the  exhibits  filed with the  Registration
     Statement  on Form S-1 of the Company  and Ethan Allen Inc.  filed with the
     Securities and Exchange  Commission on March 16, 1993  (Commission File No.
     33-57216) and the  Registration  Statement on Form S-3 of the Company filed
     with the  Securities  and Exchange  Commission on May 21, 1997  (Commission
     File No.  333-37545)  and the exhibits filed with the Annual Report on Form
     10-K of the  Company  and Ethan Allen Inc.  filed with the  Securities  and
     Exchange  Commission on September 24, 1993  (Commission  File No. 1-11806),
     the Current  Report on Form 8-K of the  Company and Ethan Allen Inc.  filed
     with the  Securities  and Exchange  Commission on July 3, 1996  (Commission
     File No.  1-11806),  the  Quarterly  Report on Form 10-Q of the Company and
     Ethan Allen Inc.  filed with the  Securities  and  Exchange  Commission  on
     February 13, 1997 (Commission File No. 1-11806) and the Quarterly Report on
     Form 10-Q of the Company and Ethan Allen Inc. filed with the Securities and
     Exchange  Commission on November 14, 1997 (Commission File No. 1-11806) and
     the Registration  Statement on Form S-3 of the Company,  Ethan Allen, Ethan
     Allen  Manufacturing  Corporation,  Ethan  Allen  Finance  Corporation  and
     Andover  Wood  Products  Inc.   filed  with  the  Securities  and  Exchange
     Commission on October 23, 1994  (Commission  File No.  33-85578-01) and all
     supplements thereto.
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                    ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
                 SCHEDULE II - VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
        As of and for the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 1999, 1998 and 1997
                             (Dollars in thousands)



<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

                                             Balance at      Additions                   Balance at
                                             Beginning      Charged to                     End of
                                             of Period        Income       Adjustments     Period
                                             ---------        ------       -----------     ------
<S>                                             <C>             <C>           <C>            <C>
Notes and Accounts Receivable:
  Allowance for doubtful accounts:

    June 30, 1999                            $ 2,248          $  622        $   (239)      $ 2,631
    June 30, 1998                            $ 2,122          $  312        $   (186)      $ 2,248
    June 30, 1997                            $ 2,975          $  328        $ (1,181)      $ 2,122
</TABLE>
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                                   SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the  requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities  Exchange
Act of 1934,  the  Registrant  has duly  caused  this Report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

                                  ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC.
                                  (Registrant)

                                   By /s/ M. Farooq Kathwari
                                     -----------------------------------------
                                     Chairman, Chief Executive Officer
                                        and Director

                                  ETHAN ALLEN INC.
                                  (Registrant)

                                  By /s/ M. Farooq Kathwari
                                    -----------------------------------------
                                    Chairman, Chief Executive Officer
                                      and Director
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                                   SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report
has been signed below by the following  persons on behalf of the  Registrant and
in the capacities and on the date indicated.

   /s/ M. Farooq Kathwari               Chairman, Chief Executive
- -----------------------------           Officer and Director
      (M. Farooq Kathwari)

      /s/ Clinton A. Clark              Director
- -----------------------------
       (Clinton A. Clark)

     /s/ Kristin Gamble                 Director
- -----------------------------
        (Kristin Gamble)



    /s/ Horace McDonell                 Director
- -----------------------------
       (Horace McDonell)

    /s/ Edward H. Meyer                 Director
- -----------------------------
       (Edward H. Meyer)

   /s/ William W. Sprague               Director
- -----------------------------
      (William W. Sprague)

    /s/ Gerardo Burdo                   Vice President & Treasurer
- -----------------------------
       (Gerardo Burdo)

    /s/ Michele Bateson                 Corporate Controller
- -----------------------------
          (Michele Bateson)
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                                    CREDIT  AGREEMENT  dated  as of  August  25,
                           1999, among ETHAN ALLEN INC., a Delaware  corporation
                           (the  "Borrower"),  ETHAN  ALLEN  INTERIORS  INC.,  a
                           Delaware  corporation  ("Holdings"),   the  financial
                           institutions   from  time  to  time  parties   hereto
                           (together  with  the  Swingline  Lender  (as  defined
                           below),  the "Lenders"),  THE CHASE MANHATTAN BANK, a
                           New York banking corporation, as swingline lender (in
                           such  capacity,   the  "Swingline  Lender"),  and  as
                           administrative   agent   (in   such   capacity,   the
                           "Administrative  Agent") for the  Lenders,  and FLEET
                           BANK,  N.A.,  a  national  banking  association,  and
                           WACHOVIA BANK, N.A., a national banking  association,
                           as  co-documentation  agents (in such  capacity,  the
                           "Co-Documentation Agents") for the Lenders.

                  The parties hereto agree as follows:

ARTICLE I.  DEFINITIONS

               SECTION  1.01.  Defined  Terms.  As used in this  Agreement,  the
following terms shall have the meanings specified below:

               "ABR Borrowing" shall mean a Borrowing comprised of ABR Loans.

               "ABR Loan" shall mean any Loan bearing  interest at the Alternate
Base Rate in accordance with the provisions of Article II.

               "Adjusted  LIBO Rate" shall mean,  with respect to any Eurodollar
Borrowing  for any Interest  Period,  an interest  rate per annum  (rounded,  if
necessary,  to the next 1/16 of 1%) equal to the product of (a) the LIBO Rate in
effect for such Interest Period and (b) Statutory Reserves.



               "Administrative  Agent Fees"  shall have the meaning  assigned to
such term in  Section  2.05(b).

               "Administrative  Questionnaire"  shall  mean  an   Administrative
Questionnaire in the form of Exhibit A.

               "Affiliate"  shall  mean,  when used with  respect to a specified
person,  another  person  that  directly,  or  indirectly  through  one or  more
intermediaries, Controls or is Controlled by or is under common Control with the
person specified.

               "Aggregate  Revolving  Credit Exposure"  shall mean the aggregate
amount of the Lenders' Revolving Credit Exposures.

               "Alternate  Base Rate" shall mean,  for any day, a rate per annum
(rounded, if necessary, to the next 1/16 of 1%) equal to the greatest of (a) the
Prime  Rate in effect  on such  day,  (b) the Base CD Rate in effect on such day
plus 1% and (c) the Federal Funds  Effective Rate in effect on such day plus 1/2
of 1%. If for any reason the  Administrative  Agent shall have determined (which
determination  shall be conclusive  absent  manifest error) that it is unable to
ascertain the Base CD Rate or the Federal Funds  Effective  Rate or both for any
reason, including the inability or failure of the Administrative Agent to obtain
sufficient  quotations in accordance with the terms thereof,  the Alternate Base
Rate shall be  determined  without  regard to clause (b) or (c), or both, of the
preceding sentence, as appropriate,  until the circumstances giving rise to such
inability no longer exist. Any change in the Alternate Base Rate due to a change
in the Prime  Rate,  the  Three-Month  Secondary  CD Rate or the  Federal  Funds
Effective  Rate shall be effective on the  effective  date of such change in the
Prime Rate,  the  Three-Month  Secondary CD Rate or the Federal Funds  Effective
Rate, respectively.

               "Applicable Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio" shall mean, at any time,
the Consolidated  Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio for the most recent period of four
consecutive fiscal quarters of the Borrower for which financial  statements have
been delivered to the Administrative Agent pursuant to Section 5.04.
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               "Applicable   Percentage"   shall  mean,   with  respect  to  any
Eurodollar  Loan or ABR Loan,  or with  respect  to the  Commitment  Fees or L/C
Participation  Fees,  as the case may be, the  applicable  percentage  set forth
below under the caption  "Eurodollar Spread" or "ABR Spread" or "Commitment Fee"
or "L/C  Participation  Fee",  as the case  may be,  based  upon the  Borrower's
senior,  unsecured,   noncredit  enhanced  debt  ratings  by  Moody's  and  S&P,
respectively, applicable on such date:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

                            Eurodollar        ABR        Commitment    L/C Participation
    Index Debt Ratings:       Spread        Spread           Fee              Fee
    -------------------       ------        ------       ----------    -----------------
         <S>                    <C>           <C>            <C>              <C>

        Category 1
        ----------

      A-/A3 or better         0.500%        0.000%         0.125%            0.500%

        Category 2
        ----------
         BBB+/Baa1            0.625%        0.000%         0.150%            0.625%

        Category 3
        ----------
         BBB/Baa2             0.750%        0.000%         0.175%            0.750%

        Category 4
        ----------
         BBB-/Baa3             1.00%        0.000%         0.200%            1.00%

        Category 5
        ----------
      Below BBB-/Baa3          1.25%        0.250%         0.250%            1.25%

</TABLE>

               For purposes of the foregoing, (i) if either Moody's or S&P shall
not have in effect a rating  for the  Borrower's  senior,  unsecured,  noncredit
enhanced debt (other than by reason of the circumstances referred to in the last
sentence of this  definition),  then such rating  agency shall be deemed to have
established a rating in Category 5; (ii) if the ratings established or deemed to



have been established by Moody's and S&P for the Borrower's  senior,  unsecured,
noncredit enhanced debt shall fall within different  Categories,  the Applicable
Percentage shall be based on the higher of the two ratings unless one of the two
ratings  is two or more  Categories  lower  than the  other,  in which  case the
Applicable  Percentage  shall be  determined  by reference to the Category  next
below  that  of  the  higher  of the  two  ratings;  and  (iii)  if the  ratings
established  or deemed  to have  been  established  by  Moody's  and S&P for the
Borrower's  senior,  unsecured,  noncredit enhanced debt shall be changed (other
than as a result  of a change in the  rating  system of  Moody's  or S&P),  such
change shall be  effective as of the date on which it is first  announced by the
applicable rating agency.  Each change in the Applicable  Percentage shall apply
during the period  commencing on the effective date of such change and ending on
the date  immediately  preceding the effective date of the next such change.  If
the rating  system of  Moody's or S&P shall  change,  or if either  such  rating
agency shall cease to be in the business of rating  corporate debt  obligations,
the  Borrower  and the  Lenders  shall  negotiate  in good  faith to amend  this
definition  to reflect  such  changed  rating  system or the  unavailability  of
ratings  from such rating  agency and,  pending  the  effectiveness  of any such
amendment,  the  Applicable  Percentage  shall be determined by reference to the
rating most recently in effect prior to such change or cessation.

               "Assessment  Rate"  shall  mean  for any  date  the  annual  rate
(rounded, if necessary,  to the next 1/100 of 1%) most recently estimated by the
Administrative Agent as the then current net annual assessment rate that will be
employed  in  determining  amounts  payable by the  Administrative  Agent to the
Federal Deposit  Insurance  Corporation (or any successor) for insurance by such
Corporation  (or  such  successor)  of  time  deposits  made in  Dollars  at the
Administrative Agent's domestic offices.

               "Assignment  and   Acceptance"   shall  mean  an  assignment  and
acceptance  entered  into by a  Lender  and an  assignee,  and  accepted  by the
Administrative Agent,  substantially in the form of Exhibit B or such other form
as shall be approved by the Administrative Agent.

               "Base CD Rate"  shall mean the sum of (a) the  product of (i) the
Three-Month Secondary CD Rate and (ii) Statutory Reserves and (b) the Assessment
Rate.
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                  "Board"  shall  mean the  Board of  Governors  of the  Federal
Reserve System of the United States.

                  "Borrowing"  shall mean a group of Loans of a single Type made
by the Lenders on a single date and as to which a single  Interest  Period is in
effect.

                  "Borrowing  Request"  shall mean a request by the  Borrower in
accordance  with the  terms of  Section  2.03 and  substantially  in the form of
Exhibit C.

                  "Business  Day"  shall  mean any day  other  than a  Saturday,
Sunday or day on which banks in New York City are  authorized or required by law
to close;  provided,  however,  that when used in  connection  with a Eurodollar
Loan,  the term "Business Day" shall also exclude any day on which banks are not
open for dealings in Dollar deposits in the London interbank market.

                  "Capital  Lease  Obligations"  of any  person  shall  mean the
obligations  of such person to pay rent or other  amounts under any lease of (or
other arrangement  conveying the right to use) real or personal  property,  or a
combination  thereof,  which  obligations  are  required  to be  classified  and
accounted  for as capital  leases on a balance  sheet of such person under GAAP,
and the  amount of such  obligations  shall be the  capitalized  amount  thereof
determined in accordance with GAAP.

                  "Cash  Equivalents"  shall mean (a) securities with maturities
of one year or less from the date of acquisition  issued or fully  guaranteed by
the United States or any agency or instrumentality  thereof, (b) certificates of
deposit,  banker's  acceptances and time deposits with maturities of one year or
less from the date of acquisition  and overnight bank deposits,  in each case of
any commercial bank having a long-term  unsecured debt rating of at least "A" by
S&P or "A2" by Moody's, (c) repurchase  obligations with a term of not more than
twelve days for underlying  securities of the types described in clauses (a) and
(b) above  entered  into with any of the Lenders and (d)  commercial  paper of a
domestic issuer with maturities of one year or less rated at least A-1 by S&P or
P-1 by Moody's; (e) commercial paper of any bank or other financial  institution
meeting the  qualifications  in clause (b) above;  and (f)  investments in money
market funds, substantially all assets of which comprise securities of the types
described in clauses (a) through (e) above.

                  A "Change in Control"  shall be deemed to have occurred if (a)
Holdings  shall cease to own 100% of the capital stock of the Borrower,  (b) any
person or group (within the meaning of Rule 13d-5 of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 as in  effect on the date  hereof)  shall own  directly  or  indirectly,



beneficially  or of record,  shares  representing  30% or more of the  aggregate
ordinary voting power represented by the issued and outstanding capital stock of
Holdings;  (c) a majority of the seats (other than vacant seats) on the board of
directors of Holdings  shall at any time have been  occupied by persons who were
neither (i) nominated by the board of directors of Holdings,  nor (ii) appointed
by directors so nominated;  or (d) any person or group shall otherwise  directly
or indirectly Control Holdings.

                  "Code"  shall  mean the  Internal  Revenue  Code of  1986,  as
amended from time to time.

                  "Commitment"  shall mean,  with  respect to any  Lender,  such
Lender's Revolving Credit Commitment and Swingline  Commitment and, with respect
to the Issuing Bank, its L/C Commitment.

                  "Commitment  Fee" shall have the meaning assigned to such term
in Section 2.05(a).

                  "Consolidated   Capital  Expenditures"  shall  mean,  for  any
period,  the sum of (a) the aggregate of all expenditures  (whether paid in cash
or other  consideration  or  accrued as a  liability)  by the  Borrower  and its
consolidated  Subsidiaries  during such period that,  in  conformity  with GAAP,
should be included in "additions to property,  plant or equipment" or comparable
items reflected in the consolidated  statement of cash flows of the Borrower and
its consolidated Subsidiaries; provided that "Consolidated Capital Expenditures"
shall not include (i) any of the foregoing  expenditures to the extent made with
the proceeds from property or casualty insurance or compensation with respect to
eminent  domain  or  condem  nation  proceedings  or (ii)  any of the  foregoing
expenditures  to the extent  constituting  an acquisition  made in reliance upon
clause (b) of Section  6.04;  plus (b) the  aggregate of all payments of Capital
Lease  Obligations  during  such  period  (except  to the  extent  allocable  to
interest).

                  "Consolidated EBITDA" shall mean, for any period, Consolidated
Net Income for such period,  before giving effect to any extraordinary  gains or
losses or any gains or losses  resulting  from sales of assets (other than sales
of inventory in the ordinary  course of business),  plus, to the extent deducted
in
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computing  such  Consolidated  Net  Income,  the sum of (a) income  tax  expense
(whether paid or deferred),  (b) Consolidated Interest Expense, (c) depreciation
and amortization and (d) any non-cash charges  resulting from any  restructuring
or consolidation  of operations or any grant,  exercise or cancellation of stock
options or warrants.

                  "Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio" shall mean, for any
period,  the ratio of (a) the sum of (i)  Consolidated  EBITDA  plus (ii) Rental
Expense  minus (iii)  Consolidated  Capital  Expenditures  to (b) the sum of (i)
Consolidated  Interest  Expense plus (ii) Rental Expense,  in each case for such
period.

                  "Consolidated  Interest  Expense"  shall mean, for any period,
the  gross  consolidated  interest  expense  of the  Borrower  for  such  period
determined on a consolidated  basis in accordance  with GAAP, and including,  to
the extent not  otherwise  included,  Capital Lease  Obligations  (to the extent
allocable to interest) and all commissions, discounts and other fees and charges
with  respect to letters of credit and  bankers'  acceptances  and the net costs
(i.e. costs minus benefits) under interest rate protection  agreements and other
interest hedging arrangements,  but excluding amortization of deferred financing
costs to the extent otherwise included.

                  "Consolidated  Net  Income"  shall mean,  for any period,  the
consolidated net income or loss of the Borrower for such period  determined on a
consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.

                  "Consolidated  Net  Worth"  shall  mean,  as of  any  date  of
determination,  the consolidated stockholders' equity of the Borrower determined
on a  consolidated  basis  in  accordance  with  GAAP  less  the  amount  of any
Indebtedness of Holdings to the Borrower included as an asset of the Borrower in
determining such consolidated stockholders' equity.

                  "Consolidated  Total  Assets"  shall  mean,  as of any date of
determination,   the  total  assets  which  would   properly  be  classified  as
consolidated  assets  of the  Borrower  and its  Subsidiaries  at  such  date in
accordance with GAAP.

                  "Consolidated  Total  Debt"  shall  mean,  as of any  date  of
determination,  all Indebtedness  (excluding (a) Guarantees of Indebtedness,  to
the extent the Guaranteed  Indebtedness is already included, (b) Indebtedness of
the type described in clause (i) of the definition of the term  Indebtedness and
(c) to the extent such Indebtedness is contingent in nature, Indebtedness of the
type described in clause (j) of the definition of the term  Indebtedness) of the



Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries determined on a consolidated basis in
accordance with GAAP.

                  "Control" shall mean the  possession,  directly or indirectly,
of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of a
person,  whether  through the  ownership  of voting  securities,  by contract or
otherwise,  and "Controlling" and "Controlled"  shall have meanings  correlative
thereto.

                  "Credit Event" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in
Section 4.01.

                  "Default" shall mean any event or condition which upon notice,
lapse of time or both would constitute an Event of Default.

                  "Dollars" or "$" shall mean lawful money of the United  States
of America.

                  "Effective  Date"  means  the  date on  which  the  conditions
specified in Section 4.02 are satisfied  (or waived in  accordance  with Section
9.08).

                  "Environment"  shall  mean  ambient  air,  surface  water  and
groundwater  (including potable water,  navigable water and wetlands),  the land
surface or  subsurface  strata,  the  workplace or as  otherwise  defined in any
Environmental Law.

                  "Environmental    Claim"   means   any   written   accusation,
allegation,  notice of violation, claim, demand, order, directive, cost recovery
action or other cause of action by, or on behalf of, any Governmental  Authority
or any person for damages,  injunctive  or  equitable  relief,  personal  injury
(including  sickness,  disease or death),  Remedial  Action  costs,  tangible or
intangible property damage, natural resource damages,  nuisance,  pollution, any
adverse  effect on the  environment  caused by any  Hazardous  Material,  or for
fines,  penalties  or  restrictions,  resulting  from  or  based  upon:  (a) the
existence,
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or  the  continuation  of the  existence,  of a  Release  (including  sudden  or
non-sudden, accidental or nonaccidental Releases); (b) exposure to any Hazardous
Material; (c) the presence, use, handling,  transpor tation, storage,  treatment
or disposal of any Hazardous Material; or (d) the violation or alleged violation
of any Environmental Law or Environmental Permit.

                  "Environmental  Law" means any and all applicable  present and
future treaties, laws, rules, regulations,  codes, ordinances,  orders, decrees,
judgments,  injunctions,  notices or binding agreements  issued,  promulgated or
entered  into  by  any  Governmental  Authority,  relating  in  any  way  to the
environment,  preservation or reclamation of natural resources,  the management,
Release or threatened  Release of any Hazardous Material or to health and safety
matters,  including the Comprehensive  Environmental Response,  Compensation and
Liability   Act  of  1980,   as  amended  by  the   Superfund   Amendments   and
Reauthorization  Act of  1986,  42  U.S.C.  ss.ss.  9601 et  seq.  (collectively
"CERCLA"), the Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended by the Resource Conservation
and Recovery Act of 1976 and Hazardous  and Solid  Amendments of 1984, 42 U.S.C.
ss.ss.  6901 et seq., the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended by the
Clean Water Act of 1977,  33 U.S.C.  ss.ss.  1251 et seq.,  the Clean Air Act of
1970, as amended 42 U.S.C. ss.ss. 7401 et seq., the Toxic Substances Control Act
of 1976, 15 U.S.C.  ss.ss. 2601 et seq., the Occupational  Safety and Health Act
of 1970, as amended,  29 U.S.C.  ss.ss. 651 et seq., the Emergency  Planning and
Community Right- to-Know Act of 1986, 42 U.S.C.  ss.ss.  11001 et seq., the Safe
Drinking  Water Act of 1974, as amended,  42 U.S.C.  ss.ss.  300(f) et seq., the
Hazardous  Materials  Transportation Act, 49 U.S.C. ss.ss. 1801 et seq., and any
similar or  implementing  state or local law, and all  amendments or regulations
promulgated thereunder.

                  "Environmental    Permit"   means   any   permit,    approval,
authorization,  certificate, license, variance, filing or permission required by
or from any Governmental Authority pursuant to any Environ mental Law.

                  "ERISA" shall mean the Employee Retirement Income Security Act
of 1974, as the same may be amended from time to time.

                  "ERISA Affiliate" shall mean any trade or business (whether or
not  incorporated)  that,  together  with the  Borrower,  is treated as a single
employer under Section 414 of the Code.

                  "Eurodollar  Borrowing"  shall mean a Borrowing  comprised  of
Eurodollar Loans.

                  "Eurodollar  Loan" shall mean any Loan  bearing  interest at a
rate  determined by reference to the Adjusted  LIBO Rate in accordance  with the
provisions of Article II.



                  "Event of  Default"  shall have the  meaning  assigned to such
term in Article VII.

                  "Excluded  Subsidiary" shall mean, at any time, any Subsidiary
of the Borrower identified on Schedule 3.08 as an "Excluded Subsidiary" and that
has not ceased to be an "Excluded  Subsidiary" as provided below;  provided that
such  Subsidiary (a) does not own assets or properties  that,  together with the
assets  and  properties  owned by all other  Subsidiaries  that are  treated  as
"Excluded  Subsidiaries",  have a fair market value, in the aggregate, in excess
of  $5,000,000,  (b) did not,  during  the  period  of four  consecutive  fiscal
quarters of the  Borrower  ended on the most recent date for which  quarterly or
annual  financial  statements of Holdings are  available,  have  revenues  that,
together  with the  revenues  of all  other  Subsidiaries  that are  treated  as
"Excluded Subsidiaries", accounted for more than 3% of the consolidated revenues
of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries  during such period,  and (c) does not have
any  Indebtedness  or any other material  liabilities.  At any time the Borrower
may, and shall if one or more Excluded  Subsidiaries fail to satisfy one or more
of the  conditions  described  in clauses  (a)  through  (d)  above,  notify the
Administrative  Agent  that one or more  Excluded  Subsidiaries  shall  cease to
constitute an "Excluded  Subsidiary",  whereupon such Subsidiary or Subsidiaries
shall cease to constitute an "Excluded  Subsidiary" for all purposes hereof. The
Borrower may not designate any Subsidiary that is not an Excluded  Subsidiary as
an Excluded Subsidiary.

                  "Existing  Credit  Agreement"  means the Amended and  Restated
Credit  Agreement  dated as of March 10,  1995,  as amended  and  restated as of
December 4, 1996, among the Borrower,  Holdings, the financial institutions from
time to time parties  thereto and The Chase  Manhattan  Bank, as  administrative
agent.

                  "Existing  Letters of Credit" means any Letters of Credit that
remain outstanding under the Existing Credit Agreement on the Effective Date.
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                  "Federal  Funds  Effective  Rate" shall mean, for any day, the
weighted  average of the rates on  overnight  Federal  funds  transactions  with
members of the Federal  Reserve  System  arranged by Federal funds  brokers,  as
published on the next succeeding Business Day by the Federal Reserve Bank of New
York,  or, if such rate is not so published for any day which is a Business Day,
the average of the quotations for the day of such  transactions  received by the
Administrative  Agent from three Federal  funds  brokers of recognized  standing
selected by it.

                  "Financial  Officer" of any  corporation  shall mean the chief
financial officer, principal accounting officer, Treasurer or Controller of such
corporation,  and the  Assistant  Treasurer  and  Assistant  Controller  for the
purpose of giving notice pursuant to Sections 2.03, 2.10, 2.19 and 2.20.

                  "Foreign  Subsidiary"  shall  mean  any  Subsidiary  organized
outside of the United States.

                  "GAAP" shall mean  generally  accepted  accounting  principles
applied on a consistent basis.

                  "Governmental  Authority" shall mean any Federal, state, local
or  foreign  court  or  governmental  agency,   authority,   instrumentality  or
regulatory body.

                  "Guarantee"  of or by any person  shall  mean any  obligation,
contingent  or  otherwise,  of such person  guaranteeing  or having the economic
effect of  guaranteeing  any  Indebtedness  of any other  person  (the  "primary
obligor") in any manner,  whether  directly or  indirectly,  and  including  any
obligation  of such  person,  direct or  indirect,  (a) to  purchase  or pay (or
advance or supply funds for the purchase or payment of) such  Indebtedness or to
purchase  (or to advance or supply  funds for the  purchase of) any security for
the payment of such Indebtedness,  (b) to purchase or lease property, securities
or services  for the purpose of assuring the owner of such  Indebtedness  of the
payment of such Indebtedness or (c) to maintain working capital,  equity capital
or any other financial  statement  condition or liquidity of the primary obligor
so as to enable the primary obligor to pay such Indebtedness; provided, however,
that the term Guarantee shall not include endorsements for collection or deposit
in the ordinary course of business.

                  "Guarantee  Agreement  " shall mean the  Guarantee  Agreement,
substantially   in  the  form  of  Exhibit  C,  among  the  Guarantors  and  the
Administrative Agent.

                  "Guarantors"   shall   mean   Holdings   and  the   Subsidiary
Guarantors.

                  "Hazardous  Materials"  means  all  explosive  or  radioactive



substances  or wastes,  hazardous  or toxic  substances  or wastes,  pollutants,
solid, liquid or gaseous wastes,  including petroleum or petroleum  distillates,
asbestos or asbestos containing materials, polychlorinated biphenyls ("PCBs") or
PCB-containing  materials or equipment,  radon gas, infectious or medical wastes
and all other  substances  or wastes of any  nature  regulated  pursuant  to any
Environmental Law.

                  "Indebtedness" of any person shall mean, without  duplication,
(a) all  obligations  of such  person  for  borrowed  money or with  respect  to
deposits or advances of any kind, (b) all  obligations of such person  evidenced
by bonds, debentures,  notes or similar instruments, (c) all obligations of such
person upon which interest charges are customarily  paid, (d) all obligations of
such person under conditional sale or other title retention  agreements relating
to property or assets  purchased by such  person,  (e) all  obligations  of such
person issued or assumed as the deferred  purchase price of property or services
(excluding  trade  accounts  payable  and  accrued  obligations  incurred in the
ordinary  or  customary  course of  business),  (f) all  Indebtedness  of others
secured by (or for which the holder of such  Indebtedness has an existing right,
contingent  or  otherwise,  to be  secured  by) any  Lien on  property  owned or
acquired by such person,  whether or not the  obligations  secured  thereby have
been assumed,  (g) all Guarantees by such person of Indebtedness of others,  (h)
all Capital Lease Obligations of such person, (i) all obligations of such person
in respect of Rate Protection  Agreements and (j) all obligations of such person
as an account  party in respect of letters of credit and  bankers'  acceptances.
The Indebtedness of any person shall include the Indebtedness of any partnership
in which such person is a general partner.

                  "Indemnity, Subrogation and Contribution Agreement" shall mean
the Indemnity, Subrogation and Contribution Agreement, substantially in the form
of  Exhibit  D,  among  the  Borrower,   the   Subsidiary   Guarantors  and  the
Administrative Agent.
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                  "Information   Memorandum"   shall   mean   the   confidential
information  memorandum,  dated as of July 1999,  prepared by the  Borrower  and
distributed by the Administrative Agent to the Lenders.

                  "Interest  Payment Date" shall mean, with respect to any Loan,
the last day of the Interest  Period  applicable  to the Borrowing of which such
Loan is a part  and,  in the case of a  Eurodollar  Borrowing  with an  Interest
Period of more than  three  months'  duration,  each day that would have been an
Interest Payment Date had successive  Interest Periods of three months' duration
been applicable to such Borrowing, and, in addition, any date on which such Loan
shall be changed to a different Type.

                  "Interest   Period"  shall  mean  (a)  as  to  any  Eurodollar
Borrowing,  the period  commencing on the date of such  Borrowing or on the last
day of the immediately  preceding  Interest Period applicable to such Borrowing,
as the case may be,  and ending on the  numerically  corresponding  day (or,  if
there is no  numerically  corresponding  day,  on the last day) in the  calendar
month that is 1, 2, 3, 6 or (if available,  as determined by the  Administrative
Agent and the Lenders) 9 or 12 months thereafter,  as the Borrower may elect and
(b) as to any ABR Borrowing, the period commencing on the date of such Borrowing
or on the last day of the immediately  preceding  Interest Period  applicable to
such  Borrowing,  as the case may be, and ending on the earliest of (i) the next
succeeding  March 31, June 30,  September 30 or December 31, (ii) the  Revolving
Credit  Maturity Date and (iii) the date such Borrowing is prepaid in accordance
with Section 2.10(b);  provided,  however, that if any Interest Period would end
on a day other than a Business Day,  such  Interest  Period shall be extended to
the next succeeding  Business Day unless, in the case of a Eurodollar  Borrowing
only, such next  succeeding  Business Day would fall in the next calendar month,
in which case such Interest Period shall end on the next preceding Business Day.
Interest shall accrue from and including the first day of an Interest  Period to
but excluding the last day of such Interest Period.

                  "Issuing Bank" shall mean, as the context may require, (a) The
Chase  Manhattan  Bank or (b) any other  Lender that may become an Issuing  Bank
pursuant to Section 2.20(i) or 2.20(k), with respect to Letters of Credit issued
by such Lender. The Issuing Bank may, in its discretion, arrange for one or more
Letters of Credit to be issued by  Affiliates of the Issuing Bank, in which case
the term "Issuing Bank" shall include any such Affiliate with respect to Letters
of Credit issued by such Affiliate.

                  "Issuing  Bank Fees" shall have the  meaning  assigned to such
term in Section 2.05(c).

                  "L/C Commitment" shall mean the commitment of the Issuing Bank
to issue Letters of Credit pursuant to Section 2.20.

                  "L/C  Disbursement"  shall mean a payment or disbursement made
by the Issuing Bank pursuant to a Letter of Credit.

                  "L/C  Exposure"  shall  mean  at any  time  the sum of (a) the



aggregate undrawn amount of all outstanding  Letters of Credit at such time plus
(b) the aggregate  principal  amount of all L/C Disburse ments that have not yet
been reimbursed at such time. The L/C Exposure of any Revolving Credit Lender at
any time shall mean its Pro Rata  Percentage  of the  aggregate  L/C Exposure at
such time.

                  "L/C  Participation  Fee" shall have the  meaning  assigned to
such term in Section 2.05(c).

                  "Letter  of Credit"  shall  mean any  letter of credit  issued
pursuant to Section 2.20.

                  "Leverage  Ratio"  shall mean,  on any date,  the ratio of (a)
Consolidated  Total Debt to (b) the sum of (i) Consolidated  Total Debt and (ii)
Consolidated Net Worth, in each case as of such date.

                  "LIBO  Rate"  shall  mean,  with  respect  to  any  Eurodollar
Borrowing,  the rate  (rounded,  if necessary,  to the next 1/16 of 1%) at which
Dollar deposits  approximately  equal in principal amount to the  Administrative
Agent's  portion of such Eurodollar  Borrowing and for a maturity  comparable to
such  Interest  Period  are  offered  to  the  principal  London  office  of the
Administrative  Agent in  immediately  available  funds in the London  interbank
market at approximately  11:00 a.m., London time, two Business Days prior to the
commencement of such Interest Period.

                  "Lien"  shall  mean,  with  respect  to  any  asset,  (a)  any
mortgage, deed of trust, lien, pledge, encumbrance,  charge or security interest
in or on such  asset,  (b) the  interest  of a  vendor  or a  lessor  under  any
conditional sale agreement,  capital lease or title retention agreement relating
to such asset and (c) in the case of securities,  any purchase  option,  call or
similar right of a third party with respect to such securities.
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                  "Loan  Documents"  shall mean this  Agreement,  the  Guarantee
Agreement, the Indemnity,  Subrogation and Contribution Agreement and the Notes,
if any.

                  "Loan Parties" shall mean the Borrower and the Guarantors.

                  "Loans"  shall  mean  the  Revolving Loans and  the  Swingline
Loans.

                  "Margin Stock" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in
Regulation U.

                  "Material Adverse Effect" shall mean (a) a materially  adverse
effect on the business, assets, operations, prospects or condition, financial or
otherwise,  of Holdings,  or the Borrower,  or the Borrower and the Subsidiaries
taken as a whole,  (b) material  impairment  of the ability of any Loan Party to
perform any of its obligations under any Loan Document to which it is or will be
a party or (c) material impairment of the rights of or benefits available to the
Lenders under any Loan Document.

                  "Moody's" shall mean Moody's Investors Service,  Inc., and its
successors.

                  "Multiemployer  Plan"  shall  mean  a  multiemployer  plan  as
defined  in  Section  4001(a)(3)  of ERISA to which  the  Borrower  or any ERISA
Affiliate  (other  than one  considered  an ERISA  Affiliate  only  pursuant  to
subsection  (m) or (o) of Code Section 414) is making or accruing an  obligation
to make  contributions,  or has within any of the preceding five plan years made
or accrued an obligation to make contributions.

                  "Non Wholly Owned  Subsidiary" shall mean a Subsidiary that is
not a Wholly Owned Subsidiary.

                  "Note"  shall  mean  a  promissory   note  of  the   Borrower,
substantially in the form of Exhibit D.

                  "Obligations"   shall   mean  all   obligations   defined   as
"Obligations" in the Guarantee Agreement.

                  "PBGC"  shall mean the Pension  Benefit  Guaranty  Corporation
referred to and defined in ERISA.

                  "Person"   or  "person"   shall  mean  any   natural   person,
corporation, business trust, joint venture, association, company, partnership or
government, or any agency or political subdivision thereof.

                  "Plan"  shall mean any  employee  pension  benefit plan (other
than a  Multiemployer  Plan)  subject to the  provisions of Title IV of ERISA or
Section 412 of the Code that is maintained for current or former  employees,  or
any beneficiary thereof, of the Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate.



                  "Pro Rata  Percentage"  of any Revolving  Credit Lender at any
time  shall  mean  the  percentage  of the  Total  Revolving  Credit  Commitment
represented by such Lender's Revolving Credit Commitment.

                  "Prime  Rate"  shall  mean  the  rate of  interest  per  annum
publicly  announced from time to time by the  Administrative  Agent as its prime
rate in effect at its  principal  office in New York  City;  each  change in the
Prime Rate shall be effective  on the date such change is publicly  announced as
being effective.

                  "Rate   Protection   Agreements"   shall  mean  interest  rate
protection  agreements,  foreign currency exchange  agreements,  commodity price
protection  agreements and other interest or currency exchange rate or commodity
price hedging arrangements.

                  "Register"  shall have the meaning  given such term in Section
9.04(d).

                  "Regulation  T" shall mean  Regulation  T of the Board as from
time to time in effect and all official rulings and  interpretations  thereunder
or thereof.
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                  "Regulation  U" shall mean  Regulation  U of the Board as from
time to time in effect and all official rulings and  interpretations  thereunder
or thereof.

                  "Regulation  X" shall mean  Regulation  X of the Board as from
time to time in effect and all official rulings and  interpretations  thereunder
or thereof.

                  "Release"  means  any  spilling,  leaking,  pumping,  pouring,
emitting,  emptying,   discharging,   injecting,  escaping,  leaching,  dumping,
disposing,  depositing,  dispersing,  emanating or  migrating  of any  Hazardous
Material in, into, onto or through the environment.

                  "Remedial  Action" means (a) "remedial action" as such term is
defined  in  CERCLA,  42 U.S.C.  Section  9601(24),  and (b) all  other  actions
required  by any  Governmental  Authority  or  voluntarily  undertaken  to:  (i)
cleanup, remove, treat, abate or in any other way address any Hazardous Material
in the environment;  (ii) prevent the Release or threat of Release,  or minimize
the further Release of any Hazardous Material so it does not migrate or endanger
or threaten to endanger  public  health,  welfare or the  environment;  or (iii)
perform studies and  investigations in connection with, or as a precondition to,
(i) or (ii) above.

                  "Rental  Expense"  shall  mean,  for any  period,  all payment
obligations of Borrower and its  consolidated  Subsidiaries  accrued during such
period under  agreements  for rent,  lease,  hire or use of any real or personal
property,  including obligations in the nature of operating leases but excluding
Capital Lease Obligations.

                  "Reportable  Event" shall mean any reportable event as defined
in Section 4043(b) of ERISA or the regulations issued thereunder with respect to
a Plan (other than a Plan maintained by an ERISA Affiliate that is considered an
ERISA Affiliate only pursuant to subsection (m) or (o) of Code Section 414).

                  "Required  Lenders"  shall mean, at any time,  Lenders  having
Revolving Credit Exposure and unused Revolving Credit  Commitments  representing
in excess  of 50% of the sum of the  Aggregate  Revolving  Credit  Exposure  and
unused Revolving Credit Commitments at such time.

                  "Responsible  Officer"  of  any  corporation  shall  mean  any
executive officer or Financial Officer of such corporation and any other officer
or  similar  official  thereof   responsible  for  the   administration  of  the
obligations of such corporation in respect of this Agreement.

                  "Revolving Credit Borrowing" shall mean a Borrowing  comprised
of Revolving Loans.

                  "Revolving Credit Commitment" shall mean, with respect to each
Lender,  the commitment of such Lender to make Revolving  Loans hereunder as set
forth in Schedule 2.01, or in the  Assignment  and Acceptance  pursuant to which
such Lender assumed its Revolving Credit Commitment,  as applicable, as the same
may be reduced  from time to time  pursuant  to  Section  2.09 and  pursuant  to
assignments by such Lender pursuant to Section 9.04.

                  "Revolving  Credit  Exposure"  shall mean, with respect to any
Lender  at any  time,  the  aggregate  principal  amount  at  such  time  of all
outstanding  Revolving Credit Loans of such Lender, plus the aggregate amount at
such time of such Lender's L/C Exposure,  plus the aggregate amount at such time
of such Lender's Swingline Exposure.



                  "Revolving Credit Lender" shall mean a Lender with a Revolving
Credit Commitment.

                  "Revolving Credit Maturity Date" shall mean August 25, 2004.

                  "Revolving  Loans" shall mean the revolving  loans made by the
Lenders to the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.01. Each Revolving Loan shall be a
Eurodollar Revolving Loan or an ABR Revolving Loan.

                  "S&P"  shall  mean  Standard  & Poor's  Ratings  Group and its
successors.

                  "Statutory  Reserves"  shall mean a fraction  (expressed  as a
decimal),  the numerator of which is the number one and the denominator of which
is the  number  one minus  the  aggregate  of the  maximum  reserve  percentages
(including any marginal,  special, emergency or supplemental reserves)
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expressed as a decimal established by the Board and any other banking authority,
domestic or foreign, to which the Administrative  Agent or any Lender (including
any branch,  Affiliate,  or other  Funding  Office  making or holding a Loan) is
subject (a) with  respect to the Base CD Rate,  for new  negotiable  nonpersonal
time deposits in Dollars of over $100,000 with maturities approximately equal to
three months,  and (b) with respect to the Adjusted LIBO Rate, for  Eurocurrency
Liabilities (as defined in Regulation D of the Board).  Such reserve percentages
shall include  those imposed  pursuant to such  Regulation D.  Eurodollar  Loans
shall be deemed to constitute Eurocurrency Liabilities and to be subject to such
reserve requirements  without benefit of or credit for proration,  exemptions or
offsets  which may be  available  from  time to time to any  Lender  under  such
Regulation D. Statutory  Reserves shall be adjusted  automatically  on and as of
the effective date of any change in any reserve percentage.

                  "subsidiary"  shall mean,  with respect to any person  (herein
referred to as the "parent"), any corporation, partnership, association or other
business  entity  (a)  of  which   securities  or  other   ownership   interests
representing more than 50% of the equity or more than 50% of the ordinary voting
power or more than 50% of the general partnership interests are, at the time any
determination is being made, owned,  controlled or held, or (b) which is, at the
time any determination is made,  otherwise  Controlled,  by the parent or one or
more subsidiaries of the parent or by the parent and one or more subsidiaries of
the parent.

                  "Subsidiary" shall mean any subsidiary of the Borrower.

                  "Subsidiary  Guarantor" shall mean each Subsidiary that is not
a Foreign Subsidiary or an Excluded Subsidiary.

                  "Swingline  Commitment"  shall  mean  the  commitment  of  the
Swingline  Lender to make loans  pursuant  to Section  2.19,  as the same may be
reduced from time to time pursuant to Section 2.09.

                  "Swingline  Exposure"  shall  mean at any time  the  aggregate
principal amount at such time of all outstanding  Swingline Loans. The Swingline
Exposure  of any  Revolving  Credit  Lender at any time shall equal its Pro Rata
Percentage of the aggregate Swingline Exposure at such time.

                  "Swingline  Loan"  shall  mean any loan made by the  Swingline
Lender pursuant to Section 2.19.

                  "Three-Month  Secondary CD Rate" shall mean,  for any day, the
secondary market rate for three-month  certificates of deposit reported as being
in effect on such day (or,  if such day shall not be a  Business  Day,  the next
preceding  Business Day) by the Board through the public  information  telephone
line of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (which rate will, under the current
practices  of the Board,  be published in Federal  Reserve  Statistical  Release
H.15(519)  during the week following such day), or, if such rate shall not be so
reported on such day or such next  preceding  Business  Day,  the average of the
secondary  market  quotations for  three-month  certificates of deposit of major
money center banks in New York City received at  approximately  10:00 a.m.,  New
York City time, on such day (or, if such day shall not be a Business Day, on the
next  preceding  Business Day) by the  Administrative  Agent from three New York
City negotiable  certificate of deposit dealers of recognized  standing selected
by it.

                  "Total Revolving Credit  Commitment"  shall mean, at any time,
the aggregate amount of the Revolving Credit  Commitments,  as in effect at such
time.

                  "Transactions" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in
Section 3.02.

                  "Type",  when used in respect of any Loan or Borrowing,  shall
refer to the Rate by  reference  to which  interest on such Loan or on the Loans



comprising  such  Borrowing is  determined.  For purposes  hereof,  "Rate" shall
include the Adjusted LIBO Rate and the Alternate Base Rate.

                  "Withdrawal Liability" shall mean liability to a Multiemployer
Plan as a result of a complete  or partial  withdrawal  from such  Multiemployer
Plan, as such terms are defined in Part I of Subtitle E of Title IV of ERISA.

                  "Wholly  Owned  Subsidiary"  shall mean a Subsidiary  of which
securities  (except  for  directors'   qualifying  shares)  or  other  ownership
interests representing 100% of the equity, including 100% of the ordinary voting
power,  are, at the time any determination is being made, owned by the Borrower,
either  directly or  indirectly  through  other  Subsidiaries  that  satisfy the
requirements of this definition.
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                  SECTION 1.02. Terms Generally. The definitions in Section 1.01
shall apply equally to both the singular and plural forms of the terms  defined.
Whenever the context may require,  any pronoun shall  include the  corresponding
masculine,  feminine  and neuter  forms.  The words  "include",  "includes"  and
"including"  shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase "without  limitation".
All references  herein to Articles,  Sections,  Exhibits and Schedules  shall be
deemed  references  to Articles and Sections of, and Exhibits and  Schedules to,
this Agreement unless the context shall otherwise  require.  Except as otherwise
expressly  provided  herein,  (a) any  reference  in this  Agreement to any Loan
Document  shall  mean  such  document  as  amended,  restated,  supplemented  or
otherwise  modified  from  time to time and (b) all  terms of an  accounting  or
financial  nature shall be construed in accordance  with GAAP, as in effect from
time to time;  provided,  however,  that for purposes of determining  compliance
with the covenants contained in Article VI, all accounting terms herein shall be
interpreted  and  all  accounting  determinations  hereunder  shall  be  made in
accordance with GAAP as in effect on the date of this Agreement and applied on a
basis consistent with the application used in the financial  statements referred
to in Section 3.05.

ARTICLE II.  THE CREDITS

                  SECTION 2.01. Commitments. Subject to the terms and conditions
and relying  upon the  representations  and  warranties  herein set forth,  each
Lender  agrees,  severally  and not  jointly,  to make  Revolving  Loans  to the
Borrower,  at any time and from  time to time on or after the date  hereof,  and
until the earlier of the Revolving  Credit  Maturity Date and the termination of
the Revolving  Credit  Commitment  of such Lender in  accordance  with the terms
hereof, in an aggregate  principal amount at any time outstan ding that will not
result  in (i) such  Lender's  Revolving  Credit  Exposure  exceeding  (ii) such
Lender's Revolving Credit Commitment.

                  Within  the limits set forth in the  preceding  sentence,  the
Borrower may borrow,  pay or prepay and reborrow Revolving Loans on or after the
Effective Date and prior to the Revolving  Credit Maturity Date,  subject to the
terms, conditions and limitations set forth herein.

                  SECTION  2.02.  Loans.  (a) Each Loan  (other than a Swingline
Loan,  as to which this Section 2.02 shall not apply) shall be made as part of a
Borrowing  consisting of Loans made by the Lenders  ratably in  accordance  with
their  applicable  Revolving Credit  Commitments;  provided,  however,  that the
failure  of any Lender to make any Loan  shall not in itself  relieve  any other
Lender of its obligation to lend hereunder (it being understood,  however,  that
no Lender shall be  responsible  for the failure of any other Lender to make any
Loan  required  to be made by such  other  Lender).  The  Loans  comprising  any
Borrowing shall be in an aggregate  principal  amount which is (i) not less than
$500,000  and  is an  integral  multiple  of  $100,000,  in the  case  of an ABR
Borrowing,  (ii) not less than $500,000 and is an integral multiple of $500,000,
in the case of a Eurodollar Borrowing, or (iii) equal to the remaining available
balance of the Revolving Credit Commitments.

                  (b) Subject to Sections 2.08 and 2.12, each Borrowing shall be
comprised  entirely of ABR Loans or Eurodollar Loans as the Borrower may request
pursuant to Section 2.03. Each Lender may at its option make any Eurodollar Loan
by causing any  domestic or foreign  branch or  Affiliate of such Lender to make
such  Loan;  provided  that any  exercise  of such  option  shall not affect the
obligation  of the Borrower to repay such Loan in  accordance  with the terms of
this Agreement.  Borrowings of more than one Type may be outstanding at the same
time; provided,  however, that the Borrower shall not be entitled to request any
Borrowing  which,  if made,  would result in more than 20 Eurodollar  Borrowings
outstanding  hereunder at any time.  For purposes of the  foregoing,  Borrowings
having different  Interest  Periods,  regardless of whether they commence on the
same date, shall be considered separate Borrowings.

                  (c)  Each  Lender  shall  make  each  Loan  to be  made  by it
hereunder on the proposed  date thereof by wire  transfer to such account as the
Administrative  Agent may  designate in federal funds not later than 11:00 a.m.,
New York City time, and the Administrative Agent shall by 12:00 (noon), New York



City time, credit the amounts so received to an account with the  Administrative
Agent  designated by the Borrower in the  applicable  Borrowing  Request,  which
account must be in the name of the  Borrower or, if a Borrowing  shall not occur
on such date because any condition  precedent  herein  specified  shall not have
been met, return the amounts so received to the respective Lenders.

                  (d) Unless the Administrative Agent shall have received notice
from a Lender prior to the date of any Borrowing  that such Lender will not make
available to the  Administrative  Agent such Lender's portion of such Borrowing,
the  Administrative  Agent may assume  that such  Lender  has made such  portion
available  to the  Administrative  Agent  on  the  date  of  such  Borrowing  in
accordance  with
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paragraph  (c) above and the  Administrative  Agent may, in  reliance  upon such
assumption,  make available to the Borrower on such date a corresponding amount.
If the  Administrative  Agent shall have so made funds  available  then,  to the
extent  that such  Lender  shall not have made  such  portion  available  to the
Administrative  Agent, such Lender and the Borrower  severally agree to repay to
the Administrative  Agent forthwith on demand such corresponding amount together
with interest thereon, for each day from the date such amount is made avail able
to the Borrower until the date such amount is repaid to the Administrative Agent
at (i) in the case of the Borrower,  the interest rate applicable at the time to
the Loans  comprising such Borrowing and (ii) in the case of such Lender, a rate
determined  by the  Administrative  Agent to represent  its cost of overnight or
short-term  funds  (which  determination  shall be  conclusive  absent  manifest
error).   If  such  Lender  shall  repay  to  the   Administrative   Agent  such
corresponding amount, such amount shall constitute such Lender's Loan as part of
such Borrowing for purposes of this  Agreement.  Nothing in this paragraph shall
be construed to relieve any Lender of its obligation to make Loans  hereunder or
to  prejudice  any rights  that the  Borrower  may have  against any Lender as a
result of any failure by such Lender to make Loans hereunder.

                  (e) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the
Borrower  shall not be entitled to request any Borrowing if the Interest  Period
requested  with respect  thereto would end after the Revolving  Credit  Maturity
Date.

                  (f) If the  Issuing  Bank  shall  not have  received  from the
Borrower any payment  required to be made under Section 2.20(e) by the time such
payment is required to be made,  then, the Issuing Bank will promptly notify the
Administrative  Agent of the L/C Disbursement and the Administrative  Agent will
promptly notify each Revolving  Credit Lender of such L/C  Disbursement  and its
Pro Rata  Percentage  thereof.  Each  Revolving  Credit Lender shall pay by wire
transfer of immediately  available funds to the  Administrative  Agent not later
than 2:00 p.m., New York City time, on such date (or, if such  Revolving  Credit
Lender shall have received  such notice later than 12:00  (noon),  New York City
time,  on any day,  not  later  than  10:00  a.m.,  New York City  time,  on the
immediately  following  Business Day), an amount equal to such Lender's Pro Rata
Percentage of such L/C Disbursement and the  Administrative  Agent will promptly
pay to the Issuing  Bank  amounts so received  by it from the  Revolving  Credit
Lenders.  The  Administrative  Agent will  promptly  pay to the Issuing Bank any
amounts  received by it from the Borrower  pursuant to Section  2.20(e) prior to
the time that any  Revolving  Credit  Lender makes any payment  pursuant to this
paragraph (f); any such amounts received by the Administrative  Agent thereafter
will be promptly  remitted by the  Administrative  Agent to the Revolving Credit
Lenders  that shall have made such  payments and to the Issuing  Bank,  as their
interests may appear. If any Revolving Credit Lender shall not have made its Pro
Rata Percentage of such L/C Disbursement  available to the Administrative  Agent
as provided above, such Lender and the Borrower  severally agree to pay interest
on such amount, for each day from and including the date such amount is required
to be paid in  accordance  with this  paragraph to but  excluding  the date such
amount is paid, to the Administrative  Agent for the account of the Issuing Bank
at (i) in the case of the Borrower,  the applicable rate per annum under Section
2.20(h),  without duplication and (ii) in the case of such Lender, for the first
such day, the Federal Funds  Effective  Rate, and for each day  thereafter,  the
Alternate  Base Rate.  If (i) the  Revolving  Credit  Lenders  make the payments
required pursuant to this paragraph (f) in respect of any L/C Disbursement, (ii)
the  Borrower  notifies  the  Administrative  Agent in  accordance  with Section
2.20(e)  that all or any portion of such  payments  should be financed  with ABR
Loans,  specifying  the amount  thereof to be so  financed,  (iii) the amount so
specified is not less than $500,000 and is an integral multiple of $100,000, and
(iv) the  conditions to Borrowing set forth in Section 4.01 are satisfied at the
time, then the amount of such payments so specified  shall  constitute ABR Loans
made on the date  such  payments  were  made  for all  purposes  hereof  and the
Administrative Agent shall promptly advise the Lenders thereof.

                  (g) Any Borrowing  made on the Effective Date shall be made as
an ABR Borrowing.

                  SECTION 2.03.  Borrowing  Procedure;  Interest Rate Elections.
(a) In order to request a Borrowing  (other than a Swingline  Loan,  as to which
this   Section  2.03  shall  not  apply),   the  Borrower   shall  give  to  the



Administrative  Agent telephonic notice of the contents of its Borrowing Request
(promptly  confirmed by hand delivery or telecopy  notice to the  Administrative
Agent of a duly completed Borrowing Request substantially in the form of Exhibit
C) (i) in the case of a  Eurodollar  Borrowing,  not later than 11:00 a.m.,  New
York City time, three Business Days before a proposed Borrowing, and (ii) in the
case of an ABR  Borrowing,  not later than 12:00 noon,  New York City time,  one
Business Day before a proposed  Borrowing;  provided,  however,  that  Borrowing
Requests with respect to Borrowings to be made on the Effective Date may, at the
discretion  of the  Administrative  Agent,  be  delivered  later  than the times
specified above.  Each Borrowing  Request shall be irrevocable,  signed by or on
behalf of the Borrower and shall specify the following information:  (i) whether
the  Borrowing  then being  requested is to be a
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Eurodollar Borrowing or an ABR Borrowing; (ii) the date of such Borrowing (which
shall be a Business Day),  (iii) the number and location of the account to which
funds are to be  disbursed  (which shall be an account  that  complies  with the
requirements of Section 2.02(c)); (iv) the amount of such Borrowing;  and (v) if
such Borrowing is to be a Eurodollar Borrowing, the Interest Period with respect
thereto; provided,  however,that,  notwithstanding any contrary specification in
any  Borrowing  Request,   each  requested   Borrowing  shall  comply  with  the
requirements  set  forth  in  Section  2.02.  If no  election  as to the Type of
Borrowing is specified in any such notice, then the requested Borrowing shall be
an ABR Borrowing. If no Interest Period with respect to any Eurodollar Borrowing
is  specified  in any such  notice,  then the  Borrower  shall be deemed to have
selected an Interest Period of one month's duration.  The  Administrative  Agent
shall promptly (and in any event on the same day that the  Administrative  Agent
receives such notice, if received by 1:00 p.m., New York City time, on such day)
advise the Lenders of any notice  given  pursuant to this  Section 2.03 (and the
contents thereof) and of each Lender's portion of the requested Borrowing.

                  (b) The  Revolving  Loans  included  in any  Revolving  Credit
Borrowing shall initially be of the Type and have the Interest Period determined
as provided in paragraph  (a) above.  Thereafter,  the Borrower may from time to
time  elect to change  or  continue  the Type of all or a  portion  of the Loans
included in such Borrowing, as follows:

                  (i) if such Loans are ABR  Loans,  the  Borrower  may elect to
         change such Loans to Eurodollar Loans; or

                  (ii) if such Loans are  Eurodollar  Loans,  the  Borrower  may
         elect to change  such Loans to ABR Loans or to  continue  such Loans as
         Eurodollar Loans for an additional Interest Period.

Each such election  shall be made by  delivering a notice to the  Administrative
Agent at the time and in the manner  applicable  to a  Borrowing  Request  under
paragraph (a) above, and specifying the information  required to be specified in
such a Borrowing Request,  and the contents thereof shall be communicated by the
Administrative  Agent to the Lenders, in each case as though the Loans resulting
from such election were being  advanced as a Borrowing on the date such election
is to become effective. In any event (i) the Borrower may not elect to change or
continue any Eurodollar  Loans except  pursuant to an election that is effective
on the last day of the Interest Period applicable  thereto,  (ii) each Borrowing
resulting from any such election  (including each separate  Borrowing  resulting
from an election that applies to a portion of the Loans included in a Borrowing)
shall comply with the  requirements  set forth in Section 2.02, and (iii) if any
election applies to a portion of the Loans included in a Borrowing, such portion
shall be allocated  ratably among the Loans included in such  Borrowing.  If the
Borrower  shall not have  delivered a notice in accordance  with this  paragraph
prior to 11:00 a.m., New York City time, three Business Days before the last day
of the Interest  Period then in effect for any  Borrowing,  then,  except to the
extent that the Borrower is required to repay or elects to prepay such Borrowing
in accordance  with Section 2.04 or 2.10,  the Loans  included in such Borrowing
shall  be  converted  into or  continued  as ABR  Loans  on the last day of such
Interest Period then if effect.

                  SECTION 2.04.  Evidence of Debt;  Repayment of Loans.  (a) The
outstanding principal balance of each Revolving Loan and Swingline Loan shall be
payable on the Revolving  Credit  Maturity  Date.  Each Loan shall bear interest
from the date of the first  Borrowing  hereunder  on the  outstanding  principal
balance thereof as set forth in Section 2.06.

                  (b) Each Lender shall  maintain in  accordance  with its usual
practice  an account or  accounts  evidencing  the  indebtedness  to such Lender
resulting  from each Loan made by such Lender from time to time,  including  the
amounts of principal and interest payable and paid such Lender from time to time
under this Agreement.

                  (c) The Administrative  Agent shall maintain accounts in which
it will record (i) the amount of each Loan made hereunder, the Type of each Loan
made  and the  Interest  Period  applicable  thereto,  (ii)  the  amount  of any
principal  or interest  due and  payable or to become due and  payable  from the
Borrower to each Lender  hereunder  and (iii) the amount of any sum  received by



the  Administrative  Agent  hereunder  from the Borrower and each Lender's share
thereof.

                  (d) The entries  made in the accounts  maintained  pursuant to
paragraphs (b) and (c) of this Section 2.04 shall be prima facie evidence of the
existence  and amounts of the  obligations  therein  recorded,  absent  manifest
error;  provided,  however, that the failure of any Lender or the Administrative
Agent to maintain  such  accounts or any error  therein  shall not in any manner
affect the  obligations  of the Borrower to repay the Loans in  accordance  with
their terms.
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                  (e) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement,  in
the event any Lender shall request and receive a Note payable to such Lender and
its  registered  assigns,  the interests  represented  by that Note shall at all
times (including after any assignment of all or part of such interests  pursuant
to Section 9.04) be  represented by one or more Notes payable to the payee named
therein or its registered assigns.

                  SECTION  2.05.  Fees.  (a) The Borrower  agrees to pay to each
Lender,  through  the  Administrative  Agent,  on the last day of  March,  June,
September  and  December  in each year,  and on the date on which the  Revolving
Credit  Commitment  of such Lender shall be  terminated  as provided  herein,  a
commitment fee (a "Commitment Fee") equal to the Applicable Percentage per annum
on the average daily unused amount of the  Revolving  Credit  Commitment of such
Lender  during  the  preceding  quarter  (or other  period  commencing  with the
Effective Date or ending with the Revolving  Credit Maturity Date or the date on
which the Revolving Credit  Commitment of such Lender shall be terminated).  All
Commitment  Fees shall be  computed  on the basis of the  actual  number of days
elapsed in a year of 360 days.  The  Commit  ment Fee due to each  Lender  shall
commence to accrue on the  Effective  Date and shall cease to accrue on the date
on which the Revolving  Credit  Commitment of such Lender shall be terminated as
provided herein. For purposes of calculating Commitment Fees only, no portion of
the Revolving Credit  Commitments shall be deemed utilized under Section 2.14 as
a result of outstanding Swingline Loans.

                  (b) The Borrower  agrees to pay to the  Administrative  Agent,
for its own account,  the  administrative  fees separately agreed to between the
Borrower and the  Administrative  Agent at the time so agreed to be payable (the
"Administrative Agent Fees").

                  (c) The Borrower  agrees to pay (i) to each  Revolving  Credit
Lender,  through  the  Administrative  Agent,  on the last day of  March,  June,
September  and  December  of each  year and on the date on which  the  Revolving
Credit  Commitment of such Lender shall be terminated as provided  herein, a fee
(an "L/C  Participation  Fee") equal to the  Applicable  Percentage per annum on
such Lender's Pro Rata  Percentage  of the average daily  aggregate L/C Exposure
(excluding the portion thereof  attributable to unreimbursed L/C  Disbursements)
during the preceding  quarter (or shorter period  commencing  with the Effective
Date or  ending  with  the  later  of the date on  which  the  Revolving  Credit
Commitment of such Lender shall be terminated  and the date on which such Lender
ceases to have any L/C  Exposure)  and (ii) to the Issuing  Bank with respect to
each Letter of Credit, on the last day of March, June, September and December in
each year and on the date on which the L/C Commitment of such Issuing Bank shall
be terminated as provided herein, a fee equal to 0.125% per annum (or such other
rate as the  Borrower and such  Issuing  Bank may agree) on the  aggregate  face
amount of such Letter of Credit during the preceding  quarter (or shorter period
commencing with the date of issuance of such Letter of Credit or ending with the
expiration or  termination  such Letter of Credit) plus, in connection  with the
issuance,  amendment,  extension, renewal or transfer of any Letter of Credit or
any L/C  Disbursement,  the Issuing Bank's customary  documentary and processing
charges  (collectively,  the "Issuing Bank Fees"),  provided, in each case, that
any fees accruing after the Revolving  Credit  Maturity Date shall be payable on
demand.  All L/C  Participation  Fees and Issuing Bank Fees shall be computed on
the basis of the actual number of days elapsed in a year of 360 days.

                  (d) All fees  shall be paid on the dates due,  in  immediately
available  funds,  to  the  Administrative  Agent  for  distribution,  if and as
appropriate,  among the Lenders, except that the Issuing Bank Fees shall be paid
directly to the Issuing  Bank.  Once paid,  none of the fees shall be refundable
under any circumstances.

                  SECTION 2.06. Interest on Loans. (a) Subject to the provisions
of Section 2.07,  the Loans  comprising  each ABR Borrowing  shall bear interest
(computed  on the basis of the actual  number of days elapsed over a year of 365
or 366 days, as the case may be, when  determined by reference to the Prime Rate
and over a year of 360 days at all other times) at a rate per annum equal to the
Alternate Base Rate plus the Applicable Percentage.

                  (b)  Subject  to the  provisions  of Section  2.07,  the Loans
comprising each Eurodollar  Borrowing shall bear interest (computed on the basis
of the  actual  number  of days  elapsed  over a year of 360 days) at a rate per
annum equal to the Adjusted LIBO Rate for the Interest Period in effect for such



Borrowing plus the Applicable Percentage.

                  (c)  Interest  on each Loan shall be  payable on the  Interest
Payment  Dates  applicable  to such Loan  except as  otherwise  provided in this
Agreement.  The  applicable  Alternate  Base Rate or
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Adjusted LIBO Rate for each Interest Period or day within an Interest Period, as
the case may be,  shall be  determined  by the  Administrative  Agent,  and such
determination shall be conclusive absent manifest error.

                  SECTION 2.07. Default Interest.  If the Borrower shall default
in the payment of the  principal  of or interest on any Loan or any other amount
becoming due  hereunder,  by  acceleration  or otherwise,  the Borrower shall on
demand from time to time pay interest,  to the extent  permitted by law, on such
defaulted  amount up to (but not including) the date of actual payment (after as
well as  before  judg  ment) at a rate per annum  (computed  on the basis of the
actual  number of days  elapsed over a year of 360 days) equal to the sum of the
Alternate Base Rate plus the Applicable Percentage plus 2.00%.

                  SECTION 2.08. Alternate Rate of Interest. In the event, and on
each occasion,  that on the day two Business Days prior to the  commencement  of
any Interest Period for a Eurodollar  Borrowing the  Administrative  Agent shall
have  determined  that  Dollar  deposits  in the  principal  amount of the Loans
comprising  such Borrowing are not generally  available in the London  interbank
market,  or that the rates at which such Dollar  deposits are being offered will
not  adequately  and  fairly  reflect  the  cost  to any  Lender  of  making  or
maintaining its Eurodollar Loan during such Interest Period,  or that reasonable
means do not exist for ascertaining  the Adjusted LIBO Rate, the  Administrative
Agent shall, as soon as practicable thereafter,  give written or telecopy notice
of such determination to the Borrower and the Lenders.  In the event of any such
determination,  until the  Administrative  Agent shall have advised the Borrower
and the  Lenders  that the  circumstances  giving  rise to such notice no longer
exist,  any  request by the  Borrower  for a  Eurodollar  Borrowing  pursuant to
Section  2.03  shall  be  deemed  to be a  request  for an ABR  Borrowing.  Each
determination by the  Administrative  Agent hereunder shall be conclusive absent
manifest error.

                  SECTION 2.09.  Termination and Reduction of  Commitments.  (a)
The  Revolving  Credit  Commitments  and  the  Swingline   Commitment  shall  be
automatically terminated on the Revolving Credit Maturity Date.

                  (b) Upon at  least  three  Business  Days'  prior  irrevocable
telephonic  notice  (promptly  confirmed by hand delivery or telecopy notice) to
the  Administrative  Agent,  the Borrower  may at any time in whole  permanently
terminate, or from time to time in part permanently reduce, the Revolving Credit
Commitments  or the  Swingline  Commitment;  provided,  however,  that  (i) each
partial  reduction of the Revolving Credit  Commitments  shall be in an integral
multiple of $1,000,000 and in a minimum  principal amount of $1,000,000 and (ii)
the Total Revolving  Credit  Commitment shall not be terminated at any time that
there is any Revolving  Credit  Exposure,  nor reduced to an amount that is less
than the sum of the Aggregate Revolving Credit Exposure at the time.

                  (c)  Each  reduction  in  the  Revolving  Credit   Commitments
hereunder  shall be made  ratably  among the  Lenders in  accordance  with their
respective  Commitments.  The Borrower shall pay to the Administrative Agent for
the account of the Lenders,  on the date of each  termination or reduction,  the
Commitment  Fees on the  amount of the  Commitments  so  terminated  or  reduced
accrued to the date of such termination or reduction.

                  SECTION  2.10.  Prepayment.  (a) The  Borrower  shall have the
right at any time and from time to time to prepay any Borrowing,  in whole or in
part,  upon prior  telephonic  notice  (promptly  confirmed by hand  delivery or
telecopy  notice) to the  Administrative  Agent before 11:00 a.m., New York City
time, on the date three Business Days prior to the prepayment  date, in the case
of a Eurodollar Borrowing,  or one Business Day prior to the prepayment date, in
the case of an ABR Borrowing;  provided,  however,  that each partial prepayment
shall be in an amount  which is an integral  multiple  of $100,000  and not less
than $500,000.

                  (b) In the event of any  termination  of the Revolving  Credit
Commitments,  the Borrower shall repay or prepay all its  outstanding  Revolving
Credit Borrowings on the date of such  termination.  In the event of any partial
reduction  of the  Revolving  Credit  Commitments,  then  (i) at or prior to the
effective  date of such  reduction,  the  Administrative  Agent shall notify the
Borrower and the  Revolving  Credit  Lenders of the Aggregate  Revolving  Credit
Exposure and (ii) if the Aggregate  Revolving  Credit  Exposure would exceed the
Total Revolving Credit  Commitment  after giving effect to such reduction,  then
the Borrower  shall, on the date of such  reduction,  repay or prepay  Revolving
Credit  Borrowings or Swingline  Loans (or a  combination  thereof) in an amount
sufficient to eliminate such excess.



                  (c) Each notice of  prepayment  shall  specify the  prepayment
date and the  principal  amount of each  Borrowing  (or  portion  thereof) to be
prepaid,  shall be  irrevocable  and shall  commit the  Borrower  to prepay such
Borrowing  by  the  amount  stated  therein  on the  date  stated  therein.  All
prepayments
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under this Section 2.10 shall be subject to Section 2.13 but without  premium or
penalty.  All  prepayments  of Loans (other than ABR Loans  prepaid  pursuant to
paragraph (a) of this Section 2.10) under this Section 2.10 shall be accompanied
by  accrued  interest  on the  principal  amount  being  prepaid  to the date of
payment.

                  SECTION 2.11. Reserve  Requirements;  Change in Circumstances.
(a) If  after  the  date of this  Agreement  any  change  in  applicable  law or
regulation  or  in  the   interpretation  or   administration   thereof  by  any
Governmental Authority charged with the interpretation or administration thereof
(whether  or not having the force of law) shall  change the basis of taxation of
payments to any Lender or the Issuing  Bank of the  principal  of or interest on
any  Eurodollar  Loan made by such Lender or any fees or other  amounts  payable
hereunder  (other  than  changes in respect of taxes  imposed on the overall net
income of such  Lender or the  Issuing  Bank by the  jurisdiction  in which such
Lender  or the  Issuing  Bank  has  its  principal  office  or by any  political
subdivision  or  taxing  authority  therein),  or shall  impose,  modify or deem
applicable any reserve,  special deposit or similar  requirement  against assets
of, deposits with or for the account of or credit extended by such Lender or the
Issuing  Bank  (except any such  reserve  requirement  which is reflected in the
Adjusted  LIBO Rate) or shall  impose on such Lender or the Issuing  Bank or the
London  interbank  market  any  other  condition  affecting  this  Agreement  or
Eurodollar  Loans made by such  Lender or any Letter of Credit or  participation
therein, and the result of any of the foregoing shall be to increase the cost to
such Lender or the Issuing Bank of making or maintaining  any Eurodollar Loan or
of issuing or  maintaining  any Letter of Credit or purchasing or  maintaining a
participation therein, or to reduce the amount of any sum received or receivable
by such Lender or the Issuing Bank hereunder (whether of principal,  interest or
otherwise)  by an  amount  deemed  by  such  Lender  or the  Issuing  Bank to be
material,  then the Borrower will pay to such Lender or the Issuing Bank, as the
case may be, upon demand such  additional  amount or amounts as will  compensate
such Lender or the Issuing Bank, as the case may be, for such  additional  costs
incurred or reduction suffered.

                  (b) If any Lender or the  Issuing  Bank shall have  determined
that the adoption after the date hereof of any law, rule, regulation,  agreement
or guideline regarding capital adequacy,  or any change after the date hereof in
any such law, rule, regulation,  agreement or guideline (whether such law, rule,
regulation, agreement or guideline has been adopted) or in the interpretation or
administration   thereof  by  any  Governmental   Authority   charged  with  the
interpretation  or administration  thereof,  or compliance by any Lender (or any
lending  office of such  Lender)  or the  Issuing  Bank or any  Lender's  or the
Issuing Bank's holding company with any request or directive  regarding  capital
adequacy (whether or not having the force of law) of any Governmental  Authority
has or would have the effect of reducing the rate of return on such  Lender's or
the Issuing  Bank's  capital or on the  capital of such  Lender's or the Issuing
Bank's holding company,  if any, as a consequence of this Agreement or the Loans
made or  participation  in Letters of Credit  purchased by such Lender  pursuant
hereto or the Letters of Credit issued by the Issuing Bank pursuant  hereto to a
level below that which such Lender or the Issuing  Bank or such  Lender's or the
Issuing Bank's holding  company could have achieved but for such  applicability,
adoption, change or compliance by an amount deemed by such Lender or the Issuing
Bank to be  material,  then  from  time to time the  Borrower  shall pay to such
Lender  or the  Issuing  Bank,  as the case may be,  such  additional  amount or
amounts as will  compensate  such Lender or the Issuing Bank or such Lender's or
the Issuing Bank's holding company for any such reduction  suffered.  Any Lender
or Issuing Bank may utilize  reasonable  averaging  and  attribution  methods in
determining any amount or amounts under this paragraph.

                  (c) A  certificate  of a Lender or the  Issuing  Bank  setting
forth the amount or amounts  necessary to compensate  such Lender or the Issuing
Bank or its holding company, as applicable, as specified in paragraph (a) or (b)
above shall be delivered to the Borrower,  shall set forth in reasonable  detail
the circumstances  giving rise to such certificate and the basis for calculation
of the amount or amounts for which  compensation is required,  shall  constitute
rebuttable  presumptive  evidence of such amount or amounts and, if not rebutted
within five Business Days,  shall be conclusive and binding.  The Borrower shall
pay  each  Lender  or the  Issuing  Bank  the  amount  shown  as due on any such
certificate delivered by it within 10 days after its receipt of the same.

                  (d) The  protection of this Section shall be available to each
Lender  and the  Issuing  Bank  regardless  of any  possible  contention  of the
invalidity or inapplicability of the law, rule, regulation, agreement, guideline
or other change or condition which shall have occurred or been imposed.

                  (e) Each  Lender or  Issuing  Bank will  promptly  notify  the



Borrower  and the  Administrative  Agent of any event of which it has  knowledge
that will entitle such Lender or Issuing Bank to  compensation  pursuant to this
Section  (any such event,  a  "Compensation  Event").  No Lender or Issuing Bank
shall be entitled  to  compensation  pursuant to this  Section in respect of any
Compensation Event for

                                      -16-

any period of time in excess of 365 days prior to such notice; provided that, if
a Compensation  Event by its terms is retroactive,  such 365-day period shall be
increased by the duration of the retroactive effect of such Compensation Event.

                  SECTION  2.12.  Change in Legality.  (a)  Notwithstanding  any
other  provision  herein,  if, after the date  hereof,  any change in any law or
regulation  or in the  interpretation  thereof  by any Gov  ernmental  Authority
charged with the administration or interpretation thereof shall make it unlawful
for any Lender to make or maintain any Eurodollar  Loan or to give effect to its
obligations as contemplated hereby with respect to any Eurodollar Loan, then, by
written notice to the Borrower and to the Administrative Agent:

                  (i) such Lender may  declare  that  Eurodollar  Loans will not
         thereafter (for the duration of such unlawfulness or  impracticability)
         be made by such Lender  hereunder,  whereupon such Lender will not make
         any  further   Eurodollar  Loans  and  any  request  for  a  Eurodollar
         Borrowing,  shall,  as to such Lender only,  be deemed a request for an
         ABR Loan unless such declaration  shall be subsequently  withdrawn (or,
         if a Loan to the  Borrower  cannot  be made for the  reasons  specified
         above, such request shall be deemed to have been withdrawn); and

                  (ii) such Lender may require that all  outstanding  Eurodollar
         Loans made by it be  converted  to ABR Loans,  in which  event all such
         Eurodollar Loans shall be  automatically  con verted to ABR Loans as of
         the effective date of such notice as provided in paragraph (b) below.

In the event any Lender shall  exercise its rights under (i) or (ii) above,  all
payments and prepayments of principal which would otherwise have been applied to
repay the  Eurodollar  Loans  that  would  have been made by such  Lender or the
converted  Eurodollar Loans of such Lender shall instead be applied to repay the
ABR Loans made by such Lender in lieu of, or resulting  from the  conversion of,
such Eurodollar Loans.

                  (b) For  purposes  of  this  Section  2.12,  a  notice  to the
Borrower by any Lender shall be effective as to each Eurodollar Loan, if lawful,
on the last day of the Interest Period  currently  applicable to such Eurodollar
Loan;  in all other cases such notice  shall be effective on the date of receipt
by the Borrower.

                  SECTION 2.13.  Indemnity.  The Borrower  shall  indemnify each
Lender  against any loss or expense  which such Lender may sustain or incur as a
consequence  of (a) any  event,  other  than a  default  by such  Lender  in the
performance  of its  obligations  hereunder,  which  results in (i) such  Lender
receiving or being  deemed to receive any amount on account of the  principal of
any Loan prior to the end of the Interest  Period in effect therefor or (ii) any
Eurodollar  Loan to be made,  continued  or  converted  by such Lender not being
made,  continued or converted  after notice thereof shall have been given by the
Borrower  hereunder  (any of the  events  referred  to in this  clause (a) being
called a  "Breakage  Event") or (b) any  default in the making of any payment or
prepayment  required to be made  hereunder.  In the case of any Breakage  Event,
such loss shall include an amount equal to the excess, as reasonably  determined
by such  Lender,  of (i) its cost of  obtaining  funds for the Loan which is the
subject of such  Breakage  Event for the period  from the date of such  Breakage
Event to the last day of the Interest Period in effect (or which would have been
in effect) for such Loan over (ii) the amount of interest  likely to be realized
by such Lender in  redeploying  the funds  released or not utilized by reason of
such Breakage Event for such period.  A certifi cate of any Lender setting forth
any amount or amounts which such Lender is entitled to receive  pursuant to this
Section shall be delivered to the Borrower, shall set forth in reasonable detail
the basis for such amount or amounts,  shall constitute  rebuttable  presumptive
evidence of such amount or amounts  and, if not  rebutted  within five  Business
Days, shall be conclusive and binding.

                  SECTION 2.14.  Pro Rata  Treatment.  Except as required  under
Section 2.12, each Borrowing, each reduction of the Revolving Credit Commitments
and each  change of any  Borrowing  to a  Borrowing  of  another  Type  shall be
allocated  pro rata  among the  Lenders  in  accordance  with  their  respective
Revolving Credit Commitments (or, if such Commitments shall have expired or been
terminated,  in  accordance  with  the  respective  principal  amounts  of their
outstanding  Revolving Loans) and each payment or prepayment of principal of any
Borrowing,  each payment of interest on the Loans and each payment of Commitment
Fees shall be allocated pro rata among the Lenders entitled thereto. Each Lender
agrees that in  computing  such  Lender's  portion of any  Borrowing  to be made
hereunder, the Administrative Agent may, in its discretion,  round each Lender's
percentage of such  Borrowing,  computed in accordance with Section 2.01, to the
next higher or lower whole Dollar amount.
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                  SECTION 2.15.  Sharing of Setoffs.  Each Lender agrees that if
it  shall,  through  the  exercise  of a  right  of  banker's  lien,  setoff  or
counterclaim  against  any Loan  Party,  or  pursuant  to a secured  claim under
Section 506 of Title 11 of the United States Code or other  security or interest
arising from, or in lieu of, such secured  claim,  received by such Lender under
any applicable bankruptcy,  insolvency or other similar law or otherwise,  or by
any other means,  obtain payment  (voluntary or  involuntary)  in respect of any
Loan or Loans or L/C  Disbursement  as a result  of which the  unpaid  principal
portion  of  its  Loans  and  participations  in  L/C  Disbursements   shall  be
proportionately  less  than  the  unpaid  principal  portion  of the  Loans  and
participations  in L/C  Disbursements  of any other  Lender,  it shall be deemed
simultaneously to have purchased from such other Lender at face value, and shall
promptly pay to such other Lender the purchase price for, a participation in the
Loans and L/C  Exposure  of such  other  Lender,  so that the  aggregate  unpaid
principal amount of the Loans and L/C Exposure and  participations  in Loans and
L/C  Exposure  held  by each  Lender  shall  be in the  same  proportion  to the
aggregate unpaid principal amount of all Loans and L/C Exposure then outstanding
as the principal  amount of its Loans and L/C Exposure prior to such exercise of
banker's lien, setoff or counterclaim or other event was to the principal amount
of all Loans and L/C  Exposure  outstanding  prior to such  exercise of banker's
lien,  setoff or counterclaim or other event;  provided,  however,  that, if any
such purchase or purchases or adjustments shall be made pursuant to this Section
and the payment giving rise thereto shall thereafter be recovered, such purchase
or purchases or  adjustments  shall be rescinded to the extent of such  recovery
and the purchase price or prices or adjustment  restored without  interest.  The
Borrower  expressly  consents to the foregoing  arrangements and agrees that any
Lender holding a participation in a Loan or L/C Disbursement deemed to have been
so  purchased  may  exercise  any and all  rights of  banker's  lien,  setoff or
counterclaim  with  respect to any and all moneys  owing by the Borrower to such
Lender by reason  thereof as fully as if such Lender had made a Loan directly to
the Borrower in the amount of such participation.

                  SECTION  2.16.  Payments.  (a) The  Borrower  shall  make each
payment  (including  principal  of or  interest  on any  Borrowing  or  any  L/C
Disbursement  or any fees or other  amounts)  hereunder and under any other Loan
Document not later than 12:00  (noon),  New York City time, on the date when due
in immediately  available funds.  Each such payment (other than (i) Issuing Bank
Fees,  which shall be paid directly to the Issuing Bank,  and (ii)  principal of
and interest on Swingline  Loans,  which shall be paid directly to the Swingline
Lender  except as otherwise  provided in Section  2.19(e))  shall be made to the
Administrative Agent at its offices at 270 Park Avenue, New York, New York. Each
such payment shall be made in Dollars.

                  (b) Whenever any payment  (including  principal of or interest
on any Borrowing or any fees or other amounts) hereunder or under any other Loan
Document  shall  become due, or otherwise  would  occur,  on a day that is not a
Business Day, such payment may be made on the next succeeding  Business Day, and
such  extension  of time shall in such case be  included in the  computation  of
interest or fees, if applicable.

                  SECTION 2.17.  Taxes. (a) Any and all payments by the Borrower
hereunder  and under any other Loan Document  shall be made, in accordance  with
Section 2.16, free and clear of and without deduction for any and all current or
future taxes,  levies,  imposts,  deductions,  charges or withholdings,  and all
liabilities  with respect  thereto,  excluding (i) income taxes and interest and
penalties  thereon imposed on the net income of the  Administrative  Agent,  any
Lender or the Issuing Bank (or any transferee or assignee  thereof,  including a
participation  holder (any such entity a "Transferee")) and (ii) franchise taxes
imposed on the net income of the Administrative Agent, any Lender or the Issuing
Bank (or Transferee),  in each case by the jurisdiction  under the laws of which
the  Administrative  Agent,  such Lender or the Issuing Bank (or  Transferee) is
organized or any  political  subdivision  thereof (all such  nonexcluded  taxes,
levies, imposts, deductions,  charges, withholdings and liabilities and interest
and penalties thereon,  collectively or individually,  being called "Taxes"). If
the Borrower shall be required to deduct any Taxes from or in respect of any sum
payable hereunder or under any other Loan Document to the Administrative  Agent,
any Lender or the Issuing Bank (or any Transferee), (i) the sum payable shall be
increased by the amount (an "additional  amount") necessary so that after making
all required  deductions  (including  deductions  applicable to additional  sums
payable under this Section 2.17) the  Administrative  Agent,  such Lender or the
Issuing Bank (or Transferee),  as the case may be, shall receive an amount equal
to the sum it would have  received had no such  deductions  been made,  (ii) the
Borrower  shall make such  deductions  and (iii) the Borrower shall pay the full
amount  deducted to the  relevant  Governmental  Authority  in  accordance  with
applicable law.

                  (b) In addition,  the  Borrower  agrees to pay to the relevant
Governmental  Authority in accordance  with applicable law any current or future
stamp or  documentary  taxes or any other excise or property  taxes,  charges or
similar  levies  (including,  mortgage  recording  taxes and  similar  fees) and
interest
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and  penalties  thereon that arise from any payment made  hereunder or under any
other Loan  Document  or from the  execution,  delivery or  registration  of, or
otherwise  with respect to, this  Agreement or any other Loan  Document  ("Other
Taxes").

                  (c) The Borrower will indemnify the Administrative Agent, each
Lender and the  Issuing  Bank (or  Transferee)  for the full amount of Taxes and
Other Taxes paid by the  Administrative  Agent,  such Lender or the Issuing Bank
(or  Transferee),  as the case may be, and any liability  (including  penalties,
interest  and  expenses  (including  reasonable  attorney's  fees and  expenses)
arising  therefrom or with respect  thereto,  whether or not such Taxes or Other
Taxes were correctly or legally asserted by the relevant Governmental Authority.
A  certificate  as to the amount of such  payment or  liability  prepared by the
Administrative  Agent,  a Lender or the  Issuing  Bank (or  Transferee),  or the
Administrative  Agent on its  behalf,  absent  manifest  error,  shall be final,
conclusive  and binding for all  purposes.  Such  indemnification  shall be made
within  30 days  after  the date the  Administrative  Agent,  any  Lender or the
Issuing Bank (or Transferee), as the case may be, makes written demand therefor.

                  (d) If the Administrative  Agent, a Lender or the Issuing Bank
(or Transferee)  shall become aware that it is entitled to claim a refund from a
Governmental  Authority  in respect  of Taxes or Other  Taxes as to which it has
been indemnified by the Borrower, or with respect to which the Borrower has paid
additional amounts,  pursuant to this Section 2.17, it shall promptly notify the
Borrower  of the  availability  of such refund  claim and shall,  within 30 days
after  receipt of a request by the Borrower,  make a claim to such  Governmental
Authority  for such  refund at the  Borrower's  expense.  If the  Administrative
Agent, a Lender or the Issuing Bank (or Transferee) receives a refund (including
pursuant  to a claim for refund  made  pursuant to the  preceding  sentence)  in
respect of any Taxes or Other Taxes as to which it has been  indemnified  by the
Borrower  or with  respect to which the  Borrower  has paid  additional  amounts
pursuant to this  Section  2.17,  it shall  within 30 days from the date of such
receipt  pay over  such  refund  to the  Borrower  (but  only to the  extent  of
indemnity  payments made, or additional amounts paid, by the Borrower under this
Section  2.17 with  respect  to the  Taxes or Other  Taxes  giving  rise to such
refund),  net of all  reasonable  and  necessary  out-of-pocket  expenses of the
Administrative  Agent,  such  Lender or the  Issuing  Bank (or  Transferee)  and
without  interest  (other  than  interest  paid  by  the  relevant  Governmental
Authority with respect to such refund);  provided,  however,  that the Borrower,
upon the request of the  Administrative  Agent,  such Lender or the Issuing Bank
(or  Transferee),  agrees to repay the amount  paid over to the  Borrower  (plus
penalties,  interest or other charges) to the Administrative  Agent, such Lender
or the Issuing Bank (or Transferee) in the event the Administrative  Agent, such
Lender or the Issuing Bank (or  Transferee)  is required to repay such refund to
such Governmental Authority.

                  (e) As soon as  practicable  after the date of any  payment of
Taxes or Other Taxes by the Borrower to the relevant Governmental Authority, the
Borrower will deliver to the Administrative Agent, at its address referred to in
Section  9.01,  the  original  or a certified  copy of a receipt  issued by such
Governmental Authority evidencing payment thereof.

                  (f) Without  prejudice to the survival of any other  agreement
contained herein, the agreements and obligations  contained in this Section 2.17
shall  survive the payment in full of the principal of and interest on all Loans
made hereunder,  the expiration or cancellation of all Letters of Credit and the
reimbursement of all draws thereunder.

                  (g) Each Lender (or  Transferee)  that is organized  under the
laws of a jurisdiction  other than the United  States,  any State thereof or the
District of Columbia (a "Non-U.S. Lender") shall deliver to the Borrower and the
Administrative Agent two copies of either United States Internal Revenue Service
Form 1001 or Form 4224, or, in the case of a Non-U.S.  Lender claiming exemption
from U.S.  Federal  withholding  tax under Section  871(h) or 881(c) of the Code
with respect to payments of "portfolio interest",  a Form W-8, or any subsequent
versions thereof or successors thereto (and, if such Non-U.S.  Lender delivers a
Form W-8, a certificate representing that such Non-U.S. Lender is not a bank for
purposes of Section 881(c) of the Code, is not a 10-percent  shareholder (within
the meaning of Section  871(h)(3)(B)  of the Code) of the  Borrower and is not a
controlled  foreign  corporation  related to the Borrower (within the meaning of
Section  864(d)(4) of the Code)),  properly  completed and duly executed by such
Non-U.S.  Lender  claiming  complete  exemption  from,  or reduced rate of, U.S.
Federal withholding tax on payments by the Borrower under this Agreement and the
other Loan Documents.  Such forms shall be delivered by each Non-U.S.  Lender on
or before the date it becomes a party to this  Agreement  (or,  in the case of a
Transferee  that  is  a  participation  holder,  on  or  before  the  date  such
participation holder becomes a Transferee  hereunder) and on or before the date,
if  any,  such  Non-U.S.   Lender  changes  its  applicable  lending  office  by
designating a different  lending office (a "New Lending  Office").  In addition,
each Non-U.S.  Lender shall deliver such forms promptly upon the obsolescence or
invalidity  of  any  form
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previously  delivered  by  such  Non-U.S.  Lender.   Notwithstanding  any  other
provision of this Section  2.17(g),  a Non-U.S.  Lender shall not be required to
deliver any form pursuant to this Section  2.17(g) that such Non-U.S.  Lender is
not legally able to deliver.

                  (h) The  Borrower  shall  not be  required  to  indemnify  any
Non-U.S.  Lender or to pay any  additional  amounts  to any  Non-U.S.  Lender in
respect of United States  Federal  withholding  tax pursuant to paragraph (a) or
(c) above to the extent that (i) the obligation to withhold amounts with respect
to United  States  Federal  withholding  tax  existed  on the date such Non U.S.
Lender became a party to this Agreement (or, in the case of a Transferee that is
a  participation  holder,  on  the  date  such  participation  holder  became  a
Transferee  hereunder) or, with respect to payments to a New Lending Office, the
date such Non-U.S.  Lender  designated such New Lending Office with respect to a
Loan ; provided,  however,  that this  paragraph  (h) shall not apply (x) to any
Transferee or New Lending Office that becomes a Transferee or New Lending Office
as a result of an assignment, participation, transfer or designation made at the
request  of the  Borrower  and  (y) to  the  extent  the  indemnity  payment  or
additional amounts any Transferee, or any Lender (or Transferee), acting through
a New  Lending  Office,  would be entitled  to receive  (without  regard to this
paragraph  (h)) do not exceed the indemnity  payment or additional  amounts that
the person making the assignment,  participation or transfer to such Transferee,
or Lender (or  Transferee)  making the  designation of such New Lending  Office,
would  have  been  entitled  to  receive  in the  absence  of  such  assignment,
participation,  transfer  or  designation  or (ii)  the  obligation  to pay such
additional  amounts  would not have  arisen but for a failure  by such  Non-U.S.
Lender to comply with the provisions of paragraph (g) above.

                  (i) Any Lender or Issuing  Bank (or  Transferee)  claiming any
indemnity  payment or additional  amounts payable  pursuant to this Section 2.17
shall use reasonable efforts (consistent with legal and regulatory restrictions)
to file any  certificate  or  document  reasonably  requested  in writing by the
Borrower or to change the  jurisdiction of its applicable  lending office if the
making of such a filing or change  would avoid the need for or reduce the amount
of any such indemnity  payment or additional  amounts that may thereafter accrue
and would not,  in the sole  determination  of such  Lender or Issuing  Bank (or
Transferee),  be  otherwise  disadvantageous  to such Lender or Issuing Bank (or
Transferee).

                  (j) Nothing  contained in this Section 2.17 shall  require any
Lender or the Issuing Bank (or any  Transferee) or the  Administrative  Agent to
make available any of its tax returns (or any other information that it deems to
be confidential or proprietary).

                  SECTION  2.18.   Assignment  of   Commitments   Under  Certain
Circumstances.  (a) In the event (i) any Lender or the Issuing  Bank  delivers a
certificate requesting compensation pursuant to Section 2.11, (ii) any Lender or
the  Issuing  Bank  delivers a notice  described  in  Section  2.12 or (iii) the
Borrower is required to pay any  additional  amount to any Lender or the Issuing
Bank or any Governmental  Authority on account of any Lender or the Issuing Bank
pursuant to Section 2.17, the Borrower may, at its sole expense and effort, upon
notice to such Lender or the Issuing Bank and the Administrative Agent,
 require  such  Lender or the  Issuing  Bank to  transfer  and  assign,  without
recourse  (in  accordance  with and  subject to the  restrictions  contained  in
Section 9.04), all of its interests, rights and obligations under this Agreement
to an assignee which shall assume such assigned  obligations (which assignee may
be another Lender,  if a Lender accepts such  assignment);  provided that (w) no
Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing,  (x) such assignment
shall not conflict  with any law,  rule or  regulation  or order of any court or
other Governmental  Authority having  jurisdiction,  (y) the Borrower shall have
received  the prior  written  consent of the  Administrative  Agent  (and,  if a
Revolving Credit Commitment is being assigned, of the Issuing Bank and Swingline
Lender),  which consent shall not unreasonably be withheld, and (z) the Borrower
or such assignee  shall have paid to the affected  Lender or the Issuing Bank in
immediately  available  funds an amount equal to the sum of the principal of and
interest  accrued  to the date of such  payment  on the  outstanding  Loans  and
participations  in L/C  Disbursements  and Swingline Loans of such Lender or the
Issuing  Bank plus all fees and other  amounts  accrued  for the account of such
Lender or the Issuing Bank  hereunder  (including any amounts under Section 2.11
and Section  2.13);  provided  further  that if prior to any such  transfer  and
assignment  the  circumstances  or event that  resulted in such  Lender's or the
Issuing Bank's claim for compensation under Section 2.11 or notice under Section
2.12 or the amounts paid  pursuant to Section 2.17, as the case may be, cease to
cause such Lender or the Issuing Bank to suffer increased costs or reductions in
amounts  received or receivable  or reduction in return on capital,  or cease to
have the  consequences  specified in Section 2.12, or cease to result in amounts
being  payable  under Section 2.17, as the case may be (including as a result of
any action  taken by such Lender or the Issuing Bank  pursuant to paragraph  (b)
below),  or if such  Lender or the  Issuing  Bank shall waive its right to claim
further  compensation  under  Section 2.11 in respect of such  circumstances  or
event or shall  withdraw its notice under  Section 2.12 or shall waive its right



to further  payments  under  Section  2.17 in
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respect of such  circumstances or event, as the case may be, then such Lender or
the Issuing Bank shall not  thereafter be required to make any such transfer and
assignment  hereunder.  In the case of any such  assignment  by an Issuing Bank,
such assignment  shall not affect the Issuing Bank's rights under this Agreement
in respect of any Letters of Credit issued by it that remain outstanding.

                  (b) If (i)  any  Lender  or the  Issuing  Bank  shall  request
compensation  under Section 2.11, (ii) any Lender or the Issuing Bank delivers a
notice  described  in Section  2.12 or (iii) the Borrower is required to pay any
additional  amount  to  any  Lender  or the  Issuing  Bank  or any  Governmental
Authority on account of any Lender or the Issuing Bank pursuant to Section 2.17,
then such Lender or the Issuing Bank shall  exercise  reasonable  efforts (which
shall not require such Lender or the Issuing Bank to incur an unreimbursed  loss
or unreimbursed  cost or expense or otherwise take any action  inconsistent with
its internal  policies or suffer any  disadvantage  or burden deemed by it to be
significant)  to assign its rights and delegate  and  transfer  its  obligations
hereunder to another of its offices,  branches or affiliates, if such assignment
would  reduce its claims for  compensation  under  Section  2.11 or enable it to
withdraw its notice  pursuant to Section 2.12 or would  reduce  amounts  payable
pursuant to Section 2.17, as the case may be, in the future. The Borrower hereby
agrees to pay all  reasonable  costs and expenses  incurred by any Lender or the
Issuing Bank in connection with any such assignment, delegation and transfer.

                  SECTION  2.19.  Swingline  Loans.  (a)  Swingline  Commitment.
Subject to the terms and  conditions  and relying upon the  representations  and
warranties  herein set forth,  the Swingline  Lender agrees to make loans to the
Borrower at any time and from time to time on and after the  Effective  Date and
until the earlier of the Revolving  Credit  Maturity Date and the termination of
the Revolving  Credit  Commitments  in accordance  with the terms hereof,  in an
aggregate  principal  amount at any time outstanding that will not result in (i)
the aggregate  principal  amount of all Swingline Loans exceeding  $3,000,000 in
the  aggregate or (ii) the Aggregate  Revolving  Credit  Exposure,  after giving
effect to any Swingline Loan,  exceeding the Total Revolving Credit  Commitment.
Each  Swingline  Loan  shall be in a  principal  amount  that is not  less  than
$100,000 and is an integral multiple of $50,000. The Swingline Commitment may be
terminated or reduced from time to time as provided herein. Within the foregoing
limits,  the Borrower may borrow,  pay or prepay and  reborrow  Swingline  Loans
hereunder  on and after the  Effective  Date and prior to the  Revolving  Credit
Maturity  Date,  subject  to the terms,  conditions  and  limitations  set forth
herein.

                  (b)   Swingline   Loans.   The   Borrower   shall  notify  the
Administrative  Agent by telephonic notice (promptly  confirmed by hand delivery
or telecopy notice) not later than 12:00 noon, New York City time, on the day of
a proposed  Swingline  Loan.  Such notice shall be delivered on a Business  Day,
shall be  irrevocable  and shall refer to this  Agreement  and shall specify the
requested  date  (which  shall be a Business  Day) and amount of such  Swingline
Loan. The Administrative  Agent will promptly advise the Swingline Lender of any
notice received from the Borrower  pursuant to this paragraph (b). The Swingline
Lender shall make each  Swingline  Loan  available to the Borrower by means of a
credit to the general deposit account of the Borrower with the Swingline  Lender
by 3:00 p.m. on the date such Swingline Loan is so requested to be made.

                  (c) Prepayment.  The Borrower shall have the right at any time
and from time to time to prepay any Swingline  Loan,  in whole or in part,  upon
giving  telephonic  notice  (promptly  confirmed  by hand  delivery  or telecopy
notice) to the  Swingline  Lender and to the  Administrative  Agent before 12:00
(noon),  New York City time on the date of prepayment at the Swingline  Lender's
address for notices specified on Schedule 2.01; provided,  however, that partial
prepayments  shall be in a  principal  amount  that is an  integral  multiple of
$50,000.  All principal  payments of Swingline Loans pursuant to Section 2.10(b)
shall be accompanied by accrued interest on the principal amount being repaid to
the date of payment.

                  (d) Interest.  Each  Swingline  Loan shall be an ABR Loan and,
subject to the  provisions of Section  2.07,  shall bear interest as provided in
Section 2.06(a).

                  (e) Participations. The Swingline Lender may by written notice
given to the Administrative Agent not later than 10:00 a.m., New York City time,
on  any  Business  Day  require  the   Revolving   Credit   Lenders  to  acquire
participations  in all or a portion of the  Swingline  Loans  outstanding.  Such
notice  shall  specify  the  aggregate  amount of  Swingline  Loans and  accrued
interest  thereon  in which  Revolving  Credit  Lenders  will  participate.  The
Administrative  Agent will, promptly upon receipt of such notice, give notice to
each Revolving  Credit Lender,  specifying in such notice such Lender's Pro Rata
Percentage of such  Swingline  Loan or Loans and accrued  interest  thereon.  In
consideration and in furtherance of the foregoing,  each Revolving Credit Lender
hereby absolutely and unconditionally agrees, upon receipt of notice as provided
above,  to pay to the  Administrative  Agent,  for the account of the
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Swingline  Lender,  such Revolving  Credit  Lender's Pro Rata Percentage of such
Swingline Loan or Loans and accrued interest thereon.  Each Lender  acknowledges
and agrees that its  obligation  to acquire  participations  in Swingline  Loans
pursuant  to this  paragraph  is  absolute  and  unconditional  and shall not be
affected  by  any   circumstance   whatsoever,   including  the  occurrence  and
continuance  of a Default  or an Event of  Default,  and that each such  payment
shall  be  made  without  any  offset,   abatement,   withholding  or  reduction
whatsoever. Each Lender shall comply with its obligation under this paragraph by
wire transfer of immediately  available funds, in the same manner as provided in
Section  2.02(c) with respect to Loans made by such Lender (and Section  2.02(c)
shall apply,  mutatis mutandis,  to the payment  obligations of the Lenders) and
the  Administrative  Agent shall promptly pay to the Swingline Lender amounts so
received by it from the  Lenders.  The  Administrative  Agent  shall  notify the
Borrower of any  participations  in any Swingline Loan acquired pursuant to this
paragraph and  thereafter  payments in respect of such  Swingline  Loan shall be
made to the  Administrative  Agent and not to the Swingline Lender.  Any amounts
received by the Swingline  Lender from the Borrower (or other party on behalf of
the  Borrower)  in respect of a Swingline  Loan after  receipt by the  Swingline
Lender of the  proceeds of a sale of  participations  therein  shall be promptly
remitted  to  the  Administrative  Agent;  any  such  amounts  received  by  the
Administrative  Agent shall be promptly remitted by the Administrative  Agent to
the Lenders that shall have made their  payments  pursuant to this paragraph and
to the  Swingline  Lender,  as their  interests  may  appear.  The  purchase  of
participations  in a Swingline Loan pursuant to this paragraph shall not relieve
the  Borrower  (or other party liable for  obligations  of the  Borrower) of its
default in respect of the payment thereof.

                  SECTION 2.20. Letters of Credit. (a) General. The Borrower may
request the issuance of a Letter of Credit,  in a form reasonably  acceptable to
the Administrative Agent and the Issuing Bank,  appropriately completed, for the
account of the  Borrower,  at any time and from time to time while the Revolving
Credit  Commitments  remain in effect.  This  Section  shall not be construed to
impose an obligation upon the Issuing Bank to issue any Letter of Credit that is
inconsistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

                  (b) Notice of Issuance, Amendment, Renewal, Extension; Certain
Conditions. In order to request the issuance of a Letter of Credit (or to amend,
renew or extend an existing  Letter of Credit),  the Borrower shall hand deliver
or telecopy to the Issuing  Bank and the  Administrative  Agent  (reasonably  in
advance of the requested  date of issuance,  amendment,  renewal or extension) a
notice  requesting the issuance of a Letter of Credit, or identifying the Letter
of Credit to be amended,  renewed or extended, the date of issuance,  amendment,
renewal  or  extension,  the date on which  such  Letter  of Credit is to expire
(which  shall  comply with  paragraph  (c) below),  the amount of such Letter of
Credit,  the  name  and  address  of the  beneficiary  thereof  and  such  other
information  as shall be necessary  to prepare such Letter of Credit.  Following
receipt of such  notice and prior to the  issuance  of the  requested  Letter of
Credit or the applicable  amendment,  renewal or extension,  the  Administrative
Agent  shall  notify  the  Borrower  and the  Issuing  Bank of the amount of the
Aggregate  Revolving  Credit  Exposure  after giving effect to (i) the issuance,
amendment,  renewal or extension of such Letter of Credit,  (ii) the issuance or
expiration  of any other  Letter of Credit  that is to be issued or will  expire
prior to the  requested  date of issuance of such Letter of Credit and (iii) the
borrowing  or repayment of any  Revolving  Credit Loans or Swingline  Loans that
(based upon notices delivered to the  Administrative  Agent by the Borrower) are
to be borrowed or repaid prior to the requested  date of issuance of such Letter
of Credit. A Letter of Credit shall be issued, amended, renewed or extended only
if, and upon issuance,  amendment, renewal or extension of each Letter of Credit
the Borrower shall be deemed to represent and warrant that,  after giving effect
to such issuance, amendment, renewal or extension (A) the L/C Exposure shall not
exceed  $25,000,000,  and (B) the Aggregate  Revolving Credit Exposure shall not
exceed the Total Revolving Credit Commitment. Promptly following the end of each
month, the Administrative  Agent shall notify the Lenders of the L/C Exposure as
of the end of such month.

                  (c) Expiration  Date. Each Letter of Credit shall expire at or
prior to the close of business on the date that is five  Business  Days prior to
the Revolving  Credit Maturity Date or, if such Letter of Credit is a commercial
letter of credit,  the  earlier of such date and date 180 days after the date of
issuance of such Letter of Credit.

                  (d) Participations.  By the issuance of a Letter of Credit and
without any further  action on the part of the Issuing Bank or the Lenders,  the
Issuing Bank hereby grants to each Lender,  and each such Lender hereby acquires
from the applicable Issuing Bank, a participation in such Letter of Credit equal
to such Lender's Pro Rata  Percentage of the  aggregate  amount  available to be
drawn under such Letter of Credit, effective upon the issuance of such Letter of
Credit. In consideration and in furtherance of the foregoing, each Lender hereby
absolutely and  unconditionally  agrees to pay to the Administrative  Agent, for
the account of the Issuing Bank,  such Lender's Pro Rata  Percentage of each L/C
Disbursement
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made by the Issuing Bank and not  reimbursed by the Borrower (or, if applicable,
another  party  pursuant  to its  obligations  under  any other  Loan  Document)
forthwith  on  the  date  due  as  provided  in  Section  2.02(f).  Each  Lender
acknowledges and agrees that its obligation to acquire  participations  pursuant
to this paragraph in respect of Letters of Credit is absolute and  unconditional
and  shall  not  be  affected  by any  circumstance  whatsoever,  including  the
occurrence and  continuance  of a Default or an Event of Default,  and that each
such  payment  shall be made  without  any  offset,  abatement,  withholding  or
reduction  whatsoever;  provided,  however,  that  the  foregoing  shall  not be
construed  to  impose  an   obligation  of  the  Lenders  to  reimburse  an  L/C
Disbursement  that the Borrower is not  required to  reimburse  due to the gross
negligence or wilful  misconduct of the Issuing Bank  (determined as provided in
Section 2.20(f)).

                  (e)  Reimbursement.  If the  Issuing  Bank  shall make any L/C
Disbursement in respect of a Letter of Credit, the Borrower shall reimburse such
L/C  Disbursement  by  paying an amount  equal to such L/C  Disbursement  to the
Administrative  Agent  not  later  than  12:00  (noon) on the date that such L/C
Disbursement  is made or, if the Borrower shall have received notice of such L/C
Disbursement  later than 10:00 a.m.,  New York City time,  on the date that such
L/C  Disbursement  is made, not later than 12:00 (noon),  New York City time, on
the immediately  following  Business Day; provided that the Borrower may, to the
extent that such L/C  Disbursement  is not less than $500,000 and is an integral
multiple of $100,000 and subject to the  conditions  to  Borrowing  set forth in
Section 4.01, request by notice to the  Administrative  Agent not later than the
time that payment  would be required as aforesaid  that such payment be financed
with ABR Loans as  contemplated  by Section  2.02(f)  and,  to the  extent  such
payment is so financed with ABR Loans in accordance with Section  2.02(f),  such
payment  shall not be required  to be made by the  Borrower  under this  Section
2.20(e).

                  (f)  Obligations  Absolute.   The  Borrower's  obligations  to
reimburse  L/C  Disbursements  as  provided  in  paragraph  (e)  above  shall be
absolute,  unconditional  and  irrevocable,  and shall be performed  strictly in
accordance  with the terms of this  Agreement,  under any and all  circumstances
whatsoever, and irrespective of:

                  (i) any lack of  validity or  enforceability  of any Letter of
         Credit or any Loan Document, or any term or provision therein;

                  (ii) any  amendment or waiver of or  any consent  to departure
         from all or  any of the  provisions of any Letter of Credit or any Loan
         Document;

                  (iii) the  existence  of any claim,  setoff,  defense or other
         right that the  Borrower,  any other party  guaranteeing,  or otherwise
         obligated with, the Borrower, any Subsidiary or other Affiliate thereof
         or any other person may at any time have against the beneficiary  under
         any Letter of Credit, the Issuing Bank, the Administrative Agent or any
         Lender or any other person,  whether in connection with this Agreement,
         any other Loan Document or any other related or unrelated  agreement or
         transaction;

                  (iv) any draft or other document  presented  under a Letter of
         Credit proving to be forged, fraudulent, invalid or insufficient in any
         respect or any  statement  therein  being untrue or  inaccurate  in any
         respect;

                  (v)  payment  by the  Issuing  Bank  under a Letter  of Credit
         against  presentation of a draft or other document that does not comply
         with the terms of such Letter of Credit; and

                  (vi) any other act or  omission to act or delay of any kind of
         the Issuing Bank, the Lenders,  the  Administrative  Agent or any other
         person or any other event or  circumstance  whatsoever,  whether or not
         similar to any of the foregoing,  that might, but for the provisions of
         this  Section,  constitute  a  legal  or  equitable  discharge  of  the
         Borrower's obligations hereunder;

provided that the foregoing  shall not be construed to impose an obligation upon
the  Borrower  to  reimburse  the Issuing  Bank to the extent  that  neither the
Borrower nor any Subsidiary received any benefit from such L/C Disbursement as a
direct result of the Issuing  Bank's gross  negligence  or wilful  misconduct in
determining  whether  drafts  and other  documents  presented  under a Letter of
Credit comply with the terms thereof; it is understood that the Issuing Bank may
accept  documents that are on their face in order,  without  responsibility  for
further  investigation,  regardless of any notice or information to the contrary
and,  in making any payment  under any Letter of Credit (A) the  Issuing  Bank's
exclusive reliance on the documents  presented to it under such Letter of Credit
as to any and all matters set forth therein, including reliance on the amount of
any draft presented  under such Letter of Credit,  whether or not the amount due
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beneficiary  thereunder  equals the amount of such draft and  whether or not any
document  presented  pursuant to such Letter of Credit proves to be insufficient
in any respect, if such document on its face appears to be in order, and whether
or not any other  statement  or any other  document  presented  pursuant to such
Letter of Credit proves to be forged or invalid or any statement  therein proves
to be inaccurate or untrue in any respect  whatsoever and (B) any  noncompliance
in any immaterial respect of the documents presented under such Letter of Credit
with the terms thereof shall,  in each case, be deemed not to constitute  wilful
misconduct or gross negligence of the Issuing Bank.

                  (g) Disbursement Procedures.  The Issuing Bank shall, promptly
following its receipt thereof,  examine all documents  purporting to represent a
demand for payment under a Letter of Credit.  The Issuing Bank shall as promptly
as  possible  give  telephonic  notification,  confirmed  by  telecopy,  to  the
Administrative Agent and the Borrower of such demand for payment and whether the
Issuing Bank has made or will make an L/C Disbursement thereunder; provided that
any  failure  to give or delay in  giving  such  notice  shall not  relieve  the
Borrower of its  obligation  to reimburse  the Issuing Bank and the Lenders with
respect to any such L/C Disbursement.  The  Administrative  Agent shall promptly
give each Lender notice thereof.

                  (h) Interim  Interest.  If the Issuing Bank shall make any L/C
Disbursement in respect of a Letter of Credit,  then,  unless the Borrower shall
reimburse such L/C  Disbursement  in full not later than 12:00 (noon),  New York
City time,  on the date that such L/C  Disbursement  is made,  the unpaid amount
thereof  shall bear  interest,  for each day from and including the date of such
L/C  Disbursement  to but excluding  the date of payment at the  Alternate  Base
Rate;  provided that to the extent that such L/C  Disbursement is not reimbursed
by the Borrower prior to 12:00 (noon),  New York City time on the third Business
Day after the date such L/C  Disbursement  is made and is not financed  with ABR
Loans in  accordance  with Section  2.02(f),  then such unpaid amount shall bear
interest from and including such third Business Day to but excluding the date of
payment as provided in Section 2.07.

                  (i)  Resignation  or Removal of the Issuing Bank.  The Issuing
Bank may  resign at any time by giving  180 days'  prior  written  notice to the
Administrative  Agent,  the Lenders and the Borrower,  and may be removed at any
time by the Borrower by notice to the Issuing Bank, the Administrative Agent and
the Lenders. Subject to the last sentence of this paragraph, upon the acceptance
of any  appointment as the Issuing Bank  hereunder by a successor  Issuing Bank,
such successor shall succeed to and become vested with all the interests, rights
and obligations of the retiring Issuing Bank and the retiring Issuing Bank shall
be  discharged  from its  obligations  to issue  additional  Letters  of  Credit
hereunder.  At the time such removal or resignation shall become effective,  the
Borrower  shall pay all accrued and unpaid  Issuing Bank Fees. The acceptance of
any  appointment  as the Issuing Bank  hereunder by a successor  Lender shall be
evidenced by an agreement entered into by such successor, in a form satisfactory
to the Borrower and the Administrative  Agent, and, from and after the effective
date of such agreement,  (i) such successor Lender shall have all the rights and
obligations of the previous Issuing Bank under this Agreement and the other Loan
Documents and (ii) references herein and in the other Loan Documents to the term
"Issuing  Bank" shall be deemed to refer to such  successor  or to any  previous
Issuing  Bank,  or to such  successor  and all previous  Issuing  Banks,  as the
context  shall  require.  After the  resignation  or removal of the Issuing Bank
hereunder,  the  retiring  Issuing  Bank shall  remain a party  hereto and shall
continue to have all the rights and  obligations  of an Issuing  Bank under this
Agreement and the other Loan  Documents with respect to Letters of Credit issued
by it prior to such  resignation or removal,  but shall not be required to issue
additional Letters of Credit.

                  (j) Cash  Collateralization.  If any  Event of  Default  shall
occur and be  continuing,  the Borrower  shall,  on the Business Day it receives
notice from the  Administrative  Agent or the Required  Lenders  thereof and the
amount to be deposited, deposit in an account with the Administrative Agent, for
the benefit of the Revolving Credit Lenders,  an amount in cash equal to the L/C
Exposure as of such date. Such deposit shall be held by the Administrative Agent
as  collateral  for  the  payment  and  performance  of  the  Obligations.   The
Administrative  Agent shall have exclusive  dominion and control,  including the
exclusive right of withdrawal, over such account. Other than any interest earned
on the investment of such deposits in Cash Equivalents,  which investments shall
be made at the option and sole  discretion  of the  Administrative  Agent,  such
deposits  shall  not  bear  interest.  Interest  or  profits,  if  any,  on such
investments  shall accumulate in such account.  Moneys in such account shall (i)
automatically  be applied by the  Administrative  Agent to reimburse the Issuing
Bank for L/C  Disbursements  for which it has not been reimbursed,  (ii) be held
for the  satisfaction of the  reimbursement  obligations of the Borrower for the
L/C  Exposure  at such  time and  (iii) if the  maturity  of the  Loans has been
accelerated,  be applied to satisfy the Obligations. If the Borrower is required
to provide an amount of cash collateral  hereunder as a result of the
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occurrence  of an Event of  Default,  such  amount (to the extent not applied as
aforesaid)  shall be returned to the Borrower  within three  Business Days after
all Events of Default have been cured or waived.

                  (k) Additional  Issuing  Banks.  The Borrower may, at any time
and from  time to time  with the  consent  of the  Administrative  Agent  (which
consent shall not be  unreasonably  withheld) and such Lender,  designate one or
more  additional  Lenders  to act as an  issuing  bank  under  the terms of this
Agreement.  Any Lender  designated as an issuing bank pursuant to this paragraph
(k) shall be deemed to be an "Issuing  Bank" (in  addition to being a Lender) in
respect of Letters of Credit  issued or to be issued by such Lender,  and,  with
respect to any Letter of Credit, such term shall thereafter apply to the Issuing
Bank that shall have issued such Letter of Credit.

                  (l) Existing Letters of Credit. All Existing Letters of Credit
shall be deemed to be Letters of Credit  issued  under this  Agreement as of the
Effective  Date and shall  constitute  Letters of Credit for all purposes of the
Loan Documents.

ARTICLE III.  REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

                  Each of Holdings and the Borrower  represents  and warrants to
each of the Lenders that:

                   SECTION 3.01. Organization;  Powers. Each of Holdings and the
Borrower and each of the Subsidiaries (other than the Excluded Subsidiaries) (a)
is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the
laws of the  jurisdiction of its  organization,  (b) has all requisite power and
authority  to own its  property  and assets and to carry on its  business as now
conducted  and as proposed to be  conducted,  (c) is qualified to do business in
every  jurisdiction  where such  qualification  is  required,  except  where the
failure so to qualify  could not  reasonably be expected to result in a Material
Adverse  Effect,  and (d) has the  corporate  power and  authority  to  execute,
deliver and perform its  obligations  under each of the Loan  Documents and each
other agreement or instrument  contemplated  thereby to which it is or will be a
party and, in the case of the Borrower, to borrow hereunder.

                  SECTION  3.02.  Authorization.  The  execution,  delivery  and
performance  by each Loan Party of each of the Loan  Documents to which it is or
will be a party  and,  in the case of the  Borrower,  the  borrowings  hereunder
(collectively,  the  "Transactions")  (a)  have  been  duly  authorized  by  all
requisite  corporate and, if required,  stockholder  action and (b) will not (i)
violate  (A) any  provision  of law,  statute,  rule  or  regulation,  or of the
certificate  or articles of  incorporation  or other  constitutive  documents or
by-laws  of  Holdings,  the  Borrower  or any  Subsidiary,  (B) any order of any
Governmental Authority or (C) any provision of any indenture, agreement or other
instrument to which  Holdings,  the Borrower or any  Subsidiary is a party or by
which  any of them  or any of  their  property  is or may be  bound,  (ii) be in
conflict  with,  result in a breach of or  constitute  (alone or with  notice or
lapse of time or both) a default  under any such  indenture,  agreement or other
instrument  or (iii)  result in the creation or  imposition  of any Lien upon or
with  respect to any  property  or assets  now owned or  hereafter  acquired  by
Holdings, the Borrower or any Subsidiary.

                  SECTION  3.03.  Enforceability.  This  Agreement has been duly
executed and  delivered by Holdings and the Borrower and  constitutes,  and each
other Loan Document when executed and delivered by each Loan Party party thereto
will  constitute,  a legal,  valid and binding  obligation  of Holdings  and the
Borrower and such Loan Party  enforceable  against Holdings and the Borrower and
such Loan Party in accordance with its terms.

                  SECTION 3.04.  Governmental  Approvals.  No action, consent or
approval of, registration or filing with or any other action by any Governmental
Authority is or will be required in connection with the Transactions, except for
such as have been made or obtained and are in full force and effect.

                  SECTION 3.05.  Financial  Statements.  Holdings has heretofore
furnished to the Lenders its  consolidated and  consolidating  balance sheet and
statement of operations and  consolidated  statement of cash flows as of and for
the fiscal year ended June 30, 1998, which consolidated  statements were audited
by and accompanied by the opinion of KPMG Peat Marwick LLP,  independent  public
accountants,  and its unaudited consolidated and consolidating balance sheet and
statement of operations and  consolidated  statement of cash flows as of and for
the nine month period ended March 31, 1999.  Such financial  state ments present
fairly the  financial  condition  and  results of  operations  and cash flows of
Holdings  and its  consolidated  subsidiaries  as of  such  dates  and for  such
periods.  Each such balance  sheet and the notes
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thereto disclose all material liabilities,  direct or contingent, of Holdings on
a  consolidated  basis as of the date thereof.  Such financial  statements  were
prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis.

                  SECTION 3.06. No Material  Adverse  Change.  There has been no
material  adverse  change in the  business,  assets,  operations,  prospects  or
condition,  financial or otherwise, of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries,  taken
as a whole, since June 30, 1998.

                  SECTION 3.07.  Title to Properties;  Possession  Under Leases.
(a) Each of Holdings, the Borrower and the Subsidiaries (other than the Excluded
Subsidiaries) has good and marketable title to, or valid leasehold interests in,
all its material  properties and assets,  except for minor defects in title that
do not interfere with its ability to conduct its business as currently conducted
or to utilize such properties and assets for their intended  purposes.  All such
material  properties  and assets  are free and clear of Liens,  other than Liens
expressly permitted by Section 6.02.

                  (b) Each of Holdings, the Borrower and the Subsidiaries (other
than the Excluded  Subsidiaries)  has complied  with all  obligations  under all
material  leases to which it is a party as a lessee  and all such  leases are in
full force and effect.  Each of  Holdings,  the  Borrower  and the  Subsidiaries
(other  than  the  Excluded   Subsidiaries)   enjoys  peaceful  and  undisturbed
possession under all such material leases.

                  SECTION 3.08. Subsidiaries. Schedule 3.08 sets forth as of the
Effective  Date a list of all  Subsidiaries  of the Borrower and the  percentage
ownership interest of the Borrower therein. Each Subsidiary that is an "Excluded
Subsidiary"  satisfies the  conditions  set forth in the  definition of the term
"Excluded Subsidiary".

                  SECTION 3.09. Litigation;  Compliance with Laws. (a) Except as
set forth in Schedule 3.09,  there are not any actions,  suits or proceedings at
law or in equity or by or before any  Governmental  Authority now pending or, to
the  knowledge  of Holdings or the  Borrower,  threatened  against or  affecting
Holdings or the Borrower or any  Subsidiary or any business,  property or rights
of any such person (i) which  involve any Loan Document or the  Transactions  or
(ii) as to which there is a reasonable  possibility of an adverse  determination
and which,  if adversely  determined,  could,  individually or in the aggregate,
result in a Material Adverse Effect.

                  (b) None of Holdings,  the Borrower or any of the Subsidiaries
or any of their respective material properties or assets is in violation of, nor
will the  continued  operation  of  their  material  properties  and  assets  as
currently conducted violate, any law, rule or regulation  (including any zoning,
building,  Environmental  and Safety  Law,  ordinance,  code or  approval or any
building  permits),  or is in  default  with  respect  to  any  judgment,  writ,
injunction or decree of any Governmental  Authority,  except any such violations
or defaults  that,  individually  or in the  aggregate,  could not reasonably be
expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

                   SECTION  3.10.  Agreements.    (a)  None  of   Holdings,  the
Borrower or any of the Subsidiaries is a party to any agreement or instrument or
subject to any corporate  restriction  that has resulted or could  reasonably be
anticipated to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

                  (b) None of Holdings,  the Borrower or any of the Subsidiaries
is in  default in any  manner  under any  provision  of any  indenture  or other
agreement or instrument evidencing Indebtedness, or any other material agreement
or instrument to which it is a party or by which it or any of its  properties or
assets are or may be bound,  where such default could  reasonably be anticipated
to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

                  SECTION 3.11.  Federal  Reserve  Regulations.   (a)  None  of
Holdings, the Borrower or any of the Subsidiaries is engaged principally,  or as
one of its  important  activities,  in the business of extending  credit for the
purpose of purchasing or carrying Margin Stock.

                  (b) No part of the proceeds of any Loan will be used,  whether
directly or indirectly, and whether immediately, incidentally or ultimately, (i)
to purchase or carry Margin Stock or to extend  credit to others for the purpose
of  purchasing  or carrying  Margin Stock or to refund  indebtedness  originally
incurred for such purpose, or (ii) for any purpose which entails a violation of,
or which is  inconsistent  with, the provisions of the Regulations of the Board,
including Regulation T, U or X.
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                  SECTION 3.12.  Investment  Company Act; Public Utility Holding
Company  Act.  None  of  Holdings,  the  Borrower  or any  Subsidiary  is (a) an
"investment  company"  as  defined  in, or  subject  to  regulation  under,  the
Investment  Company  Act of 1940 or (b) a "holding  company"  as defined  in, or
subject to regulation under, the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935.



                  SECTION  3.13.  Use of  Proceeds.  The  Borrower  will use the
proceeds of the Loans and will  request  the  issuance of Letters of Credit only
for the purposes specified in Section 5.08 of this Agreement.

                  SECTION 3.14. Tax Returns. Each of Holdings,  the Borrower and
the  Subsidiaries  has filed or caused to be filed all Federal,  state and local
tax returns  required to have been filed by it and has paid or caused to be paid
all taxes due and payable by it and all assessments received by it, except taxes
that are being contested in good faith by appropriate  proceedings and for which
adequate reserves have been established in accordance with GAAP.

                  SECTION  3.15.  No  Material  Misstatements.  (a)  No  factual
information,   including  factual  information   contained  in  the  Information
Memorandum or in any report, financial statement, exhibit or schedule, furnished
by or on behalf of Holdings or the Borrower to the  Administrative  Agent or any
Lender in  connection  with the  negotiation  of any Loan  Document  or included
therein or delivered pursuant thereto (when considered as a whole with all other
factual information so furnished) contained, contains or will contain, as of the
date so furnished,  any material misstatement of fact or omitted,  omits or will
omit to state, as of the date so furnished,  any material fact necessary to make
the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were,
are or will be made, not misleading.

                  (b) All  financial  projections  furnished  by or on behalf of
Holdings or the Borrower to the Administrative Agent or any Lender in connection
with the negotiation of any Loan Document have been and will be prepared in good
faith  based upon  estimates  and  assumptions  believed  by  management  of the
Borrower  to be  reasonable  at the  time  of  preparation  thereof  (except  as
otherwise disclosed in writing therein), it being understood that projections as
to future  performance are not to be viewed as facts and that actual results may
differ from projected results and such differences may be material.

                  SECTION 3.16. Employee Benefit Plans. Each of the Borrower and
its  ERISA  Affiliates  is in  compliance  in all  material  respects  with  the
applicable  provisions of ERISA and the Code and the  regulations  and published
interpretations  thereunder.  No Reportable Event has occurred in respect of any
Plan of the Borrower or any ERISA  Affiliate.  The present  value of all benefit
liabilities  under each Plan (based on those assumptions used to fund such Plan)
did not, as of the last annual valuation date applicable thereto, exceed by more
than  $1,000,000  the value of the assets of such Plan, and the present value of
all benefit  liabilities of all  underfunded  Plans (based on those  assumptions
used to fund each such  Plan) did not,  as of the last  annual  valuation  dates
applicable  thereto,  exceed by more than  $5,000,000 the value of the assets of
all such  underfunded  Plans.  Neither the Borrower nor any ERISA  Affiliate has
incurred  any  Withdrawal   Liability  that  materially  adversely  affects  the
financial  condition of the Borrower and its ERISA  Affiliates taken as a whole.
Neither the Borrower nor any ERISA Affiliate has received any notification  that
any Multiemployer  Plan is in reorganization or has been terminated,  within the
meaning of Title IV of ERISA, and no Multiemployer  Plan is reasonably  expected
to be in  reorganization  or to be  terminated,  where  such  reorganization  or
termination  has resulted or can reasonably be expected to result in an increase
in the contributions  required to be made to such Plan that would materially and
adversely  affect  the  financial  condition  of  the  Borrower  and  its  ERISA
Affiliates taken as a whole.

                  SECTION 3.17.  Environmental  Matters.  Except as set forth in
Schedule 3.17:

                  (a) The soils and groundwater  beneath the properties owned or
operated by Holdings,  the Borrower and the Subsidiaries  (the  "Properties") do
not contain  any  Hazardous  Materials  in amounts or  concentrations  which (i)
constitute a violation of, or (ii) give rise to liability  under,  Environmental
Laws, which violations and  liabilities,  in the aggregate,  could reasonably be
anticipated to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

                  (b) The  Properties and all operations of the Borrower and the
Subsidiaries  are in  compliance,  and in the  last  three  years  have  been in
compliance,  with all Environmental Laws and all necessary Environmental Permits
have  been  obtained  and  are  in  effect,  except  to  the  extent  that  such
non-compliance  or failure to obtain any necessary  permits,  in the  aggregate,
could not reasonably be anticipated to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
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                  (c) There have been no Releases  or  threatened  Releases  at,
from,  under or proximate to the Properties or otherwise in connection  with the
operations  of the Borrower or the  Subsidiaries,  which  Releases or threatened
Releases,  in the  aggregate,  could  reasonably be  anticipated  to result in a
Material Adverse Effect.

                  (d) None of Holdings,  the Borrower or any of the Subsidiaries
has  received  any  notice  of an  Environmental  Claim in  connection  with the
Properties or the operations of the Borrower or the  Subsidiaries or with regard
to any person whose liabilities for environmental matters Holdings, the Borrower



or the Subsidiaries has retained or assumed, in whole or in part, contractually,
by operation of law or otherwise,  which, in the aggregate,  could reasonably be
anticipated  to  result in a  Material  Adverse  Effect,  nor do  Holdings,  the
Borrower or the Subsidiaries have reason to believe that any such notice will be
received or is being threatened.

                  SECTION  3.18.  Insurance.  Schedule  3.18 sets  forth a true,
complete and correct description of all insurance  maintained by the Borrower or
by the Borrower for its  Subsidiaries  as of the Effective Date. As of each such
date, such insurance is in full force and effect and all premiums have been duly
paid.  The  Borrower  and its  Subsidiaries  have  insurance in such amounts and
covering such risks and  liabilities as are in accordance  with normal  industry
practice.

                  SECTION 3.19. Labor Matters. There are no significant strikes,
lockouts,  slowdowns or other labor disputes against  Holdings,  the Borrower or
any of  its  Subsidiaries  pending  or,  to the  knowledge  of  Holdings  or the
Borrower,  threatened that could  reasonably be expected to,  individually or in
the aggregate,  have a Material Adverse Effect.  The hours worked by and payment
made to employees of Holdings,  the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries have not
been in  violation  of the Fair  Labor  Standards  Act or any  other  applicable
Federal,  state,  local or foreign law  dealing  with such  matters,  where such
violations  could reasonably be expected,  individually or in the aggregate,  to
result in a Material Adverse Effect.  The consummation of the Transactions  will
not give rise to a right of termination or right of renegotiation on the part of
any union under any  collective  bargaining  agreement  to which  Holdings,  the
Borrower  or any of its  Subsidiaries  is a  party  or by  which  Holdings,  the
Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries is bound.

                  SECTION 3.20. Patents,  Trademarks,  etc. Each of the Borrower
and  each  of its  Subsidiaries  owns,  or is  licensed  to  use,  all  patents,
trademarks, trade names, copyrights, technology, know-how and processes, service
marks and rights with respect to the foregoing that are (a) used in or necessary
for the conduct of their  respective  businesses as currently  conducted and (b)
material to the business, assets, operations, properties, prospects or condition
(financial or otherwise) of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries  taken as a whole.
The  use of such  patents,  trademarks,  trade  names,  copyrights,  technology,
know-how, processes and rights with respect to the foregoing by the Borrower and
its Subsidiaries does not infringe on the rights of any Person. Holdings and the
Excluded Subsidiaries do not own or license any such patents,  trademarks, trade
names, copyrights, technology, know-how or processes, service marks or rights.

                  SECTION 3.21. Year 2000. All reprogramming  required to permit
the proper  functioning,  in and  following  the year 2000,  of (a) the computer
systems  of the  Borrower  and the  Subsidiaries  and (b)  equipment  containing
embedded microchips  (including systems and equipment supplied by others or with
which the Borrower's or any  Subsidiary's  systems  interface)  that are, in the
case of (a) and (b), material to the business, assets,  operations,  properties,
prospects  or  condition  (financial  or  otherwise)  of the  Borrower  and  its
Subsidiaries,  taken  as a  whole,  and the  testing  of all  such  systems  and
equipment,  as  so  reprogrammed,  has  been  completed,  except  as  could  not
reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

ARTICLE IV.  CONDITIONS

                  SECTION  4.01.  All  Credit  Events.  The  obligations  of the
Lenders to make  Loans and of the  Issuing  Bank to issue  Letters of Credit are
subject  to the  satisfaction,  on the date of each  Borrowing,  including  each
Borrowing of a Swingline  Loan,  and on the date of each issuance of a Letter of
Credit (each such event, a "Credit Event"), of each of the following conditions:

                  (a) The  Administrative  Agent shall have received a notice of
         such  Borrowing  as  required  by  Section  2.03 or, in the case of the
         issuance of a Letter of Credit, the Issuing Bank and the Administrative
         Agent  shall have  received a notice  requesting  the  issuance of such
         Letter of Credit
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         as    required  by   Section   2.20(b)   or,  in  the   case   of   the
         Borrowing   of  a   Swingline  Loan,  the   Swingline  Lender  and  the
         Administrative  Agent  shall  have received  a notice  requesting  such
         Swingline Loan as required by Section 2.19(b).

                  (b) The  representations  and  warranties set forth in Article
         III hereof and in the other Loan Documents shall be true and correct in
         all material  respects on and as of the date of such Credit Event  with
         the  same  effect  as  though  made  on and as of such  date, except to
         the extent  such  representations  and  warranties expressly  relate to
         an earlier date.

                  (c) Each Loan Party shall be in compliance  with all the terms



         and  provisions set forth herein and in each other Loan Document on its
         part to be observed or  performed,  and at the time of and  immediately
         after such  Credit  Event,  no Event of  Default or Default  shall have
         occurred and be continuing.

Each Credit Event shall be deemed to constitute a representation and warranty by
the  Borrower on the date of such Credit  Event as to the matters  specified  in
paragraphs (b) and (c) of this Section 4.01.

                   SECTION 4.02.  Effectiveness.    The  effectiveness  of  this
Agreement and the  obligations of the Lenders and the Issuing Bank hereunder are
subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions:

                  (a) The Administrative Agent shall have received  counterparts
         of this  Agreement  signed on behalf of  Holdings,  the  Borrower,  the
         Issuing Bank and all the Lenders.

                  (b) The  Administrative  Agent shall have received a favorable
         written opinion (addressed to the Lenders and dated the Effective Date)
         of Roxanne Khazarian, Esq., counsel for the Loan Parties, substantially
         in the form of Exhibit B and covering  such other  matters  relating to
         the  Loan  Parties,  the  Loan  Documents  or the  Transactions  as the
         Required Lenders shall reasonably request. The Borrower hereby requests
         such counsel to deliver such opinion.

                  (c)  All  legal  matters  incident  to  this  Agreement,   the
         borrowings  and  extensions  of credit  hereunder  and the  other  Loan
         Documents  shall be  reasonably  satisfactory  to the  Lenders,  to the
         Issuing  Bank  and  to  Cravath,   Swaine  &  Moore,  counsel  for  the
         Administrative Agent.

                  (d)  The   Administrative   Agent  shall  have  received  such
         documents and certificates as the  Administrative  Agent or its counsel
         may reasonably request relating to the organization, existence and good
         standing of the Loan Parties, the authorization of the Transactions and
         any other legal matters relating to the Loan Parties, this Agreement or
         the  Transactions,  all  in  form  and  substance  satisfactory  to the
         Administrative Agent and its counsel.

                  (e)  The   Administrative   Agent   shall   have   received  a
         certificate,  dated the Effective Date and signed by the  President,  a
         Vice  President  or a  Financial  Officer of the  Borrower,  confirming
         compliance  with the  conditions set forth in paragraphs (b) and (c) of
         Section 4.01.

                  (f) The Administrative Agent shall have received all fees, and
         other  amounts  due and  payable  on or  prior to the  Effective  Date,
         including,  to the  extent  invoiced,  reimbursement  or payment of all
         out-of-pocket  expenses  required  to be  reimbursed  or  paid  by  the
         Borrower hereunder or under any other Loan Document.

                  (g) The  Administrative  Agent shall have  received  from each
         Loan Party a  counterpart  of each of the  Guarantee  Agreement and the
         Indemnity,  Subrogation  and  Contribution  Agreement duly executed and
         delivered on behalf of such Loan Party.

                  (h) All outstanding Loans, accrued and unpaid interest thereon
         and accrued and unpaid  fees  (other  than  Administrative  Agent Fees)
         under the  Existing  Credit  Agreement  shall be paid in full  (without
         prejudice  to the  Borrower's  right to  borrow  hereunder  in order to
         finance such  payment),  all Liens securing the  obligations  under the
         Existing Credit  Agreement shall have been released and all commitments
         under the Existing Credit Agreement shall have been terminated.

The  Administrative  Agent  shall  notify the  Borrower  and the  Lenders of the
Effective Date, and such notice shall be conclusive and binding. Notwithstanding
the foregoing,  the  obligations of the Lenders to make Loans and of the Issuing
Bank to issue Letters of Credit hereunder shall not become effective unless each
of the foregoing conditions is satisfied (or waived pursuant to Section 9.08) at
or prior to 5:00 p.m.,
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New York City time,  on August 31, 1999 (and, in the event such  conditions  are
not so satisfied or waived, the Commitments shall terminate at such time).

ARTICLE V.  AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS

                  Each of Holdings  and the Borrower  covenants  and agrees with
each Lender that so long as this Agreement  shall remain in effect and until the
Commitments have been terminated and the principal of and interest on each Loan,
all fees and all other expenses or amounts payable under any Loan Document shall
have been paid in full and all  Letters  of Credit  have been  canceled  or have



expired and all amounts drawn  thereunder have been  reimbursed in full,  unless
the Required  Lenders shall otherwise  consent in writing,  each of Holdings and
the Borrower will, and will cause each of the Subsidiaries to:

                  SECTION 5.01. Existence;  Businesses and Properties. (a) Do or
cause to be done all things necessary to preserve,  renew and keep in full force
and effect its legal existence,  except as otherwise  expressly  permitted under
Section  6.04 and  except  that  the  foregoing  shall  not  apply  to  Excluded
Subsidiaries.

                  (b) Do or cause to be done all things necessary to (i) obtain,
preserve,  renew, extend and keep in full force and effect the rights, licenses,
permits, franchises,  authorizations,  patents, copyrights, trademarks and trade
names  material to the conduct of its  business;  (ii) maintain and operate such
business in  substantially  the manner in which it is  presently  conducted  and
operated; (iii) comply in all material respects with all applicable laws, rules,
regulations and orders of any Governmental  Authority,  whether now in effect or
hereafter  enacted;  and (iv) at all times  maintain  and  preserve all property
material to the conduct of such  business and keep such property in good repair,
working order and condition and from time to time make, or cause to be made, all
needful and proper repairs, renewals,  additions,  improvements and replacements
thereto necessary in order that the business carried on in connection  therewith
may be properly conducted at all times; provided that (A) clauses (i), (ii), and
(iv) above shall not apply to Excluded Subsidiaries, (B) the foregoing shall not
prevent  any  transaction  expressly  permitted  under  Section  6.04,  (C)  the
foregoing  shall not  prevent  Holdings,  the  Borrower or any  Subsidiary  from
withdrawing its  qualification as a foreign  corporation in any jurisdiction and
(D) the  foregoing  clause (i) shall not prevent  Holdings,  the Borrower or any
Subsidiary  from  taking or  failing to take any  action  respecting  any right,
license, permit, franchise, authorization, patent, copyright, trademark or trade
name  determined  by it to be in the  best  interest  of the  Borrower  and  the
Subsidiaries;  provided further that the foregoing clauses (C) and (D) shall not
be construed to permit the taking of, or failure to take,  any action that could
reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

                  SECTION  5.02.   Insurance.   Keep  its  insurable  properties
adequately  insured at all times by  financially  sound and reputable  insurers;
maintain such other insurance,  to such extent and against such risks, including
fire and other risks insured against by extended coverage,  as is customary with
companies  in  the  same  or  similar  businesses,  including  public  liability
insurance  against  claims  for  personal  injury  or death or  property  damage
occurring upon, in, about or in connection with the use of any properties owned,
occupied  or  controlled  by it; and  maintain  such other  insurance  as may be
required by law.

                  SECTION 5.03.  Obligations and Taxes. Pay its Indebtedness and
other material  obliga tions promptly and in accordance with their terms and pay
and discharge promptly when due all taxes,  assessments and governmental charges
or levies  imposed  upon it or upon its  income or  profits or in respect of its
property,  before the same shall become delinquent or in default, as well as all
lawful claims for labor,  materials and supplies or otherwise  which, if unpaid,
might give rise to a Lien upon such  properties or any part  thereof;  provided,
however,  that such payment and discharge  shall not be required with respect to
any  such  obligation,  tax,  assessment,  charge,  levy or claim so long as the
validity  or amount  thereof  shall be  contested  in good faith by  appropriate
proceedings and the Borrower shall have set aside on its books adequate reserves
with respect  thereto and such  contest  operates to suspend  collection  of the
contested obligation, tax, assessment charge, levy or claim and enforcement of a
Lien.

                  SECTION 5.04.  Financial Statements, Reports, etc. In the case
of  Holdings  and the  Borrower,  furnish to the  Administrative  Agent and each
Lender:

                  (a)  within 95 days  after the end of each  fiscal  year,  its
         consolidated and consolidating  balance sheets and related consolidated
         and consolidating statements of operations and consoli dated statements
         of shareholders'  equity and cash flows showing the financial condition
         of Holdings and its  consolidated  subsidiaries as of the close of such
         fiscal year and the results of its
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          operations  and the  operations of such subsidiaries during such year,
          all  audited  (in the  case of  such  consolidated  and  consolidating
          statements)  by  any  "Big 5"  accounting  firm or  other  independent
          publi c  accountants  of   recognized  national  standing   reasonably
          acceptable to the Required  Lenders,  and accompanied by an opinion of
          such accountants (which shall not contain any "going concern" or other
          materially   adverse   qualification)   to   the  effect   that   such
          consolidated   financial   statements  fairly  present  the  financial
          condition  and  results of  operations  of  Holdings on a consolidated
          basis in accordance with GAAP consistently applied;



                  (b)  within 50 days  after the end of each of the first  three
         fiscal quarters of each fiscal year, its consolidated and consolidating
         balance sheets and related consolidated and consolidating statements of
         operations and consolidated statements of shareholders' equity and cash
         flows showing the financial  condition of Holdings and its consolidated
         subsidiaries  as of the close of such fiscal quarter and the results of
         its  operations  and the  operations of such  subsidiaries  during such
         fiscal  quarter and the then elapsed  portion of the fiscal  year,  all
         certified by one of its Finan cial  Officers as fairly  presenting  the
         financial  condition  and  results  of  operations  of  Holdings  on  a
         consolidated  basis  in  accordance  with  GAAP  consistently  applied,
         subject to the  absence of  footnotes  and  normal  year-end  reserves,
         accruals and audit adjustments;

                  (c)  concurrently  with any delivery of  financial  statements
         under (a) or (b)  above,  a  certificate  of a  Financial  Officer  (i)
         certifying that no Event of Default or Default has occurred or, if such
         an Event of Default or Default has occurred,  specifying the nature and
         extent thereof and any corrective  action taken or proposed to be taken
         with respect thereto and (ii) setting forth  computations in reasonable
         detail   satisfactory  to  the   Administrative   Agent   demonstrating
         compliance  with the  covenants  contained in Sections  6.06,  6.07 and
         6.08;

                  (d)  concurrently  with any delivery of  financial  statements
         under paragraph (a) above, a certificate of the accounting firm opining
         on such  statements  (which  certificate  may be limited to  accounting
         matters  and  disclaim   responsibility   for  legal   interpretations)
         certifying  (i) whether in connection  with its audit  examination  any
         Default  or Event of Default  has come to its  attention  and,  if such
         event has come to its attention, the nature and extent thereof and (ii)
         that based on its audit  examination and its review of the computations
         referred to in clause (ii) of paragraph (c) above,  nothing has come to
         its attention that leads it to believe that the  information  contained
         in the certificate  delivered therewith pursuant to paragraph (c) above
         is not correct; provided that the requirements of this clause (d) shall
         be subject to any limitations and qualifications adopted after the date
         hereof  by  any   professional   association  or  organization  or  any
         Governmental  Authority,  in each case that  affects the content of, or
         ability  of  accounting  firms  to  deliver,  certificates  of the type
         contemplated by this paragraph;

                  (e) promptly after the same become  publicly  available or are
         filed or distributed,  as applicable,  copies of all periodic and other
         reports,  proxy statements and other materials filed by Holdings or the
         Borrower or any Subsidiary with the Securities and Exchange Commission,
         or any Governmental Authority succeeding to any of or all the functions
         of said  Commission,  or with  any  national  securities  exchange,  or
         distributed to the holders of any Indebtedness  with a then outstanding
         principal  amount  of  $15,000,000  or more (or any  trustee,  agent or
         representative for any such holders) or to Holdings'  shareholders,  as
         the case may be;

                  (f) promptly  upon the  occurrence  of any change of rating of
         the Borrower's  senior,  unsecured,  noncredit  enhanced senior debt by
         Moody's or S&P, a certificate of a Financial  Officer setting forth the
         new rating,  the effective date thereof and, if  applicable,  notice of
         any change in the Applicable Percentage as a result thereof; and

                  (g)  promptly,  from  time to  time,  such  other  information
         regarding the operations,  business affairs and financial  condition of
         Holdings and the Borrower or any  Subsidiary,  or  compliance  with the
         terms of any Loan Document,  as the Administrative  Agent or any Lender
         may reasonably request.

                  SECTION 5.05.  Litigation and  Other Notices.  Furnish  to the
Administrative Agent and each Lender prompt written notice of the following:

                  (a) any Event of Default or Default, specifying the nature and
         extent thereof and the corrective  action (if any) proposed to be taken
         with respect thereto;
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                  (b) the filing or commencement  of, or any threat or notice of
         intention  of any  person  to file or  commence,  any  action,  suit or
         proceeding,   whether  at  law  or  in  equity  or  by  or  before  any
         Governmental  Authority,  against the Borrower or any Affiliate thereof
         which could  reasonably  be  expected  to result in a Material  Adverse
         Effect; and

                  (c) any  other  development  that has  resulted  in,  or could
         reasonably be expected to result in, a Material Adverse Effect.



                  SECTION 5.06.  Employee  Benefits.  (a) Comply in all material
respects with the applicable provisions of ERISA and the Code and (b) furnish to
the Administrative  Agent (i) as soon as possible after, and in any event within
30 days after any  Responsible  Officer of the  Borrower or any ERISA  Affiliate
knows or has reason to know that, any  Reportable  Event has occurred that alone
or together  with any other  Reportable  Event could  reasonably  be expected to
result in liability of the Borrower to the PBGC in an aggregate amount exceeding
$5,000,000,  a statement of a Financial Officer setting forth details as to such
Reportable Event and the action that the Borrower  proposes to take with respect
thereto,  together with a copy of the notice,  if any, of such Reportable  Event
given to the PBGC,  (ii) promptly  after receipt  thereof,  a copy of any notice
that the Borrower or any ERISA  Affiliate  may receive from the PBGC relating to
the  intention  of the PBGC to  terminate  any Plan or Plans  (other than a Plan
maintained by an ERISA  Affiliate  that is considered  an ERISA  Affiliate  only
pursuant to  subsection  (m) or (o) of Code Section 414) or to appoint a trustee
to administer any such Plan,  (iii) within 10 days after the due date for filing
with the PBGC pursuant to Section 412(n) of the Code a notice of failure to make
a required installment or other payment with respect to a Plan, a statement of a
Financial  Officer  setting forth details as to such failure and the action that
the Borrower proposes to take with respect thereto,  together with a copy of any
such notice given to the PBGC and (iv)  promptly and in any event within 30 days
after receipt thereof by the Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate from the sponsor of
a  Multiemployer  Plan,  a copy of each notice  received by the  Borrower or any
ERISA Affiliate  concerning (A) the imposition of Withdrawal  Liability or (B) a
determination  that a Multiemployer Plan is, or is expected to be, terminated or
in reorganization, both within the meaning of Title IV of ERISA.

                  SECTION 5.07.  Maintaining  Records;  Access to Properties and
Inspections.  Maintain all financial  records in accordance with GAAP and permit
any  representatives  designated by any Lender, upon reasonable prior notice, to
visit and inspect the  financial  records and the  properties  of Holdings,  the
Borrower or any Subsidiary at reasonable  times (during normal  business  hours)
and as often as requested and to make extracts from and copies of such financial
records, and permit any representatives  designated by any Lender to discuss the
affairs, finances and condition of Holdings, the Borrower or any Subsidiary with
the officers  thereof and independent  accountants  therefor;  provided that any
such visitation and inspection  rights shall be exercised in a reasonable manner
that  does  not  disrupt  the  business  activities  of  the  Borrower  and  its
Subsidiaries.

                  SECTION 5.08.  Use of Proceeds.  Use the proceeds of the Loans
and  request the  issuance  of Letters of Credit  only for (i)  working  capital
purposes of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries or (ii) general corporate purposes
(including all proper and legitimate  business purposes) of the Borrower and its
Subsidiaries.

                  SECTION 5.09.  Further  Assurances.  (a) Cause each Subsidiary
(including any Subsidiary that becomes a Subsidiary  after the date hereof,  but
excluding (i) any Foreign  Subsidiary so long as such Foreign Subsidiary has not
entered  into any  Guarantee  with  respect  to any  other  Indebtedness  of the
Borrower and (ii) any Excluded  Subsidiary  that has not ceased to qualify as an
"Excluded  Subsidiary")  to  undertake  the  obligations  of  and  to  become  a
Subsidiary  Guarantor  pursuant to the  Guarantee  Agreement  and a party to the
Indemnity,  Subrogation  and  Contribution  Agreement  pursuant  to one or  more
instruments   or   agreements   satisfactory   in  form  and  substance  to  the
Administrative Agent.

                  SECTION 5.10.  Environmental Matters. (a) Promptly give notice
to the  Administrative  Agent upon  becoming  aware of (i) any  violation of any
Environmental Law, (ii) any claim, inquiry,  proceeding,  investigation or other
action,  including  a  request  for  information  or a notice  of an  actual  or
threatened  Environmental  Claim or (iii) the  discovery  of the  Release of any
Hazardous Material at, on, under or from any of the properties owned or occupied
by the  Borrower  or  any  Subsidiary  in  excess  of  reportable  or  allowable
standards,  threshold  amounts or levels  under any  Environmental  Law, or in a
manner or amount that could  reasonably be expected to result in liability under
any Environmental Law.

                  (b) Upon  discovery of the  presence on any of the  properties
owned or occupied by the Borrower or any  Subsidiary of any  Hazardous  Material
that is in  violation  of, or that could  reasonably  be  expected  to result in
liability under, any Environmental Law, take all necessary steps to initiate and
expeditiously complete all Remedial Action to eliminate any such adverse effect,
and keep the  Administrative  Agent  informed  of such  actions  and the results
thereof.
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ARTICLE VI.  NEGATIVE COVENANTS

                  Until the  Commitments  have  expired  or  terminated  and the
principal  of and  interest  on each Loan,  all fees and all other  expenses  or
amounts  payable  under any Loan Document have been paid in full and all Letters
of Credit have been  cancelled or have expired and all amounts drawn  thereunder



have been  reimbursed  in full,  unless the  Required  Lenders  shall  otherwise
consent in writing, each of Holdings and the Borrower covenants and agrees that:

                  SECTION 6.01.  Indebtedness.  (a) The Borrower will not permit
any  Subsidiary to incur,  create,  assume or permit to exist any  Indebtedness,
except:

                  (i) intercompany   Indebtedness,  including   open   accounts,
         incurred by Subsidiaries from the Borrower or from other Subsidiaries;

                  (ii) unsecured Indebtedness in an aggregate principal amount
         at any  time  outstanding not  to exceed 10% of Consolidated Net Worth;
         and

                  (iii)  Indebtedness    consisting   of   Guarantees   of   the
Obligations.

                  (b) The Borrower will not incur,  create,  assume or permit to
exist any  Indebtedness in respect of letters of credit or bankers'  acceptances
other  than  (i)   Indebtedness  in  respect  of  Letters  of  Credit  and  (ii)
Indebtedness in respect thereof in an aggregate  principal  amount not to exceed
$10,000,000 at any one time outstanding.

                  SECTION 6.02.  Liens.  Neither Holdings nor the Borrower will,
nor will they permit any Subsidiary to, create, incur, assume or permit to exist
any Lien on any property or assets  (including  stock or other securities of any
person,  including any Subsidiary)  now owned or hereafter  acquired by it or on
any income or revenues or rights in respect of any thereof, except:

                  (a) Liens   on  property  or  assets  of  the Borrower and its
         Subsidiaries  existing on  the Effective Date and set forth in Schedule
         6.02;

                  (b) any Lien  existing  on any  property or asset prior to the
         acquisition  thereof by the Borrower or any  Subsidiary;  provided that
         (i) such Lien is not created in  contemplation of or in connection with
         such  acquisition,  and (ii)  such  Lien  does not  apply to any  other
         property or assets of the Borrower or any Subsidiary;

                  (c) Liens  for  taxes, assessments  or governmental charges or
         levies not  yet due or  which are  being contested  in  compliance with
         Section 5.03;

                  (d) Liens imposed by law that do not secure  Indebtedness  for
         borrowed  money and were  incurred in the ordinary  course of business,
         such   as   carriers',   warehousemen's,   mechanic's,   materialmen's,
         repairmen's  or other like  Liens  arising  in the  ordinary  course of
         business;  provided  that such Liens either (i) do not in the aggregate
         materially  detract  from the value of the  property or assets to which
         such Liens apply or materially  impair the use thereof in the operation
         of the business of Holdings,  the Borrower and the Subsidiaries or (ii)
         are being contested in compliance with Section 5.03;

                  (e)  Liens  upon   equipment,   machinery  or  real   property
         (including  improvements thereto and fixtures thereon),  assets subject
         to Capital  Lease  Obligations  and  assets  financed  with  industrial
         revenue  bonds;  provided that (i) such Liens only secure  Indebtedness
         incurred (A) to finance the acquisition of such equipment, machinery or
         real property, or the improvement of such real property, (B) in respect
         of Capital Lease  Obligations  or (C) in respect of industrial  revenue
         bonds,  (ii) such  Liens  (other  than  Liens  securing  Capital  Lease
         Obligations)  are incurred,  and the related  Indebtedness  is created,
         within 180 days after the  acquisition  or  construction  of the assets
         financed thereby and (iii) in each case, such Liens do not encumber any
         other assets or properties;
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                  (f)  leases  or  subleases   granted  to  other   persons  not
         materially interfering with the conduct of the business of the Borrower
         and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole;

                  (g)  easements,  licenses,  rights-of-way,   zoning  or  other
         restrictions,  encroachments and other similar charges or encumbrances,
         and minor title deficiencies, statutory and common law
         landlords' liens under leases to which Holdings, the Borrower or any of
         its Subsidiaries is a party, in each case not securing Indebtedness and
         not  materially  interfering  with  the  conduct  of  the  business  of
         Holdings, the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries;

                  (h) Liens  (other than any Lien imposed by ERISA) for worker's
         compensation,  unemployment  compensation and other forms of government
         insurance incurred in the ordinary course of business;

                  (i) Liens to secure  (i)  performance  of  tenders,  statutory



         obligations,  bids,  leases and contracts or other similar  obligations
         (other than for borrowed  money) entered into in the ordinary course of
         business or (ii)  obligations on surety or appeal bonds,  provided that
         the  obligations  secured by such Liens  (and,  to the extent  (without
         duplication)  the value of cash or  property  (other  than  Letters  of
         Credit)  forming a part of the security  with respect to such surety or
         appeal bonds  exceeds the  obligations  so secured,  the amount of such
         excess) do not exceed in the aggregate $5,000,000;

                  (j) Liens arising from  precautionary  Uniform Commercial Code
         financing   statement  filings  regarding  operating  leases  otherwise
         permitted hereunder;

                  (k) any  interest  or title of a lessor  under  any  operating
         lease of property to, or of any consignor of goods consigned to, or any
         creditor of any consignee in goods  consigned to such consignee by, the
         Borrower  or any of its  Subsidiaries,  in each  case  in the  ordinary
         course of business;

                  (l) Liens arising out of judgments or awards,  which have been
         in existence for less than 45 days from the date of creation thereof or
         which have been  stayed or bonded  pending  appeal or fully  covered by
         insurance  (subject  to  applicable   deductibles)  and  for  which  no
         enforcement  action has been  commenced,  provided  that the  aggregate
         amount of all such  judgments  or awards (and,  to the extent  (without
         duplication)  the value of cash or  property  (other  than  Letters  of
         Credit) forming a part of the security with respect to such judgment or
         award exceeds the  obligations  so secured,  the amount of such excess)
         does not exceed $5,000,000 at any time outstanding; and

                  (m)  Liens  securing  obligations  under  any Rate  Protection
         Agreement  consisting  solely of an assignment of the Borrower's rights
         under such Rate Protection Agreement.

                  SECTION 6.03. Certain  Acquisitions.  Neither Holdings nor the
Borrower  will,  nor will they  permit any  Subsidiary  to,  purchase,  lease or
otherwise  acquire (in one transaction or a series of related  transactions) any
property or assets outside the ordinary course of business,  except acquisitions
by the Borrower of the capital  stock of a Person (the  "Issuer") or of property
or assets  outside  the  ordinary  course  of  business,  provided  that (i) the
aggregate  consideration  paid in connection with all such acquisitions does not
exceed  $450,000,000;  (ii) the Issuer  shall be engaged in, or the property and
assets acquired shall be used in connection with, the same or related (ancillary
or  complementary)  line  of  business  as the  Borrower;  (iii)  all  necessary
governmental  approvals and third party consents for the  acquisition  have been
obtained without imposing burdensome conditions, all appeal periods have expired
and there shall be no  governmental or judicial  action,  pending or threatened,
restraining or imposing  burdensome  conditions on such acquisition;  (iv) after
giving  effect to the  acquisition,  and on a pro  forma  basis  (including  the
financial  results of the  Borrower and the  Subsidiaries  and the Issuer or the
property  and  assets to be  acquired,  as the case may be, and giving pro forma
effect to any  Indebtedness to be incurred in connection with such  acquisition)
for the period of four consecutive  fiscal quarters ending  immediately prior to
such  acquisition,  no Event of Default or Default  shall have  occurred  and be
continuing and the Borrower shall have delivered to the  Administrative  Agent a
certificate of a Financial Officer certifying compliance with the conditions set
forth in this clause (iv) and setting forth pro forma calculations demonstrating
such  compliance;  and (v) in the case of any such acquisition of capital stock,
the Issuer shall become a Subsidiary Guarantor under the Guarantee Agreement.

                  SECTION 6.04. Mergers, Consolidations and Sales of Assets. (a)
Neither  Holdings nor the Borrower will, nor will they permit any Subsidiary to,
merge into or consolidate  with any other person,
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or  permit  any  other  person to merge  into or  consolidate  with it, or sell,
transfer,  lease or otherwise  dispose of (in one  transaction or in a series of
transactions)  all or any  substantial  part of its assets (whether now owned or
hereafter  acquired),  including any capital stock of any Subsidiary;  provided,
however, that if at the time thereof and immediately after giving effect thereto
no Default or Event of Default  shall have occurred and be  continuing,  (i) any
Person  may be  liquidated  into or may  merge  into or with the  Borrower  in a
transaction in which the Borrower is the surviving corporation,  (ii) any Person
may merge into or with or  consolidate  with any Wholly Owned  Subsidiary of the
Borrower  in a  transaction  in which the  surviving  entity  is a Wholly  Owned
Subsidiary of the Borrower,  provided in each case that (x) no Person other than
the  Borrower  or a  Wholly  Owned  Subsidiary  of  the  Borrower  receives  any
consideration (except in the case of a merger or consolidation that is permitted
by  Section  6.03) and (y) in the event  that any Loan  Party is a party to such
merger or consolidation  and is not the surviving  entity,  the surviving entity
shall,  simultaneously  with  such  merger  or  consolidation,  assume  all  the
obligations of such Loan Party hereunder and under the other Loan Documents, and
(iii)  any  Excluded  Subsidiary  may be  liquidated  or may sell,  transfer  or



otherwise dispose of its assets to the Borrower or to another Subsidiary.

                  (b)  Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph (a) above:

                  (i) the  Borrower  and its  Subsidiaries  may  sell,  transfer
         or otherwise dispose of assets to each other; and

                  (ii) the Borrower and its Subsidiaries  may sell,  transfer or
         otherwise  dispose of assets;  provided that (A) such  dispositions are
         made for fair  value and (B)  after  giving  effect  to any such  sale,
         transfer or  disposition  the aggregate fair market value of all assets
         disposed  of on and  after the  Effective  Date in  reliance  upon this
         clause  (ii)  would not  exceed 15% of the  Consolidated  Total  Assets
         determined by reference to the most recent  quarterly or annual balance
         sheet of the Borrower which precedes such sale, transfer or disposition
         that is delivered to the Administrative Agent pursuant to Section 5.04.

                  SECTION 6.05. Business of Holdings, Borrower and Subsidiaries.
Neither  Holdings nor the Borrower will, nor will they permit any Subsidiary to,
engage at any time in any business or business  activity other than the business
currently conducted by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries and business activities
reasonably  related,  supportive or  incidental  thereto.  Without  limiting the
generality  of the  foregoing,  Holdings  will not  engage  in any  business  or
business activity other than the ownership of the capital stock of the Borrower.

                  SECTION 6.06. Consolidated Net Worth. Neither Holdings nor the
Borrower will, nor will they permit any Subsidiary to, permit  Consolidated  Net
Worth at any time to be less than the sum of (a)  $300,000,000,  plus (b) 50% of
Consolidated  Net  Income for each  fiscal  quarter  of the  Borrower  for which
Consolidated  Net Income is positive,  commencing  with the fiscal quarter ended
June 30, 1999, plus (c) 50% of any increase in Consolidated Net Worth after June
30, 1999,  attributable to capital  contributions  or the issuance of additional
shares of capital stock.

                  SECTION  6.07.   Consolidated  Fixed  Charge  Coverage  Ratio.
Neither  Holdings nor the Borrower will, nor will they permit any Subsidiary to,
permit  the  Consolidated  Fixed  Charge  Coverage  Ratio for any period of four
consecutive  fiscal quarters of the Borrower ended on or after June 30, 1999, to
be less than 2.50 to 1.

                  SECTION 6.08.  Leverage Ratio.    Neither   Holdings  nor  the
Borrower will, nor will they permit any Subsidiary to, permit the Leverage Ratio
at any time to be greater than 0.40 to 1.

                  SECTION 6.09. Restrictive Agreements. Neither Holdings nor the
Borrower  will,  nor will they permit any  Subsidiary  to, enter into,  incur or
permit to exist, directly or indirectly, any agreement or other arrangement that
prohibits,  restricts or imposes any condition upon (a) the ability of Holdings,
the Borrower or any Subsidiary to create, incur or permit to exist any Lien upon
any of its  property  or assets,  or (b) the  ability of any  Subsidiary  to pay
dividends or other distributions with respect to any shares of its capital stock
or to make or repay loans or advances to the Borrower or any other Subsidiary or
to Guarantee Indebtedness of the Borrower or any other Subsidiary, provided that
(i) the foregoing shall not apply to restrictions and conditions  imposed by law
or by any Loan Document,  (ii) the foregoing shall not apply to restrictions and
conditions  existing on the date hereof  identified  on Schedule 6.09 (but shall
apply to any  extension or renewal of, or any  amendment or  modification  if it
expands the scope of, any such  restriction or  condition),  (iii) the foregoing
shall not apply to customary restrictions and conditions contained in agreements
relating  to  the  sale  of  a  Subsidiary  pending  such  sale,  provided  such
restrictions
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and conditions  apply only to the Subsidiary that is to be sold and such sale is
permitted  hereunder,  (iv)  clause  (a) of the  foregoing  shall  not  apply to
restrictions  or  conditions  imposed  by  any  agreement  relating  to  secured
Indebtedness  permitted by this  Agreement if such  restrictions  or  conditions
apply only to the property or assets securing such  Indebtedness  and (v) clause
F(a) of the foregoing shall not apply to customary
provisions in leases or other  contracts  entered into in the ordinary course of
business restricting the assignment thereof.

ARTICLE VII.  EVENTS OF DEFAULT

                  In  case  of the  happening  of any  of the  following  events
("Events of Default"):

                  (a) any  representation  or warranty made or deemed made in or
         in connection  with any Loan Document or the borrowings or issuances of
         Letters  of  Credit  hereunder,   or  any  representa  tion,  warranty,
         statement  or  information   contained  in  any  report,   certificate,
         financial statement or other instrument furnished in connection with or



         pursuant  to any  Loan  Document,  shall  prove to have  been  false or
         misleading  in any  material  respect  when  so  made,  deemed  made or
         furnished;

                  (b) default  shall be made in the payment of any  principal of
         any Loan when and as the same shall become due and payable,  whether at
         the due date  thereof or at a date fixed for prepay ment  thereof or by
         acceleration thereof or otherwise;

                  (c) default shall be made in the reimbursement with respect to
         any L/C  Disbursement  or the payment of any Fee or any interest on any
         Loan or on L/C  Disbursement  or any other amount (other than an amount
         referred to in (b) above) due under any Loan Document,  when and as the
         same shall become due and  payable,  and such  default  shall  continue
         unremedied for a period of three Business Days;

                  (d) default shall be made in the due observance or performance
         by Holdings, the Borrower or any Subsidiary of any covenant,  condition
         or agreement contained in Section 5.01(a), or 5.08 or in Article VI;

                  (e) default shall be made in the due observance or performance
         by Holdings, the Borrower or any Subsidiary of any covenant,  condition
         or agreement contained in any Loan Document (other than those specified
         in (b), (c) or (d) above) and such default  shall  continue  unremedied
         for a period of (i) in the case of a default under Section 5.05,  three
         Business Days after any Responsible  Officer of the Borrower has actual
         knowledge of any matter required to be disclosed to the  Administrative
         Agent and the  Lenders  pursuant to such  Section  that has not been so
         disclosed or (ii) in the case of any other such default,  30 days after
         notice  thereof  from the  Administrative  Agent or any  Lender  to the
         Borrower;

                  (f) Holdings, the Borrower or any Subsidiary shall (i) fail to
         pay any principal or interest,  regardless of amount, due in respect of
         any  Indebtedness in a principal  amount in excess of $5,000,000,  when
         and as the same shall become due and  payable,  or (ii) fail to observe
         or perform any other term,  covenant,  condition or agreement contained
         in any  agreement  or  instrument  evidencing  or  governing  any  such
         Indebtedness  referred  to in clause (i) if the  effect of any  failure
         referred to in this clause (ii) is to cause, or to permit the holder or
         holders of such  Indebtedness or a trustee on its or their behalf (with
         or without  the giving of notice,  the lapse of time or both) to cause,
         such Indebtedness to become due prior to its stated maturity;

                  (g)  an  involuntary  proceeding  shall  be  commenced  or  an
         involuntary   petition   shall  be  filed  in  a  court  of   competent
         jurisdiction seeking (i) relief in respect of Holdings, the Borrower or
         any Subsidiary (other than an Excluded Subsidiary), or of a substantial
         part  of  the  property  or  assets  of  Holdings,  the  Borrower  or a
         Subsidiary (other than an Excluded  Subsidiary),  under Title 11 of the
         United States Code, as now  constituted  or hereafter  amended,  or any
         other Federal or state bankruptcy, insolvency,  receivership or similar
         law,  (ii)  the   appointment  of  a  receiver,   trustee,   custodian,
         sequestrator,   conservator  or  similar  official  for  Holdings,  the
         Borrower or any Subsidiary (other than an Excluded Subsidiary) or for a
         substantial part of the property or assets of Holdings, the Borrower or
         a  Subsidiary  (other  than  an  Excluded   Subsidiary)  or  (iii)  the
         winding-up or liquidation  of Holdings,  the Borrower or any Subsidiary
         (other than an Excluded  Subsidiary);  and such  proceeding or petition
         shall continue  undismissed for 60 days or an order or decree approving
         or ordering any of the foregoing shall be entered;
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                  (h) Holdings,  the Borrower or any  Subsidiary  (other than an
         Excluded  Subsidiary) shall (i) voluntarily  commence any proceeding or
         file any petition  seeking  relief under Title 11 of the United  States
         Code, as now constituted or hereafter amended,  or any other Federal or
         state bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar law, (ii) consent
         to the institution  of, or fail to contest in a timely and  appropriate
         manner,  any proceeding or the filing of any petition  described in (g)
         above,  (iii)  apply for or consent to the  appointment  of a receiver,
         trustee, custodian,  sequestrator,  conservator or similar official for
         Holdings,  the  Borrower  or any  Subsidiary  (other  than an  Excluded
         Subsidiary)  or for a  substantial  part of the  property  or assets of
         Holdings,  the  Borrower  or any  Subsidiary  (other  than an  Excluded
         Subsidiary),  (iv) file an answer admitting the material allegations of
         a petition filed against it in any such proceeding,  (v) make a general
         assignment for the benefit of creditors,  (vi) become unable,  admit in
         writing its inability or fail generally to pay its debts as they become
         due or (vii) take any corporate action for the purpose of effecting any
         of the foregoing;



                  (i) one or more  judgments  for the  payment  of  money  in an
         aggregate  amount in excess of  $5,000,000  shall be  rendered  against
         Holdings,   the  Borrower,  any  Subsidiary  (other  than  an  Excluded
         Subsidiary)  or any  combination  thereof  and the  same  shall  remain
         undischarged for a period of 30 consecutive days during which execution
         shall not be effectively  stayed,  or any action shall be legally taken
         by a judgment  creditor to levy upon assets or  properties of Holdings,
         the Borrower or any Subsidiary  (other than an Excluded  Subsidiary) to
         enforce any such judgment;

                  (j) (i) a Reportable Event or Reportable  Events, or a failure
         to make a required  installment or other payment (within the meaning of
         Section 412(n)(1) of the Code), shall have occurred with respect to any
         Plan or Plans that reasonably  could be expected to result in liability
         of  the  Borrower  to the  PBGC  or to a Plan  in an  aggregate  amount
         exceeding  $5,000,000  and,  within 30 days after the  reporting of any
         such Reportable Event to the Administrative  Agent or after the receipt
         by the Administrative Agent of a statement required pursuant to Section
         5.06(b)(iii)  hereof, the Administrative  Agent shall have notified the
         Borrower  in  writing  that  (A)  the  Required  Leaders  have  made  a
         determination that, on the basis of such Reportable Event or Reportable
         Events or the failure to make a required payment,  there are reasonable
         grounds  for the  termination  of such Plan or Plans by the  PBGC,  the
         appointment  by the  appropriate  United  States  district  court  of a
         trustee to administer such Plan or Plans or the imposition of a lien in
         favor of a Plan and (B) as a result  thereof an Event of Default exists
         hereunder;  or (ii) a trustee  shall be  appointed  by a United  States
         district court to administer any such Plan or Plans;  or (iii) the PBGC
         shall institute proceedings (including giving notice of intent thereof)
         to terminate any such Plan or Plans;

                  (k) (i) the  Borrower or any ERISA  Affiliate  shall have been
         notified by the sponsor of a  Multiemployer  Plan that it has  incurred
         Withdrawal  Liability to such Multiemployer  Plan, (ii) the Borrower or
         such ERISA  Affiliate does not have  reasonable  grounds for contesting
         such  With  drawal  Liability  or is  not  contesting  such  Withdrawal
         Liability  in a timely and  appropriate  manner and (iii) the amount of
         such  Withdrawal  Liability  specified in such notice,  when aggregated
         with all other amounts  required to be paid to  Multiemployer  Plans in
         connection  with Withdrawal  Liabilities  (determined as of the date or
         dates of such notification),  either (A) exceeds $5,000,000 or requires
         payments  exceeding  $1,000,000  in  any  year  or  (B)  is  less  than
         $5,000,000 but any Withdrawal  Liability payment remains unpaid 30 days
         after such payment is due;

                  (l) the  Borrower  or any  ERISA  Affiliate  shall  have  been
         notified by the sponsor of a Multiemployer Plan that such Multiemployer
         Plan is in reorganization or is being terminated, within the meaning of
         Title IV of ERISA,  if solely  as a result  of such  reorganization  or
         termination the aggregate annual  contributions of the Borrower and its
         ERISA  Affiliates  to  all   Multiemployer   Plans  that  are  then  in
         reorganization  or have been or are being  terminated have been or will
         be  increased  over the  amounts  required  to be  contributed  to such
         Multiemployer  Plans for their most recently completed plan years by an
         amount exceeding $1,000,000;

                  (m) at any  time  after  the  Effective  Date,  the  Guarantee
         Agreement  shall cease to be, or shall be asserted by any Guarantor not
         to be, a valid, binding and enforceable agreement;

                  (n) there shall have occurred a Change in Control;  or

                  (o) it is discovered  that (i) Hazardous  Materials  have been
         transported from any of the Properties or generated, treated, stored or
         disposed of at, on or under any of the  Properties in a
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         manner that has resulted  in, or could  reasonably  be  anticipated  to
         result in, an Environmental  Claim,  or (ii) the Borrower or any of its
         Subsidiaries has retained or assumed any liability,  contractually,  by
         operation   of   law or  otherwise,  with  respect to   the generation,
         treatment,  storage  or disposal of  Hazardous  Materials,  and, in any
         such  case  described  in clause (i) or (ii) above, the  Administrative
         Agent  shall have  notified the  Borrower  in writing that the Required
         Lenders  have  determined  that  such  Environmental  Claims  and other
         liabilities,  in   the   aggregate,  have    resulted   in,  or   could
         reasonably be anticipated to result in, a Material  Adverse Effect and,
         as a result thereof, an Event of Default exists hereunder;

then,  and in every such event (other than an event with respect to the Borrower
described in paragraph (g) or (h) above),  and at any time thereafter during the
continuance of such event, the  Administrative  Agent may, and at the request of



the Required  Lenders shall,  by notice to the Borrower,  take either or both of
the following actions,  at the same or different times: (i) terminate  forthwith
the Commitments and (ii) declare the Loans then  outstanding to be forthwith due
and  payable  in whole or in  part,  whereupon  the  principal  of the  Loans so
declared to be due and payable,  together with accrued  interest thereon and any
unpaid accrued fees and all other  liabilities of the Borrower accrued hereunder
and under any other Loan  Document,  shall  become  forthwith  due and  payable,
without  presentment,  demand,  protest or any other notice of any kind,  all of
which are hereby expressly waived by the Borrower,  anything contained herein or
in any other Loan  Document to the  contrary  notwithstanding;  and in any event
with  respect to the  Borrower  described  in para  graph (g) or (h) above,  the
Commitments  shall  automatically  terminate and the principal of the Loans then
outstanding,  together with accrued interest thereon and any unpaid accrued fees
and all other  liabilities of the Borrower accrued hereunder and under any other
Loan Document,  including the obligation to provide cash collateral  pursuant to
Section 2.20(j),  shall  automatically  become due and payable,  without present
ment,  demand,  protest or any other notice of any kind, all of which are hereby
expressly waived by the Borrower, anything contained herein or in any other Loan
Document to the contrary notwithstanding.

ARTICLE VIII.  THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT

                  In order to expedite  the  transactions  contemplated  by this
Agreement, The Chase Manhattan Bank is hereby appointed to act as Administrative
Agent on behalf of the  Lenders and the  Issuing  Bank.  Each of the Lenders and
each   assignee  of  any  such  Lender   hereby   irrevocably   authorizes   the
Administrative  Agent to take such  actions on behalf of such Lender or assignee
or the Issuing Bank and to exercise such powers as are specifically delegated to
the  Administrative  Agent by the terms and  provisions  hereof and of the other
Loan  Documents,  together  with  such  actions  and  powers  as are  reasonably
incidental thereto.  The Administrative  Agent is hereby expressly authorized by
the Lenders and the Issuing Bank, without hereby limiting any implied authority,
(a) to receive on behalf of the  Lenders and the  Issuing  Bank all  payments of
principal  of  and  interest  on the  Loans,  all  payments  in  respect  of L/C
Disbursements and all other amounts due to the Lenders  hereunder,  and promptly
to  distribute  to each  Lender or the  Issuing  Bank its  proper  share of each
payment so received;  (b) to give notice on behalf of each of the Lenders to the
Borrower  of any  Event of  Default  specified  in this  Agreement  of which the
Administrative Agent has actual knowledge acquired in connection with its agency
hereunder; and (c) to distribute to each Lender copies of all notices, financial
statements  and other  materials  delivered  by the  Borrower  pursuant  to this
Agreement as received by the Administrative Agent.

                  Neither  the  Agent  nor  any  of  its  directors,   officers,
employees  or agents  shall be liable as such for any action taken or omitted by
any of them except for its or his own gross negligence or wilful misconduct,  or
be  responsible  for any  statement,  warranty or  representation  herein or the
contents of any document  delivered in  connection  herewith,  or be required to
ascertain or to make any inquiry concerning the performance or observance by the
Borrower or any other Loan Party of any of the terms,  conditions,  covenants or
agreements contained in any Loan Document. The Administrative Agent shall not be
responsible  to the  Lenders  for  the  due  execution,  genuineness,  validity,
enforceability or effectiveness of this Agreement or any other Loan Documents or
other instruments or agreements.  The Administrative Agent shall in all cases be
fully protected in acting, or refraining from acting, in accordance with written
instructions   signed  by  the  Required   Lenders  and,   except  as  otherwise
specifically  provided  herein,  such  instructions  and any action or  inaction
pursuant thereto shall be binding on all the Lenders.  The Administrative  Agent
shall,  in the absence of knowledge to the contrary,  be entitled to rely on any
instrument  or  document  believed by it in good faith to be genuine and correct
and to have been  signed or sent by the proper  person or  persons.  Neither the
Administrative  Agent nor any of its  directors,  officers,  employees or agents
shall have any responsibility to the Borrower or any other Loan Party on account
of the failure of or delay in performance or breach by any Lender or the Issuing
Bank of any of its obligations hereunder or to any Lender or the Issuing Bank on
account of the failure of or delay in performance or
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breach by any other Lender or the Issuing Bank or the Borrower or any other Loan
Party of any of their respective  obligations  hereunder or under any other Loan
Document or in connection  herewith or therewith.  The Administrative  Agent may
execute any and all duties hereunder by or through agents or employees and shall
be entitled to rely upon the advice of legal counsel selected by it with respect
to all matters arising hereunder and shall not be liable for any action taken or
suffered in good faith by it in accordance with the advice of such counsel.

                  The Lenders hereby acknowledge that the  Administrative  Agent
shall not be under any duty to take any  discretionary  action  permitted  to be
taken by it  pursuant  to the  provisions  of this Agree ment unless it shall be
requested in writing to do so by the Required Lenders.

                  Subject  to the  appointment  and  acceptance  of a  successor



Administrative  Agent as provided below, the Administrative  Agent may resign at
any time by notifying the Lenders and the Borrower.  Upon any such  resignation,
the  Required  Lenders  shall have the right to appoint a  successor  reasonably
acceptable to the Borrower (it being  understood that any Lender is deemed to be
acceptable to the Borrower). If no successor shall have been so appointed by the
Required Lenders and shall have accepted such  appointment  within 30 days after
the  retiring  Administrative  Agent gives notice of its  resignation,  then the
retiring Administrative Agent may, on behalf of the Lenders, appoint a successor
Administrative Agent reasonably  acceptable to the Borrower (it being understood
that any  Lender is deemed to be  acceptable  to the  Borrower)  which  shall be
either a Lender  or a bank  with an  office  in New  York,  New  York,  having a
combined  capital and surplus of at least  $500,000,000  or an  Affiliate of any
such bank.  Upon the  acceptance  of any  appointment  as  Administrative  Agent
hereunder by a successor bank, such successor shall succeed to and become vested
with  all  the  rights,   powers,   privileges   and  duties  of  the   retiring
Administrative  Agent and the retiring  Administrative Agent shall be discharged
from its duties and  obligations  hereunder.  After the  Administrative  Agent's
resignation  hereunder,  the  provisions  of this Article and Section 9.05 shall
continue in effect for its benefit in respect of any actions taken or omitted to
be taken by it while it was acting as Administrative Agent.

                  With respect to the Loans made or Letters of Credit  issued by
it hereunder,  the  Administrative  Agent in its individual  capacity and not as
Administrative  Agent shall have the same rights and powers as any other  Lender
and may exercise the same as though it were not the  Administrative  Agent,  and
the Administrative Agent and its Affiliates may accept deposits from, lend money
to and  generally  engage  in any  kind of  business  with the  Borrower  or any
Subsidiary  or other  Affiliate  thereof  as if it were  not the  Administrative
Agent.

                  Each Lender agrees (i) to reimburse the Administrative  Agent,
on demand, in the amount of its Pro Rata Percentage of any expenses incurred for
the benefit of the Lenders by the Administrative  Agent,  including counsel fees
and compensation of agents and employees paid for services rendered on behalf of
the Lenders,  which shall not have been  reimbursed  by the Borrower and (ii) to
indemnify and hold harmless the  Administrative  Agent and any of its directors,
officers,  employees  or  agents,  on  demand,  in the  amount  of such Pro Rata
Percentage,  from  and  against  any and all  liabilities,  taxes,  obligations,
losses,  damages,  penalties,  actions,  judgments,  suits,  costs,  expenses or
disbursements of any kind or nature whatsoever which may be imposed on, incurred
by or asserted against it in its capacity as Administrative Agent or any of them
in any way  relating  to or  arising  out of this  Agreement  or any other  Loan
Document  or any  action  taken  or  omitted  by it or any of  them  under  this
Agreement or any other Loan Document, to the extent the same shall not have been
reimbursed  by the  Borrower;  provided  that no  Lender  shall be liable to the
Administrative Agent for any portion of such liabilities,  obligations,  losses,
damages, penalties,  actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements
resulting from the gross negligence or wilful  misconduct of the  Administrative
Agent or any of its directors, officers, employees or agents.

                  Each  Lender  acknowledges  that  it  has,  independently  and
without reliance upon the Administrative  Agent or any other Lender and based on
such documents and information as it has deemed appropriate, made its own credit
analysis  and  decision  to  enter  into  this   Agreement.   Each  Lender  also
acknowledges  that  it  will,   independently  and  without  reliance  upon  the
Administrative  Agent  or any  other  Lender  and  based on such  documents  and
information as it shall from time to time deem appropriate, continue to make its
own decisions in taking or not taking action under or based upon this  Agreement
or any other Loan  Document,  any related  agreement or any  document  furnished
hereunder or thereunder.

                                      -39-

ARTICLE IX.  MISCELLANEOUS

                  SECTION  9.01.  Notices.   Notices  and  other  communications
provided  for  herein  shall be in  writing  and shall be  delivered  by hand or
overnight  courier  service,  mailed by certified or registered  mail or sent by
telecopy, as follows:

                  (a) if to the  Borrower  or  Holdings,  to it at  Ethan  Allen
         Drive,  Danbury,  CT 06811,  Attention  of Chief  Financial  Officer or
         Treasurer (Telecopy No. (203) 743-8341), with copies to (i) in the case
         of  any  notice  or  communication   other  than  routine  notices  and
         communications  under Article II, the  attention of General  Counsel at
         the  aforesaid   address  and  (ii)  in  the  case  of  any  notice  or
         communication  relating  to a Default  or an Event of  Default,  Mayer,
         Brown & Platt, 1675 Broadway, New York, NY 10019, Attention of James B.
         Carlson, Esq. (Telecopy No.
         (212) 262-1910);

                  (b) if to the  Administrative  Agent,  to The Chase  Manhattan
         Bank Loan and Agency Services Group,  One Chase  Manhattan  Plaza,  8th



         Floor,  New York, NY 10081,  Attention of Jackie  Carter  (Telecopy No.
         (212)  552-7500),  with a copy to The Chase Manhattan Bank, at 270 Park
         Avenue,  New York 10017,  Attention of Margaret T. Lane  (Telecopy  No.
         (212) 270-5646); and

                  (c) if to a Lender,  to it at its address (or telecopy number)
         set forth in Schedule 2.01 or in the Assignment and Acceptance pursuant
         to which such Lender shall have become a party hereto.

All notices and other  communications  given to any party  hereto in  accordance
with the provisions of this Agreement  shall be deemed to have been given on the
date of receipt if  delivered by hand or  overnight  courier  service or sent by
telecopy  or on the date five  Business  Days after  dispatch  by  certified  or
registered  mail if mailed,  in each case  delivered,  sent or mailed  (properly
addressed) to such party as provided in this Section 9.01 or in accordance  with
the latest  unrevoked  direction  from such party given in accordance  with this
Section 9.01.

                  SECTION   9.02.   Survival  of   Agreement.   All   covenants,
agreements,  representations  and  warranties  made by the  Borrower or Holdings
herein and in the  certificates  or other  instruments  prepared or delivered in
connection  with or pursuant to this  Agreement or any other Loan Document shall
be  considered  to have been relied upon by the Lenders and the Issuing Bank and
shall survive the making by the Lenders of the Loans and the issuance of Letters
of Credit by the  Issuing  Bank,  regardless  of any  investigation  made by the
Lenders or the Issuing Bank or on their behalf, and shall continue in full force
and effect as long as the  principal  of or any accrued  interest on any Loan or
any Fee or any other  amount  payable  under  this  Agreement  or any other Loan
Document is outstanding and unpaid or any Letter of Credit is outstanding and so
long as the Commitments have not been terminated.

                  SECTION 9.03.  Binding  Effect.  This  Agreement  shall become
effective  when it shall have been  executed by the  Borrower,  Holdings and the
Administrative  Agent and when the  Administrative  Agent  shall  have  received
counterparts  hereof which, when taken together,  bear the signatures of each of
the other  parties  hereto,  and the  conditions to  effectiveness  set forth in
Section 4.02 have been satisfied or waived, and thereafter shall be binding upon
and inure to the benefit of the parties  hereto and their  respective  permitted
successors and assigns.

                  SECTION  9.04.  Successors  and Assigns.  (a) Whenever in this
Agreement  any of the parties  hereto is referred  to, such  reference  shall be
deemed to include the permitted  successors  and assigns of such party;  and all
covenants,  promises and  agreements by or on behalf of the Borrower,  Holdings,
the Administrative  Agent, the Issuing Bank or the Lenders that are contained in
this  Agreement  shall  bind  and  inure  to the  benefit  of  their  respective
successors and assigns.

                  (b) Each Lender may assign to one or more  assignees  all or a
portion of its interests, rights and obligations under this Agreement (including
all or a  portion  of its  Commitment  and the  Loans at the time  owing to it);
provided,  however,  that (i) except in the case of an assignment to a Lender or
an Affiliate of such Lender, the Borrower and the Administrative  Agent (and, in
the case of any assignment of a Revolving  Credit  Commitment,  the Issuing Bank
and the  Swingline  Lender)  must  give  their  prior  written  consent  to such
assignment (which consent shall not be unreasonably  withheld),  (ii) the amount
of the  Commitment of the assigning  Lender  subject to each such  assignment of
less  than all its  Commitment  (determined  as of the date the  Assignment  and
Acceptance  with respect to such  assignment is delivered to the  Administrative
Agent)  shall  not be less  than  $5,000,000,  (iii)  the  parties  to each such
assignment shall
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execute and deliver to the  Administrative  Agent an Assignment and  Acceptance,
together with a processing and  recordation fee of $3,500 and (iv) the assignee,
if it shall  not be a  Lender,  shall  deliver  to the  Administrative  Agent an
Administrative   Questionnaire.   Upon  acceptance  and  recording  pursuant  to
paragraph (e) of this Section 9.04,  from and after the effective date specified
in each Assignment and  Acceptance,  which effective date shall be at least five
Business Days after the execution thereof,  (A) the assignee thereunder shall be
a party  hereto and, to the extent of the interest  assigned by such  Assignment
and Acceptance, have the rights and obligations of a Lender under this Agreement
and (B) the assigning  Lender  thereunder  shall,  to the extent of the interest
assigned by such  Assignment and  Acceptance,  be released from its  obligations
under this Agreement (and, in the case of an Assignment and Acceptance  covering
all or the remaining  portion of an assigning  Lender's  rights and  obligations
under this  Agreement,  such Lender  shall cease to be a party  hereto but shall
continue to be entitled to the benefits of Sections 2.11,  2.13,  2.17 and 9.05,
as well as to any fees accrued for its account and not yet paid).

                  (c) By executing and delivering an Assignment and  Acceptance,
the assigning Lender  thereunder and the assignee  thereunder shall be deemed to
confirm to and agree with each other and the other  parties  hereto as  follows:



(i) such assigning  Lender warrants that it is the legal and beneficial owner of
the interest being assigned thereby free and clear of any adverse claim and that
its Revolving Credit  Commitment,  and the outstanding  balance of its Revolving
Loans, in each case without giving effect to assignments  thereof which have not
become  effective,  are as set forth in such  Assignment  and  Acceptance,  (ii)
except as set forth in (i) above,  such assigning Lender makes no representation
or  warranty  and  assumes no  responsibility  with  respect to any  statements,
warranties or representations  made in or in connection with this Agreement,  or
the execution, legality, validity, enforceability,  genuineness,  sufficiency or
value of this  Agreement,  any other Loan  Document or any other  instrument  or
document furnished  pursuant hereto, or the financial  condition of the Borrower
or any  Subsidiary  or the  performance  or  observance  by the  Borrower or any
Subsidiary  of any of its  obligations  under  this  Agreement,  any other  Loan
Document or any other instrument or document  furnished  pursuant hereto;  (iii)
such assignee  represents  and warrants  that it is legally  authorized to enter
into such  Assignment and  Acceptance;  (iv) such assignee  confirms that it has
received  a copy of this  Agreement,  together  with  copies of the most  recent
financial statements,  if any, delivered pursuant to Section 5.04 and such other
documents and  information  as it has deemed  appropriate to make its own credit
analysis and decision to enter into such  Assignment  and  Acceptance;  (v) such
assignee will independently and without reliance upon the Administrative  Agent,
such  assigning  Lender or any other  Lender  and  based on such  documents  and
information as it shall deem  appropriate at the time,  continue to make its own
credit decisions in taking or not taking action under this Agreement;  (vi) such
assignee appoints and authorizes the Administrative Agent to take such action as
agent on its behalf and to exercise  such  powers  under this  Agreement  as are
delegated  to the  Administrative  Agent,  respectively,  by the  terms  hereof,
together with such powers as are reasonably  incidental thereto;  and (vii) such
assignee  agrees  that it will  perform in  accordance  with their terms all the
obligations which by the terms of this Agreement are required to be performed by
it as a Lender.

                  (d) The  Administrative  Agent,  acting for this purpose as an
agent of the Borrower,  shall  maintain at one of its offices in The City of New
York a copy of each Assignment and Acceptance delivered to it and a register for
the  recordation  of the names and addresses of the Lenders,  and the Commitment
of, and  principal  amount of the Loans owing to,  each  Lender  pursuant to the
terms  hereof from time to time (the  "Register").  The entries in the  Register
shall be conclusive and the Borrower, the Administrative Agent, the Issuing Bank
and the  Lenders may treat each  person  whose name is recorded in the  Register
pursuant  to the terms  hereof as a Lender  hereunder  for all  purposes of this
Agreement,  notwithstanding  notice  to the  contrary.  The  Register  shall  be
available for  inspection by the Borrower,  the Issuing Bank and any Lender,  at
any reasonable time and from time to time upon reasonable prior notice.

                  (e)  Upon  its  receipt  of a duly  completed  Assignment  and
Acceptance  executed by an assigning Lender and an assignee,  an  Administrative
Questionnaire  completed in respect of the assignee  (unless the assignee  shall
already be a Lender  hereunder),  the processing and recordation fee referred to
in paragraph  (b) above and, if required,  the written  consent of the Borrower,
the  Swingline  Lender,  the Issuing Bank and the  Administrative  Agent to such
assignment,  the  Administrative  Agent  shall (i) accept  such  Assignment  and
Acceptance,  (ii) record the information  contained  therein in the Register and
(iii) give  prompt  notice  thereof to the  Lenders,  the  Issuing  Bank and the
Swingline  Lender.  No assignment shall be effective unless it has been recorded
in the Register as provided in this paragraph (e).

                  (f) Each Lender may without the consent of the  Borrower,  the
Swingline   Lender,   the  Issuing  Bank  or  the   Administrative   Agent  sell
participations to one or more banks or other entities in all or a portion of its
rights and obligations  under this Agreement  (including all or a portion of its
Commitment
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and  the  Loans  owing  to  it);  provided,  however,  that  (i)  such  Lender's
obligations under this Agreement shall remain unchanged,  (ii) such Lender shall
remain solely  responsible  to the other parties  hereto for the  performance of
such  obligations,  (iii) the  participating  banks or other  entities  shall be
entitled to the benefit of the cost protection  provisions contained in Sections
2.11,  2.13 and 2.17 to the same  extent  as if they were  Lenders  and (iv) the
Borrower,  the  Administrative  Agent,  the Issuing  Bank and the Lenders  shall
continue to deal solely and directly  with such Lender in  connection  with such
Lender's  rights and  obligations  under this  Agreement,  and such Lender shall
retain the sole right to enforce the obligations of the Borrower relating to the
Loans or L/C Disbursements and to approve any amendment,  modification or waiver
of any provision of this  Agreement  (other than  amendments,  modifications  or
waivers  decreasing any fees payable  hereunder or the amount of principal of or
the rate at which  interest  is payable on the Loans,  extending  any  scheduled
principal payment date or date fixed for the payment of interest on the Loans or
changing or extending the Commitments.

                  (g) Any Lender or  participant  may,  in  connection  with any
assignment or participation or proposed assignment or participation  pursuant to



this Section 9.04,  disclose to the assignee or participant or proposed assignee
or  participant  any  information  relating to any Loan Party  furnished to such
Lender  by or on  behalf  of the  Borrower;  provided  that,  prior  to any such
disclosure of information designated by the Borrower as confidential,  each such
assignee or  participant or proposed  assignee or  participant  shall execute an
agreement whereby such assignee or participant shall agree (subject to customary
exceptions) to preserve the confidentiality of such confidential  information on
terms no less  restrictive  than those  applicable  to the  Lenders  pursuant to
Section 9.16.

                  (h) Any  Lender may at any time  assign all or any  portion of
its rights under this Agree ment to a Federal Reserve Bank to secure  extensions
of credit by such Federal  Reserve Bank to such  Lender;  provided  that no such
assignment  shall  release a Lender  from any of its  obligations  hereunder  or
substitute  any  such  Bank  for  such  Lender  as a party  hereto.  In order to
facilitate  such an assignment to a Federal Reserve Bank, the Borrower shall, at
the request of the assigning  Lender,  duly execute and deliver to the assigning
Lender a promissory  note or notes  evidencing the Loans made to the Borrower by
the assigning Lender hereunder.

                  (i) Neither Holdings nor the Borrower shall assign or delegate
any of its rights or duties  hereunder  without the prior written consent of the
Administrative  Agent,  the  Issuing  Bank and each  Lender,  and any  attempted
assignment without such consent shall be null and void.

                  (j) In the event that S&P, Moody's or Thompson's BankWatch (or
InsuranceWatch  Ratings  Service,  in the case of  Lenders  that  are  insurance
companies (or Best's Insurance  Reports,  if such insurance company is not rated
by  Insurance  Watch  Ratings  Service))  shall,  after the date that any Lender
becomes a Lender,  downgrade the long-term  certificate  deposit ratings of such
Lender, and the resulting ratings shall be below BBB-, Baa3 and C (or BB, in the
case of a Lender that is an insurance company (or B, in the case of an insurance
company not rated by InsuranceWatch Ratings Service)),  then the Issuing Bank or
the Swingline  Lender shall have the right,  but not the obligation,  at its own
expense, upon notice to such Lender and the Administrative Agent, to replace (or
to request the Borrower to use its  reasonable  efforts to replace)  such Lender
with an assignee (in accordance with and subject to the  restrictions  contained
in paragraph  (b) above),  and such Lender  hereby agrees to transfer and assign
without recourse (in accordance with and subject to the  restrictions  contained
in paragraph (b) above) all its interests,  rights and obligations in respect of
its Revolving Credit Commitment to such assignee; provided, however, that (i) no
such assignment shall conflict with any law, rule and regulation or order of any
Governmental Authority and (ii) the Issuing Bank or the Swingline Lender or such
assignee,  as the case may be, shall pay to such Lender in immediately available
funds on the date of such  assignment  the principal of and interest  accrued to
the date of  payment on the Loans made by such  Lender  hereunder  and all other
amounts accrued for such Lender's account or owed to it hereunder.

                  (k) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein,
any Lender (a "Granting  Lender") may grant to a special purpose funding vehicle
(an "SPC") of such Granting  Lender,  identified as such in writing from time to
time by the Granting Lender to the  Administrative  Agent and the Borrower,  the
option to provide to the Borrower all or any part of any Loan that such Granting
Lender would  otherwise  be obliged to make to the Borrower  pursuant to Section
2.01, provided that (i) nothing herein shall constitute a commitment to make any
Loan  by any SPC and  (ii) if an SPC  elects  not to  exercise  such  option  or
otherwise  fails to provide all or any part of such Loan,  the  Granting  Lender
shall be obligated to make such Loan pursuant to the terms hereof. The making of
a Loan by an SPC hereunder  shall utilize the Commitment of the Granting  Lender
to the same extent, and as if, such Loan were made by the Granting Lender.  Each
party  hereto  hereby  agrees  that no SPC shall be liable  for any  payment  or
indemnity
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obligation  under this  Agreement for which a Lender would  otherwise be liable,
for so long as,  and to the  extent,  the  related  Granting  Lender  makes such
payment or gives such  indemnity.  In furtherance  of the foregoing,  each party
hereto hereby agrees that,  prior to the date that is one year and one day after
the payment in full of all outstanding  senior  indebtedness of any SPC, it will
not institute against, or join any other person in instituting against, such SPC
any   bankruptcy,   reorganization,   arrangement,   insolvency  or  liquidation
proceedings  or similar  proceedings  under the laws of the United States or any
State  thereof  with  respect  to any claim  arising  under or  related  to this
Agreement.  In addition,  notwithstanding  anything to the contrary contained in
this Section 9.04 any SPC may (i) with notice to, but without the prior  written
consent of, the  Borrower  or the  Administrative  Agent and without  paying any
processing  fee therefor,  assign all or a portion of its interests in any Loans
to its Granting Lender or to any financial  institutions (if consented to by the
Borrower  and  the  Administrative  Agent)  providing  liquidity  and/or  credit
facilities  to or for the account of such SPC to fund the Loans made by such SPC
or to support the  securities (if any) issued by such SPC to fund such Loans and
(ii) disclose on a confidential basis any non-public information relating to its
Loans to any rating  agency,  commercial  paper  dealer or provider of a surety,



guarantee or credit or liquidity enhancement to such SPC.

                  SECTION 9.05. Expenses;  Indemnity. (a) The Borrower agrees to
pay all out-of-pocket  expenses reasonably incurred by the Administrative Agent,
the Issuing Bank and the Swingline Lender in connection with the preparation and
administration  of this  Agreement and the other Loan Documents or in connection
with any  amendments,  modifications  or  waivers  of the  provisions  hereof or
thereof  (whether  or  not  the  transactions   hereby   contemplated  shall  be
consummated) or incurred by the  Administrative  Agent,  the Issuing Bank or any
Lender in  connection  with the  enforcement  or  protection  of their rights in
connec tion with this  Agreement  and the other Loan  Documents or in connection
with the  Loans  made or  Letters  of Credit  issued  hereunder,  including  the
reasonable fees, charges and disbursements of Cravath,  Swaine & Moore,  counsel
for the  Administrative  Agent,  and, in connection with any such enforcement or
protection,  the reasonable fees, charges and disbursements of not more than one
other counsel for the Administrative  Agent, the Issuing Bank and the Lenders in
each jurisdiction where enforcement is sought.

                  (b) The Borrower agrees to indemnify the Administrative Agent,
each Lender and the Issuing Bank, each Affiliate of any of the foregoing persons
and each of their  respective  directors,  officers,  employees and agents (each
such person being called an "Indemnitee")  against,  and to hold each Indemnitee
harmless  from, any and all losses,  claims,  damages,  liabilities  and related
expenses, including reasonable counsel fees, charges and disbursements, incurred
by or asserted against any Indemnitee arising out of, in any way connected with,
or as a result of (i) the  execution or delivery of this  Agreement or any other
Loan  Document  or  any  agreement  or  instrument   contemplated  thereby,  the
performance by the parties thereto of their respective obligations thereunder or
the  consummation of the Transactions  and the other  transactions  contemplated
thereby,  (ii) the use of the  proceeds  of the Loans or  issuance of Letters of
Credit, (iii) any claim, litigation, investigation or proceeding relating to any
of the foregoing,  whether or not any Indemnitee is a party thereto, or (iv) any
actual or alleged  presence or Release of  Hazardous  Materials  on any property
owned  or  operated  by  the  Borrower  or  any  of  the  Subsidiaries,  or  any
Environmental  Claim  related in any way to the  Borrower  or the  Subsidiaries;
provided that such indemnity  shall not, as to any  Indemnitee,  be available to
the extent that such losses,  claims,  damages,  liabilities or related expenses
resulted from the gross negligence or wilful misconduct of such Indemnitee.

                  (c) The provisions of this Section 9.05 shall remain operative
and in full force and effect  regardless  of the  expiration of the term of this
Agreement,  the  consummation  of the  transactions  contem plated  hereby,  the
repayment of any of the Loans, the expiration of the Commitments, the expiration
of any Letter of  Credit,  the  invalidity  or  unenforceability  of any term or
provision of this  Agreement or any other Loan  Document,  or any  investigation
made by or on behalf of the  Administrative  Agent,  any  Lender or the  Issuing
Bank. All amounts due under this Section 9.05 shall be payable on written demand
therefor.

                  SECTION  9.06.  Right of Setoff.  If an Event of Default shall
have occurred and be  continuing,  each Lender is hereby  authorized at any time
and from time to time,  to the fullest  extent  permitted by law, to set off and
apply any and all deposits (general or special,  time or demand,  provisional or
final) at any time held and other  indebtedness at any time owing by such Lender
to or for the credit or the account of the  Borrower  against any of and all the
obligations  of the Borrower now or hereafter  existing under this Agreement and
other Loan  Documents held by such Lender,  irrespective  of whether or not such
Lender  shall  have made any  demand  under  this  Agreement  or such other Loan
Document and although  such  obligations  may be  unmatured.  The rights of each
Lender  under  this  Section  are in  addition  to  other  rights  and  remedies
(including other rights of setoff) which such Lender may have.
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                  SECTION 9.07.  APPLICABLE LAW.  THIS AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER
LOAN DOCUMENTS SHALL BE CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH AND GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF
THE STATE OF NEW YORK.

                  SECTION 9.08. Waivers;  Amendment.  (a) No failure or delay of
the Administrative Agent, any Lender or the Issuing Bank in exercising any power
or right hereunder or under any Loan Document shall operate as a waiver thereof,
nor shall any single or  partial  exercise  of any such  right or power,  or any
abandonment  or  discontinuance  of steps  to  enforce  such a right  or  power,
preclude  any other or further  exercise  thereof or the  exercise  of any other
right or power. The rights and remedies of the Administrative Agent, the Issuing
Bank and the Lenders hereunder and under the other Loan Documents are cumulative
and are not exclusive of any rights or remedies which they would otherwise have.
No waiver of any  provision  of this  Agreement  or any other Loan  Document  or
consent  to any  departure  by the  Borrower,  Holdings  or any other Loan Party
therefrom shall in any event be effective  unless the same shall be permitted by
paragraph (b) below,  and then such waiver or consent shall be effective only in
the specific  instance and for the purpose for which given.  No notice or demand
on the  Borrower or Holdings in any case shall  entitle the Borrower or Holdings
to any other or further notice or demand in similar or other circumstances.



                  (b) Neither this Agreement,  the other Loan Documents, nor any
provision  thereof  may be waived,  amended or  modified  except  pursuant to an
agreement or  agreements in writing  entered into by the Borrower,  Holdings and
the  Required  Lenders;  provided,  however,  that no such  agreement  shall (i)
decrease the  principal  amount of, or extend the  maturity of or any  scheduled
principal  payment  date or date for the payment of any  interest on any Loan or
any date for reimbursement of an L/C  Disbursement,  or waive or excuse any such
payment or any part thereof, or decrease the rate of interest on any Loan or L/C
Disbursement, without the prior written consent of each Lender affected thereby,
(ii)  increase  or extend  the  Commitment  or  decrease  or extend the date for
payment of any of the fees of any Lender  without the prior  written  consent of
such Lender,  or (iii) amend or modify the  provisions  of Section 2.14 or 2.15,
the  provisions of this  Section,  the  definition of "Required  Lenders" or any
provision of any Loan Document that by its terms expressly  requires the consent
or  approval  of all the  Lenders,  without  the prior  written  consent of each
Lender; provided further that no such agreement shall amend, modify or otherwise
affect the rights or duties of the Administrative Agent, the Issuing Bank or the
Swingline  Lender  hereunder or under any other Loan Document  without the prior
written consent of the  Administrative  Agent, the Issuing Bank or the Swingline
Lender.

                  SECTION  9.09.   Interest  Rate  Limitation.   Notwithstanding
anything herein to the contrary,  if at any time the interest rate applicable to
any Loan or  participation  in any L/C  Disbursement,  together  with all  fees,
charges  and  other  amounts  which  are  treated  as  interest  on such Loan or
participation in such L/C Disbursement  under applicable law  (collectively  the
"Charges"),  shall exceed the maximum lawful rate (the "Maximum Rate") which may
be contracted for,  charged,  taken,  received or reserved by the Lender holding
such Loan or  participation  in  accordance  with  applicable  law,  the rate of
interest  payable in respect of such Loan or participation  hereunder,  together
with all  Charges  payable in respect  thereof,  shall be limited to the Maximum
Rate and, to the extent  lawful,  the  interest and Charges that would have been
payable  in  respect  of such Loan or  participation  but were not  payable as a
result of the  operation of this Section shall be cumulated and the interest and
Charges  payable to such Lender in respect of other Loans or  participations  or
periods shall be increased (but not above the Maximum Rate therefor)  until such
cumulated amount,  together with interest thereon at the Federal Funds Effective
Rate to the date of repay ment, shall have been received by such Lender.

                  SECTION 9.10. Entire  Agreement.  This Agreement and the other
Loan Documents  constitute the entire contract  between the parties  relative to
the subject matter hereof. Any previous agreement among the parties with respect
to the subject  matter hereof is superseded by this Agreement and the other Loan
Documents.  Nothing in this Agreement or in the other Loan Documents,  expressed
or implied,  is intended to confer upon any party other than the parties  hereto
and thereto any rights, remedies,  obligations or liabilities under or by reason
of this Agreement or the other Loan Documents.

                  SECTION 9.11.  WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL.  EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY
WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE
TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY LITIGATION  DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY  ARISING
OUT OF,  UNDER OR IN  CONNECTION  WITH THIS  AGREEMENT  OR ANY OF THE OTHER LOAN
DOCUMENTS.  EACH PARTY HERETO (A)  CERTIFIES  THAT NO  REPRESENTATIVE,  AGENT OR
ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED,  EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE,  THAT SUCH
OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT,
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IN THE  EVENT OF  LITIGATION,  SEEK TO  ENFORCE  THE  FOREGOING  WAIVER  AND (B)
ACKNOWLEDGES  THAT IT AND THE OTHER  PARTIES  HERETO HAVE BEEN  INDUCED TO ENTER
INTO THIS AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS, AS APPLICABLE, BY, AMONG OTHER
THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION 9.11.

                  SECTION  9.12.  Severability.  In the event any one or more of
the provisions  contained in this Agreement or in any other Loan Document should
be held invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, the validity, legality
and  enforceability  of the remaining  provisions  contained  herein and therein
shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby. The parties shall endeavor
in  good-faith  negotiations  to replace the invalid,  illegal or  unenforceable
provisions with valid  provisions the economic effect of which comes as close as
possible to that of the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provisions.

                  SECTION 9.13. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in
counterparts (and by different parties hereto on different  counterparts),  each
of which shall constitute an original but all of which when taken together shall
constitute a single contract,  and shall become effective as provided in Section
9.03.  Delivery of an executed  signature  page to this  Agreement  by facsimile
transmission  shall be as effective as delivery of a manually signed counterpart
of this Agreement.

                  SECTION 9.14.  Headings.  Article and Section headings and the
Table of Contents used herein are for  convenience  of reference  only,  are not
part of this Agreement and are not to affect the construction of, or to be taken



into consideration in interpreting, this Agreement.

                  SECTION 9.15. Jurisdiction; Consent to Service of Process. (a)
Each of  Holdings  and  the  Borrower  hereby  irrevocably  and  unconditionally
submits,  for itself and its property,  to the nonexclusive  jurisdiction of any
New York State court or Federal court of the United States of America sitting in
New York  City,  and any  appellate  court  from any  thereof,  in any action or
proceeding  arising  out of or  relating  to this  Agreement  or the other  Loan
Documents,  or for  recognition or enforcement of any judgment,  and each of the
parties hereto hereby irrevocably and unconditionally  agrees that all claims in
respect of any such action or proceeding may be heard and determined in such New
York State or, to the extent  permitted by law, in such Federal  court.  Each of
the parties hereto agrees that a final judgment in any such action or proceeding
shall be conclusive  and may be enforced in other  jurisdictions  by suit on the
judgment or in any other manner provided by law. Nothing in this Agreement shall
affect  any right  that any  Lender  may  otherwise  have to bring any action or
proceeding  relating to this Agreement or the other Loan  Documents  against the
Borrower,  Holdings  or  their  respective  properties  in  the  courts  of  any
jurisdiction.

                  (b) Each of Holdings and the Borrower  hereby  irrevocably and
unconditionally  waives, to the fullest extent it may legally and effectively do
so, any objection  which it may now or hereafter  have to the laying of venue of
any suit,  action or proceeding  arising out of or relating to this agreement or
the other Loan  Documents  in any New York State or Federal  court.  Each of the
parties hereto hereby  irrevocably  waives,  to the fullest extent  permitted by
law, the defense of an  inconvenient  forum to the maintenance of such action or
proceeding in any such court.

                  (c)  Each  party to this  Agreement  irrevocably  consents  to
service of process in the manner  provided for notices in Section 9.01.  Nothing
in this  Agreement will affect the right of any party to this Agreement to serve
process in any other manner permitted by law.

                  SECTION 9.16.  Confidentiality.  The Administrative Agent, the
Issuing Bank and each of the Lenders agrees to keep confidential (and to use its
best  efforts  to  cause  its  respective  agents  and  representatives  to keep
confidential)  the  Information  (as  defined  below)  and all  copies  thereof,
extracts  therefrom and analyses or other materials  based thereon,  except that
the  Administrative  Agent, the Issuing Bank or any Lender shall be permitted to
disclose  Information  (a)  to  such  of  its  respective  officers,  directors,
employees,  agents and representatives as need to know such Information,  (b) to
the extent  requested by any regulatory  authority,  (c) to the extent otherwise
required by applicable  laws and regulations or by any subpoena or similar legal
process,  (d) in connection with any suit, action or proceeding  relating to the
enforcement of its rights  hereunder or under the other Loan  Documents,  (e) to
any other  party to this  Agreement  or (f) to the extent such  Information  (i)
becomes publicly  available other than as a result of a breach of this Agreement
or (ii) becomes available to the  Administrative  Agent, the Issuing Bank or any
Lender on a  nonconfidential  basis  from a source  other than the  Borrower  or
Holdings.  For the  purposes  of this  Section,  "Information"  shall  mean  all
financial  statements,   certificates,   reports,   agreements  and  information
(including all analyses, compilations and studies prepared by the Administrative
Agent,  the Issuing Bank or any Lender based on any of the  foregoing)  that are
received from the
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Borrower or Holdings and related to the Borrower or Holdings, any shareholder of
the Borrower or Holdings or any  employee,  customer or supplier of the Borrower
or  Holdings,  other  than  any of the  foregoing  that  were  available  to the
Administrative  Agent, the Issuing Bank or any Lender on a nonconfidential basis
prior to its  disclosure  thereto by the Borrower or Holdings,  and which are in
the case of Information  provided after the date hereof,  clearly  identified at
the time of delivery as confidential.  The provisions of this Section 9.16 shall
remain  operative and in full force and effect  regardless of the expiration and
term of this Agreement.

                  SECTION 9.17. Defaulting Lender. If any Lender shall refuse to
make any Loan  required to be made by it hereunder or to fund its  participation
in any L/C  Disbursement  or  Swingline  Loan  hereunder,  or shall  notify  the
Borrower or the Administrative  Agent in writing that it does not intend to make
any such Loan or fund any such participation,  in either case as a result of any
takeover of such Lender by any regulatory  authority or agency (any such Lender,
a "Defaulting  Lender"),  then, unless and until such Defaulting Lender retracts
in writing any such notice and cures all  defaults on its part in respect of the
funding of its Pro Rata Percentage of all outstanding  Loans, L/C  Disbursements
and Swingline  Loans,  (a) any of the Borrower,  the  Administrative  Agent, the
Issuing  Bank and the  Swingline  Lender may require such  Defaulting  Lender to
transfer  and assign all of its  interests,  rights and  obligations  under this
Agreement  to an  assignee  in the same manner and effect as provided in Section
2.18(a),  the  provisions of which shall apply,  mutatis  mutandis,  to any such
assignment,  (b) such  Defaulting  Lender  shall not be entitled to exercise any



right of setoff under  Section 9.06 and (c) to the maximum  extent  permitted by
applicable law, such Defaulting Lender shall be deemed not to be a "Lender", the
Revolving Credit  Commitment of such Defaulting Lender shall be deemed not to be
in effect and such Defaulting Lender's Revolving Credit Exposure shall be deemed
not to exist,  in each case solely for  purposes of the  definition  of the term
"Required Lenders" and determining whether any waiver, amendment or modification
has been  approved by the requisite  Lenders in accordance  with Section 9.08 or
any other  applicable  provision  of the Loan  Documents.  In no event shall the
provisions  of this Section be construed to release any  Defaulting  Lender from
its obligations  hereunder to any other party hereto,  including its obligations
to make Loans and participate in Letters of Credit and Swingline Loans, and such
provisions shall not prejudice any claims,  or be construed to waive any rights,
including any rights to bring legal proceedings  against such Defaulting Lender,
which the  Administrative  Agent, any Lender, the Issuing Bank or any Loan Party
may
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have  against  such  Defaulting  Lender  as a  result  of any  failure  by  such
Defaulting Lender to honor its obligations under this Agreement.

                  IN WITNESS  WHEREOF,  the  parties  hereto  have  caused  this
Agreement to be duly executed by their respective  authorized officers as of the
day and year first above written.

                                    ETHAN ALLEN INC.,

                                       by  /s/ M. Farooq Kathwari
                                         ------------------------------
                                         Name:  M. Farooq Kathwari
                                         Title:  Chairman, CEO & President

                                    ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC.,

                                       by  /s/ Gerardo Burdo
                                         ------------------------------
                                         Name:  Gerardo Burdo
                                         Title:  Vice President & Treasurer

                                    THE CHASE MANHATTAN BANK, individually
                                    and as Administrative Agent and Swingline
                                    Lender,

                                       by  /s/  Margaret T. Lane
                                         ------------------------------
                                         Name:  Margaret T. Lane
                                         Title:  Vice President

                                    FLEET BANK, N.A., individually and as
                                    Co-Documentation Agent,

                                       by  /s/ Allison R. Walk
                                         ------------------------------
                                         Name:  Allison R. Walk
                                         Title:  Senior Vice President

                                    WACHOVIA BANK, N.A., individually and as
                                    Co-Documentation Agent,

                                       by  /s/ Jane C. Deaver
                                         ------------------------------
                                         Name:  Jane C. Deaver
                                         Title:  Senior Vice President

                                    MORGAN GUARANTY TRUST COMPANY OF
                                    NEW YORK,

                                       by  /s/ Sovonna L. Day
                                         ------------------------------
                                         Name: Sovonna L. Day
                                         Title: Vice President
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                                    BANK OF NEW YORK,

                                       by  /s/ Lucille Cuttone
                                         ------------------------------
                                         Name:  Lucille Cuttone
                                         Title:  Assistant Vice President

                                   SUNTRUST BANK, ATLANTA

                                       by  /s/ W. David Wisdom
                                         ------------------------------
                                         Name:  W. David Wisdom
                                         Title:  Vice President
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                                                                  EXECUTION COPY

                                    GUARANTEE  AGREEMENT  dated as of August 25,
                           1999,  among ETHAN ALLEN  INTERIORS  INC., a Delaware
                           corporation ("Holdings"), each of the subsidiaries of
                           ETHAN  ALLEN  INC.,  a  Delaware   corporation   (the
                           "Borrower"),    listed   on    Schedule    I   hereto
                           (individually,    a   "Subsidiary    Guarantor"   and
                           collectively,   the  "Subsidiary   Guarantors";   the
                           Subsidiary  Guarantors  together  with  Holdings  are
                           referred  to   individually   as  a  "Guarantor"  and
                           collectively  as  the  "Guarantors")  and  THE  CHASE
                           MANHATTAN   BANK,   as   administrative   agent  (the
                           "Administrative  Agent")  for the Lenders (as defined
                           herein).

                  Reference is made to the Credit  Agreement  dated as of August
25, 1999 (as amended,  supplemented  or modified from time to time,  the "Credit
Agreement"),  among Holdings,  the Borrower,  the financial  institutions  party
thereto,  as  lenders  (the  "Lenders"),   the  Administrative   Agent  and  the
CoDocumentation Agents. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have
the meanings assigned to such terms in the Credit Agreement.

                  The Lenders  have agreed to extend  credit to, and the Issuing
Bank has  agreed to issue  Letters of Credit for the  account  of, the  Borrower
pursuant to, and subject to the terms  specified in, the Credit  Agreement.  The
obligations  of the Lenders to extend  credit and of the  Issuing  Bank to issue
Letters of Credit under the Credit  Agreement  are  conditioned  on, among other
things, the execution and delivery by the Guarantors of a guarantee agreement in
the form hereof. As the owner of all the issued and outstanding capital stock of
the Borrower,  Holdings  acknowledges  that it will,  and as  Subsidiaries,  the
Subsidiary  Guarantors  acknowledge that they will, derive substantial  benefits
from the  extension of credit to the  Borrower  under the Credit  Agreement.  As
consideration  therefor and in order to induce the Lenders to continue to extend
credit  and the  Issuing  Bank to issue  Letters  of  Credit  under  the  Credit
Agreement,  the  Guarantors  are willing to execute and deliver this  Agreement.
Accordingly, the parties hereto agree as follows:

                  SECTION 1. Each of the Guarantors unconditionally  guarantees,
jointly with the other  Guarantors and severally,  as a primary  obligor and not
merely as a surety,  (a) the due and punctual payment by the Borrower of (i) the
principal of and interest  (including  interest  accruing during the pendency of
any bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or other similar proceeding, regardless
of whether  allowed or allowable in such  proceeding) on the Loans,  when and as
due,  whether  at  maturity,  by  acceleration,  upon one or more  dates set for
prepayment or otherwise,  (ii) each payment  required to be made by the Borrower
under the Credit  Agreement in respect of any Letter or Letters of Credit,  when
and as due,  including  payments in respect of reimbursement  of  disbursements,
interest thereon and obligations to provide cash collateral, and (iii) all other
monetary  obligations  of the Borrower to the  Lenders,  the Issuing  Bank,  the
Administrative Agent and the Co-Documentation  Agents under the Credit Agreement
and the other Loan  Documents to which the Borrower is or is to be a party,  (b)
the due and punctual  performance of all other obligations of the Borrower under
the Credit  Agreement  and the other Loan  Documents,  (c) the due and  punctual
payment and  performance  of all  obligations  of the  Borrower  under each Rate
Protection Agreement entered into with any counterparty that was a Lender at the
time  such  Rate  Protection  Agreement  was  entered  into  and (d) the due and
punctual  payment and performance of all obligations of each of Holdings and the
other  Subsidiaries,  in  the  case  of any  Subsidiary  Guarantor,  or of  each
Subsidiary,  in the case of Holdings, under the Loan Documents to which it is or
is to be a party (all the foregoing  obligations being  collectively  called the
"Obligations").  Each of the Guarantors  further agrees that the Obligations may



be extended or renewed, in whole or in part, without notice to or further assent
from it, and that it will remain bound upon its  guarantee  notwithstanding  any
extension or renewal of any Obligation.

                  SECTION  2.  Each of the  Guarantors  waives  presentment  to,
demand of payment from and protest to Holdings,  the Borrower or any  Subsidiary
of any of the Obligations, and also waives notice of acceptance of its guarantee
and notice of protest for  nonpayment.  The  obligations  of each Guarantor here
under shall not be affected by (a) the failure of the Administrative  Agent, the
Issuing Bank or any Lender to assert any claim or demand or to enforce any right
or remedy against Holdings,  the Borrower or any Subsidiary under the provisions
of any Loan  Document or otherwise;  (b) any  rescission,  waiver,  amendment or
modification of, or any release from any of the terms or provisions of, any Loan
Document,  any guarantee or any other  agreement,  including with respect to any
other Guarantor under this Agreement;  or (c) the failure of the  Administrative
Agent,  the Issuing Bank or any Lender to exercise  any right or remedy  against
any other Guarantor or guarantor of the Obligations.
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                  SECTION  3. Each of the  Guarantors  further  agrees  that its
guarantee  hereunder  consti  tutes a guarantee  of payment  when due and not of
collection,  and  waives  any  right to  require  that any  resort be had by the
Administrative  Agent,  the Issuing Bank or any Lender to any security  held for
payment of the Obligations or to any balance of any deposit account or credit on
the books of the  Administrative  Agent, the Issuing Bank or any Lender in favor
of the Borrower or any other person.

                  SECTION 4. The  obligations of each Guarantor  hereunder shall
not be subject to any reduction,  limitation,  impairment or termination for any
reason,  including  any  claim of  waiver,  release,  surrender,  alteration  or
compromise,  and shall not be  subject to any  defense or setoff,  counterclaim,
recoup ment or termination whatsoever by reason of the invalidity, illegality or
unenforceability   of  the  Obligations  or  otherwise.   Without  limiting  the
generality of the foregoing,  the obligations of each Guarantor  hereunder shall
not be  discharged  or  impaired  or  otherwise  affected  by the failure of the
Administrative  Agent,  the  Issuing  Bank or any  Lender to assert any claim or
demand or to enforce any remedy under any Loan  Document,  any  guarantee or any
other agreement,  by any waiver or modification of any thereof,  by any default,
failure or delay,  willful or otherwise,  in the performance of the Obligations,
or by any  other  act or  omission  which  may or might in any  manner or to any
extent vary the risk of any Guarantor or otherwise operate as a discharge of any
Guarantor as a matter of law or equity (other than the  indefeasible  payment in
full of all the Obligations).

                  SECTION 5. Each of the Guarantors  waives any defense based on
or arising out of any defense of the  Borrower  or the  unenforceability  of the
Obligations or any part thereof from any cause,  or the cessation from any cause
of the liability of the Borrower,  other than the final and indefeasible payment
in full in  cash  of the  Obligations.  The  Administrative  Agent  may,  at its
election,  compromise  or  adjust  any part of the  Obligations,  make any other
accommodation  with the  Borrower or any other  guarantor  or exercise any other
right or remedy  available  to it against the  Borrower or any other  guarantor,
without  affecting  or  impairing  in any way  the  liability  of any  Guarantor
hereunder  except to the extent the  Obligations  have been  fully,  finally and
indefeasibly  paid in cash.  Pursuant to applicable  law, each of the Guarantors
waives any defense  arising out of any such  election  even though such election
operates  pursuant to  applicable  law to impair or to  extinguish  any right of
reimbursement or subrogration or other right or remedy of such Guarantor against
the Borrower or any other Guarantor or guarantor, as the case may be.

                  SECTION  6. Each of the  Guarantors  further  agrees  that its
guarantee  shall continue to be effective or be reinstated,  as the case may be,
if at any time payment,  or any part thereof,  of any Obligation is rescinded or
must otherwise be restored by the Administrative  Agent, the Issuing Bank or any
Lender  upon  the  bankruptcy  or  reorganization  of the  Borrower,  any  other
Guarantor or otherwise.

                  SECTION  7.  In  furtherance  of  the  foregoing  and  not  in
limitation of any other right which the  Administrative  Agent, the Issuing Bank
or any Lender has at law or in equity  against any  Guarantor by virtue  hereof,
upon  the  failure  of  Holdings,  the  Borrower  or any  Subsidiary  to pay any
Obligation  when and as the same  shall  become  due,  whether at  maturity,  by
acceleration,  after notice of pre payment or otherwise,  each of the Guarantors
hereby   promises  to  and  will,   upon  receipt  of  written   demand  by  the
Administrative Agent,  forthwith pay, or cause to be paid, to the Administrative
Agent  for  distribution  to  the  Lenders  and  the  Issuing  Bank,  if  and as
appropriate, in cash the amount of such unpaid Obligation, and thereupon each of
the  Administrative  Agent,  the  Issuing  Bank and any  Lender  that shall have
received any part of such payment  shall,  in a  reasonable  manner,  assign the
amount of the Obligations owed to it and paid by such Guarantor pursuant to this
guarantee to such  Guarantor,  such  assignment to be pro tanto to the extent to
which the  Obligations in question were  discharged by such  Guarantor,  or make



such other  disposition  thereof as such  Guarantor  shall  direct (all  without
recourse  to the  Administrative  Agent,  the  Issuing  Bank or such  Lender and
without any representation or warranty by the Administrative  Agent, the Issuing
Bank or such Lender); provided,  however, that until the indefeasible payment in
full of all the Obligations,  none of the Guarantors shall have any right by way
of subrogation or otherwise as a result of the payment of any sums hereunder.

                  SECTION  8.  Each  of the  Guarantors  jointly  and  severally
represents and warrants that all representations and warranties contained in the
Credit Agreement which relate to the Guarantors are true and correct.

                  SECTION 9. The guarantees  made hereunder shall survive and be
in full force and effect so long as any  Obligation is  outstanding  and has not
been  indefeasibly  paid  and so long as any of the  Lenders  have  any  further
commitment  to extend  credit or the Issuing Bank has any further  obligation to
issue  Letters of Credit  under the Credit  Agreement or any Letter of Credit is
outstanding,  and shall be rein stated to the extent provided in Section 6. Each
Subsidiary Guarantor shall be released from its guarantee
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hereunder  in the event  that (a) it ceases  to be a  Subsidiary  or (b) all the
capital  stock  of such  Subsidiary  Guarantor  shall be  sold,  transferred  or
otherwise disposed of, in accordance with the terms of the Credit Agreement,  by
the Borrower to a person that is not an Affiliate of Holdings or the Borrower.

                  SECTION  10.  This  Agreement  and the  terms,  covenants  and
conditions  hereof shall be binding upon each  Guarantor and its  successors and
shall inure to the benefit of the  Administrative  Agent, the Collateral  Agent,
the Issuing Bank and the Lenders and their  respective  successors  and assigns.
None of the  Guarantors  shall be  permitted  to assign or  transfer  any of its
rights or obligations under this Agreement,  except as expressly contemplated by
this Agreement or the Credit Agreement.

                  SECTION 11. No failure on the part of the Administrative Agent
to exercise,  and no delay in exercising,  any right,  power or remedy hereunder
shall operate as a waiver thereof,  nor shall any single or partial  exercise of
any such right, power or remedy by the Administrative Agent, the Issuing Bank or
any Lender preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any
other right,  power or remedy.  All remedies  hereunder and under the other Loan
Documents are cumulative and are not exclusive of any other remedies provided by
law.  Except as provided  in the Credit  Agreement,  none of the  Administrative
Agent, the Issuing Bank or the Lenders shall be deemed to have waived any rights
hereunder or under any other agreement or instrument unless such waiver shall be
in writing and signed by such parties.

                  SECTION 12. THIS  AGREEMENT  SHALL BE CONSTRUED IN  ACCORDANCE
WITH AND GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK.

                  SECTION 13. All  communications and notices hereunder shall be
in writing and given as provided in Section  9.01 of the Credit  Agreement.  All
communications and notices hereunder to each Subsidiary Guarantor shall be given
to it at its address set forth in Schedule I hereto with a copy to the Borrower.

                  SECTION  14.  In  case  any  one or  more  of  the  provisions
contained in this Agreement should be held invalid,  illegal or unenforceable in
any respect with respect to any Guarantor,  no party hereto shall be required to
comply with such  provision  with respect to such  Guarantor for so long as such
provision  is held to be invalid,  illegal or  unenforceable  and the  validity,
legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions contained herein, and of
such  provision  with  respect to any other  Guarantor,  shall not in any way be
affected or impaired.  The parties shall endeavor in good-faith  negotiations to
replace any invalid,  illegal or unenforceable provisions with valid provisions,
the economic  effect of which comes as close as possible to that of the invalid,
illegal or unenforceable provisions.

                  SECTION  15.  This  Agreement  may be  executed in two or more
counterparts, each of which shall constitute an original, but all of which, when
taken  together,  shall  constitute  but  one  instrument;  provided  that  this
Agreement  shall be  construed  as a  separate  agreement  with  respect to each
Guarantor and may be amended,  modified,  supplemented,  waived or released with
respect to any Guarantor without the approval of any other Guarantor and without
affecting the obligations of any other Guarantor hereunder. This Agreement shall
be effective  with respect to any Guarantor  when a counterpart  which bears the
signature of such  Guarantor  shall have been  delivered  to the  Administrative
Agent.

                  SECTION 16. Upon execution and delivery by the  Administrative
Agent and a Subsidiary of an instrument in the form of Annex 1 attached  hereto,
such  Subsidiary  shall become a Subsidiary  Guarantor  hereunder  with the same
force and effect as if originally named as a Subsidiary  Guarantor  herein.  The
execution and delivery of any such  instrument  shall not require the consent of
any
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Guarantor  hereunder.  The rights and  obligations of each  Guarantor  hereunder
shall  remain in full force and effect  notwithstanding  the addition of any new
Subsidiary Guarantor as a party to this Agreement.

         IN  WITNESS  WHEREOF,  the  parties  hereto  have  duly  executed  this
Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

                                       ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS INC.,

                                       by
                                          ----------------------------
                                          Name:
                                          Title:

                                       EACH SUBSIDIARY GUARANTOR LISTED ON
                                       SCHEDULE I HERETO,

                                       by
                                         ----------------------------
                                         Name:
                                         Title:

                                       THE CHASE MANHATTAN BANK, as
                                       Administrative Agent,

                                       by
                                          ----------------------------
                                          Name:
                                          Title:

                                       4
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                                                                         ANNEX 1
                                                      to the Guarantee Agreement

                              SUPPLEMENT  NO. dated as of _______ , 199_, to the
               Guarantee Agreement dated  as of August  25,  1999  (as   amended
               and   supplemented   through   the  date  hereof,  the "Guarantee
               Agreement"), among  ETHAN  ALLEN  INTERIORS   INC.,  a  Delaware
               corporation ("Holdings"),  certain  subsidiaries  of  Ethan Allen
               Inc. (collectively,  the  "Subsidiary  Guarantors",  and together
               with Holdings,  the  "Guarantors")  and THE CHASE MANHATTAN BANK,
               as administrative  agent  (the   "Administrative  Agent") for the
               Lenders, as defined therein.

         A. Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall
have the meanings assigned to such terms in the Guarantee Agreement.

         B.  Holdings  and the  Subsidiary  Guarantors  have  entered  into  the
Guarantee  Agreement in order to induce the Lenders to extend  credit to, and to
induce the  Issuing  Bank to issue  Letters of Credit  for the  account  of, the
Borrower pursuant to the Credit Agreement. The Guarantee Agreement provides that
additional  Subsidiaries  may become  Subsidiary  Guarantors under the Guarantee
Agreement  by  execution  and  delivery  of an  instrument  in the  form of this
Supplement.  Pursuant to the Credit Agreement,  the under signed Subsidiary (the
"New Subsidiary  Guarantor") is required to become a Subsidiary  Guarantor under
the  Guarantee  Agreement.  The New  Subsidiary  Guarantor  desires  to become a
Subsidiary  Guarantor  and Guarantor  under the Guarantee  Agreement in order to
induce the Lenders to continue  to extend  credit and the Issuing  Bank to issue
Letters of Credit under the Credit Agreement and as consideration therefor.



         Accordingly,  the Administrative Agent and the New Subsidiary Guarantor
agree as follows:

         SECTION  1.  In  accordance  with  the  Guarantee  Agreement,  the  New
Subsidiary Guarantor by its signature hereto shall become a Subsidiary Guarantor
and Guarantor under the Guarantee Agreement with the same force and effect as if
originally  named  therein as a Subsidiary  Guarantor  and Guarantor and the New
Subsidiary  Guarantor  hereby  agrees  to all the terms  and  provisions  of the
Guarantee  Agreement  applicable  to it as a Subsidiary  Guarantor and Guarantor
thereunder.  Each reference to a "Guarantor" or a "Subsidiary  Guarantor" in the
Guarantee Agreement shall be deemed to include the New Subsidiary Guarantor. The
Guarantee Agreement is hereby incorporated herein by reference.

         SECTION  2.  This   Supplement   shall   become   effective   when  the
Administrative  Agent  shall have  received  a  counterpart  of this  Supplement
executed on behalf of the New Subsidiary Guarantor.

         SECTION 3. The New Subsidiary  Guarantor hereby represents and warrants
that (i) this Supplement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the
New Subsidiary  Guarantor and con stitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation
of the New Subsidiary  Guarantor,  enforceable against it in accordance with its
terms, and (ii) set forth under its signature hereto is its address for purposes
of notices under the Guarantee Agreement, which information supplements Schedule
I to the Guarantee Agreement and shall be deemed a part thereof for all purposes
of the Guarantee Agreement.

         SECTION 4.  Except as  expressly  supplemented  hereby,  the  Guarantee
Agreement shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with its terms.

         SECTION 5. THIS  SUPPLEMENT  SHALL BE CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE  WITH AND
GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK.

         SECTION 6. In case any one or more of the provisions  contained in this
Supplement should be held invalid,  illegal or unenforceable in any respect, the
validity,  legality and  enforceability  of the remain ing provisions  contained
herein  and in the  Guarantee  Agreement  shall  not in any way be  affected  or
impaired.  The parties  hereto  shall  endeavor in  good-faith  negotiations  to
replace  any  invalid,  illegal or  unenforceable  provisions  herein with valid
provisions,  the economic  effect of which comes as close as possible to that of
the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provisions.

         SECTION 7. This Supplement may be executed in two or more counterparts,
each of which  shall  constitute  an  original,  but all of  which,  when  taken
together, shall constitute but one instrument.
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         SECTION  8.  The New  Subsidiary  Guarantor  agrees  to  reimburse  the
Administrative  Agent for its  reasonable  out-of-pocket  expenses in connection
with this Supplement,  including the reasonable fees and expenses of counsel for
the Administrative Agent.

         IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the New Subsidiary Guarantor and the Administrative
Agent have duly  executed this  Supplement to the Guarantee  Agreement as of the
day and year first above written.

                                       [NAME OF NEW SUBSIDIARY GUARANTOR],

                                        by

                                        Title
                                        Address--------------------------
                                               --------------------------
                                               --------------------------

                                       THE CHASE MANHATTAN BANK, as
                                       Administrative Agent,

                                        by

                                        Title



                                                                 EXECUTION COPY

                                    INDEMNITY,   SUBROGATION  AND   CONTRIBUTION
                           AGREEMENT  dated as of August 25,  1999,  among ETHAN
                           ALLEN INC., a Delaware corporation, (the "Borrower"),
                           each   Subsidiary   of  the  Borrower   party  hereto
                           (collectively,  the "Subsidiary Guarantors"), and THE
                           CHASE MANHATTAN BANK, a New York banking  corporation
                           ("Chase"), as administrative agent (in such capacity,
                           the  "Administrative  Agent")  for  the  Lenders  (as
                           defined herein).

                  Reference is made to the Credit  Agreement  dated as of August
25, 1999 (as amended,  supplemented  or modified from time to time,  the "Credit
Agreement"),  among the Borrower,  Ethan Allen Interiors Inc. ("Holdings"),  the
financial  institutions  from  time to  time  party  thereto,  as  lenders  (the
"Lenders"),   the  Administrative   Agent  and  the   Co-Documentation   Agents.
Capitalized  terms used and not defined herein shall have the meanings  assigned
in the Credit Agreement.

                  The Lenders  have agreed to extend  credit to, and the Issuing
Bank has agreed to issue  Letters of Credit for the  account  of, the  Borrower,
pursuant to, and upon the terms and subject to the con ditions specified in, the
Credit Agreement.  The Subsidiary  Guarantors have guaranteed the obligations of
the  Borrower  pursuant  to  the  Guarantee  Agreement  and  have  secured  such
obligations  pursuant to the Security Documents.  The obligations of the Lenders
to extend  credit and of the Issuing  Bank to issue  Letters of Credit under the
Credit  Agreement are conditioned  upon,  among other things,  the execution and
delivery  by  the  Borrower  and  the  Subsidiary  Guarantors  of an  indemnity,
subrogation and contribution agreement in the form hereof.

                  Accordingly,  the Borrower,  each Subsidiary Guarantor and the
Administrative Agent agree as follows:

                  SECTION 1. Indemnity and Subrogation.  In addition to all such
rights of indemnity and subrogation as the Subsidiary  Guarantors may have under
applicable law (but subject to Section 3), the Borrower agrees that in the event
a  payment  shall  be made  by any  Subsidiary  Guarantor  under  the  Guarantee
Agreement,  the Borrower shall indemnify such Subsidiary  Guarantor for the full
amount of such payment and such Subsidiary  Guarantor shall be subrogated to the
rights of the Person to whom such payment  shall have been made to the extent of
such payment.

                  SECTION  2.  Contribution  and  Subrogation.  Each  Subsidiary
Guarantor (a  "Contributing  Guarantor")  agrees (subject to Section 3) that, in
the event a payment shall be made by any other  Subsidiary  Guarantor  under the
Guarantee   Agreement  and  such  other  Subsidiary   Guarantor  (the  "Claiming
Guarantor") shall not have been fully indemnified by the Borrower as provided in
Section 1, the Contributing  Guarantor shall indemnify the Claiming Guarantor in
an amount equal to the amount of such payment  multiplied by a fraction of which
the numerator shall be the net worth of the  Contributing  Guarantor on the date
hereof  (or, in the case of any  Subsidiary  Guarantor  becoming a party  hereto
pursuant to Section 14, the date of the Supplement hereto executed and delivered
by such  Subsidiary  Guarantor) and the  denominator  shall be the aggregate net
worth  of all the  Subsidiary  Guarantors  on the  date  hereof  (or the date of
execution and delivery of such  Supplement).  Any Contributing  Guarantor making
any  payment  to a  Claiming  Guarantor  pursuant  to this  Section  2 shall  be
subrogated  to the  rights of such  Claiming  Guarantor  under  Section 1 to the
extent of such payment.

                  SECTION 3. Subrogation.  Notwithstanding any provision of this
Agreement  to the con  trary,  all  rights of the  Subsidiary  Guarantors  under
Sections 1 and 2 and all other rights of indemnity,  contribution or subrogation
under   applicable  law  or  otherwise  shall  be  fully   subordinated  to  the
indefeasible  payment in full of the Obligations.  No failure on the part of the
Borrower or any Subsidiary Guarantor to make the payments required by Sections 1
and 2 (or any other payments  required under  applicable law or otherwise) shall
in any respect limit the obligations and liabilities of any Subsidiary Guarantor
with respect to any Guarantee, and each Subsidiary Guarantor shall remain liable
for the full  amount  of the  obligations  of such  Guarantor  under  each  such
Guarantee.

                  SECTION 4.  Termination.  This Agreement  shall terminate when
all Obligations  have been  indefeasibly  paid in full, no Letters of Credit are
outstanding  and the Lenders and the  Issuing  Bank have no further  commitments
under the Credit Agreement.
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                  SECTION  5.  Continued  Effectiveness.  This  Agreement  shall
continue to be  effective or be  reinstated,  as the case may be, if at any time
payment,  or any part thereof,  of any Obligation is rescinded or must otherwise
be restored by any Lender or Issuing Bank or any  Subsidiary  Guarantor upon the
bankruptcy  or  reorganization  of the  Borrower,  any  Subsidiary  Guarantor or
otherwise.

                  SECTION 6.  GOVERNING LAW.  THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED
BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF
NEW YORK.

                  SECTION 7.  Waivers;  Amendment.  Except for the  operation of
Section 14 of this  Agreement,  neither this Agreement nor any provision  hereof
may be waived,  amended  or  modified  except  pursuant  to a written  agreement
entered into between the  Subsidiary  Guarantors and the  Administrative  Agent,
with the prior written consent of the Required Lenders.

                  SECTION 8. Notices.  All  communications  and notice hereunder
shall be in writing and given as provided in the Credit  Agreement,  except that
to any Subsidiary  Guarantor,  communication and notice shall be directed to the
address set forth in or pursuant to the Guarantee Agreement.

                  SECTION 9.  Binding  Agreement;  Assignments.  This  Agreement
shall become  effective as to each of the Borrower or any  Subsidiary  Guarantor
when a counterpart  hereof executed on behalf of the Borrower or such Subsidiary
Guarantor  shall  have  been  delivered  to  the  Administrative   Agent  and  a
counterpart  hereof  shall have been  executed  on behalf of the  Administrative
Agent,  and  thereafter  shall be  binding  upon  each of the  Borrower  or such
Subsidiary   Guarantor  and  the  Administrative   Agent  and  their  respective
successors  and  permitted  assigns,  and  shall  inure to the  benefit  of such
Subsidiary  Guarantor  and the  Lenders  and  their  respective  successors  and
assigns,  except that no Subsidiary Guarantor shall have the right to assign its
rights or obligations  hereunder or any interest  herein (and any such attempted
assignment shall be void), except as expressly contemplated by this Agreement or
the  other  Loan  Documents.  Notwithstanding  the  foregoing,  at the  time any
Subsidiary  Guarantor  is  released  from its  obligations  under the  Guarantee
Agreement in accordance with such Guarantee  Agreement and the Credit Agreement,
such Subsidiary  Guarantor  shall cease to have any rights or obligations  under
this Agreement.

                  SECTION 10. Successors and Assigns. Whenever in this Agreement
any of the parties  hereto is referred  to,  such  reference  shall be deemed to
include the successors and permitted  assigns of such party,  and all covenants,
promises  and  agreements  by or on  behalf  of  each  of  the  Borrower  or any
Subsidiary  Guarantor that are contained in this Agreement  shall bind and inure
to the benefit of their respective successors and permitted assigns.

                  SECTION  11.  Survival  of  Agreement;  Severability.  (a) All
covenants,  agreements and  representations  and warranties made by the Borrower
and  each  Subsidiary   Guarantor  herein  and  in  the  certificates  or  other
instruments prepared or delivered in connection with this Agreement shall be con
sidered to have been relied upon by the  Lenders and each  Subsidiary  Guarantor
and shall survive the making by the Lenders of the Loans and the issuance of the
Letters of Credit by the  Issuing  Bank,  and shall  continue  in full force and
effect as long as any  Obligation is  outstanding  and unpaid and as long as the
Commitments have not been terminated.

                  (b) In the event any one or more of the  provisions  contained
in this  Agreement  should be held  invalid,  illegal  or  unenforceable  in any
respect,  no party hereto shall be required to comply with such provision for so
long as such provision is held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable,  but the
validity,  legality and  enforceability  of the remaining  provisions  contained
herein shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby (it being understood
that the invalidity of a particular provision in a particular jurisdiction shall
not in and of  itself  affect  the  validity  of  such  provision  in any  other
jurisdiction).  The parties shall endeavor in good-faith negotiations to replace
the invalid,  illegal or  unenforceable  provisions  with valid  provisions  the
economic  effect of which  comes as close as  possible  to that of the  invalid,
illegal or unenforceable provisions.

                  SECTION 12.  Counterparts.  This  Agreement may be executed in
two or more counter parts,  each of which shall constitute an original,  but all
of which, when taken together, shall constitute but one instrument.

                  SECTION   13.   Rules   of   Interpretation.   The   rules  of
interpretation  specified  in  Section  1.02 of the  Credit  Agreement  shall be
applicable to this Agreement.
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                  SECTION  14.  Additional  Guarantors.  Pursuant  to the Credit
Agreement,  certain  Subsidiaries  of the Borrower that were not in existence or



not  Subsidiaries on the date of the Credit Agreement are required to enter into
the Guarantee Agreement as Guarantors upon becoming Subsidiaries. Upon execution
and  delivery,  after the date hereof,  by the  Administrative  Agent and such a
Subsidiary  of an  instrument  in the  form of Annex 1 to this  Agreement,  such
Subsidiary shall become a Subsidiary Guarantor hereunder with the same force and
effect as if originally named as a Subsidiary Guarantor hereunder. The execution
and delivery of any instrument  adding an additional  Subsidiary  Guarantor as a
party
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to this  Agreement  shall  not  require  the  consent  of the  Borrower  or any
Subsidiary Guarantor  hereunder.  The rights and obligations of the Borrower and
each Subsidiary Guarantor as a party to this Agreement.

                  IN WITNESS  WHEREOF,  the  parties  hereto  have  caused  this
Agreement  to be executed by their duly  authorized  offers as of the date first
appearing above.

                                       ETHAN ALLEN INC.,

                                       by
                                         ----------------------------
                                         Name:
                                         Title:

                                       EACH SUBSIDIARY GUARANTOR LISTED ON
                                       SCHEDULE I HERETO,

                                       by
                                         ----------------------------
                                         Name:
                                         Title:

                                       THE CHASE MANHATTAN BANK, as
                                       Administrative Agent,

                                       by
                                         ----------------------------
                                         Name:
                                         Title:
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                                                                         ANNEX I
                                               to the Indemnity, Subrogation and
                                                          Contribution Agreement

                                    SUPPLEMENT  NO.  dated as of , 199_,  to the
                           Indemnity,  Subrogation  and  Contribution  Agreement
                           dated  as  of  August  25,   1999  (as   amended  and
                           supplemented through the date hereof, the "Indemnity,
                           Subrogation and Contribution Agreement"), among ETHAN
                           ALLEN INC., a Delaware  corporation (the "Borrower"),
                           certain subsidiaries of the Borrower (the "Subsidiary
                           Guarantors")   and  THE  CHASE   MANHATTAN  BANK,  as
                           administrative agent (the "Administrative Agent").

         A. Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall
have the meanings assigned to such terms in the Guarantee Agreement.

         B. The Borrower  and the  Subsidiary  Guarantors  have entered into the
Indemnity, Subrogation and Contribution Agreement in order to induce the Lenders
to extend  credit to, and to induce the Issuing Bank to issue  Letters of Credit
for  the  account  of,  the  Borrower  pursuant  to the  Credit  Agreement.  The
Indemnity,  Subrogation  and  Contribution  Agreement  provides that  additional
Subsidiaries may become Subsidiary  Guarantors under the Indemnity,  Subrogation
and  Contribution  Agreement by execution  and delivery of an  instrument in the
form of this  Supplement.  Pursuant to the Credit  Agreement,  the under  signed
Subsidiary (the "New  Subsidiary  Guarantor") is required to become a Subsidiary
Guarantor under the Indemnity,  Subrogation and Contribution Agreement.  The New
Subsidiary  Guarantor  desires to become a Subsidiary  Guarantor  and  Guarantor
under the Indemnity,  Subrogation and Contribution  Agreement in order to induce
the Lenders to continue to extend  credit and the Issuing Bank to issue  Letters



of Credit under the Credit Agreement and as consideration therefor.

         Accordingly,  the Administrative Agent and the New Subsidiary Guarantor
agree as follows:

         SECTION  1.  In  accordance   with  the  Indemnity,   Subrogation   and
Contribution  Agreement,  the New Subsidiary  Guarantor by its signature  hereto
shall  become  a  Subsidiary   Guarantor  and  Guarantor  under  the  Indemnity,
Subrogation  and  Contribution  Agreement  with the same  force and effect as if
originally  named  therein as a Subsidiary  Guarantor  and Guarantor and the New
Subsidiary  Guarantor  hereby  agrees  to all the terms  and  provisions  of the
Indemnity,  Subrogation  and  Contribution  Agreement  applicable  to  it  as  a
Subsidiary Guarantor and Guarantor  thereunder.  Each reference to a "Guarantor"
or a  "Subsidiary  Guarantor" in the  Indemnity,  Subrogation  and  Contribution
Agreement  shall  be  deemed  to  include  the  New  Subsidiary  Guarantor.  The
Indemnity,  Subrogation and Contribution Agreement is hereby incorporated herein
by reference.

         SECTION  2.  This   Supplement   shall   become   effective   when  the
Administrative  Agent  shall have  received  a  counterpart  of this  Supplement
executed on behalf of the New Subsidiary Guarantor.

         SECTION 3. The New Subsidiary  Guarantor hereby represents and warrants
that (i) this Supplement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the
New Subsidiary  Guarantor and con stitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation
of the New Subsidiary  Guarantor,  enforceable against it in accordance with its
terms, and (ii) set forth under its signature hereto is its address for purposes
of notices under the Indemnity,  Subrogation and Contribution  Agreement,  which
information   supplements   Schedule  I  to  the  Indemnity,   Subrogation   and
Contribution  Agreement  and shall be deemed a part  thereof for all purposes of
the Indemnity, Subrogation and Contribution Agreement.

         SECTION 4. Except as  expressly  supplemented  hereby,  the  Indemnity,
Subrogation and Contribution  Agreement shall remain in full force and effect in
accordance with its terms.

         SECTION 5. THIS  SUPPLEMENT  SHALL BE CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE  WITH AND
GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK.

         SECTION 6. In case any one or more of the provisions  contained in this
Supplement should be held invalid,  illegal or unenforceable in any respect, the
validity,  legality and  enforceability  of the remain ing provisions  contained
herein and in the Indemnity, Subrogation and Contribution Agreement shall not in
any way be affected or impaired. The parties hereto shall endeavor in good-faith
negotiations to replace any invalid,  illegal or unenforceable provisions herein
with valid  provisions,  the economic effect of which comes as close as possible
to that of the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provisions.
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         SECTION 7. This Supplement may be executed in two or more counterparts,
each of which  shall  constitute  an  original,  but all of  which,  when  taken
together, shall constitute but one instrument.

         SECTION  8.  The New  Subsidiary  Guarantor  agrees  to  reimburse  the
Administrative  Agent for its  reasonable  out-of-pocket  expenses in connection
with this Supplement,  including the reasonable fees and expenses of counsel for
the Administrative Agent.

         IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the New Subsidiary Guarantor and the Administrative
Agent have duly  executed  this  Supplement to the  Indemnity,  Subrogation  and
Contribution Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

                                       [NAME OF NEW SUBSIDIARY GUARANTOR],

                                        by

                                        Title
                                        Address-------------------------
                                               -------------------------
                                               -------------------------

                                       THE CHASE MANHATTAN BANK, as



                                       Administrative Agent,

                                       by

                                       Title



                        CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The Board of Directors
Ethan Allen Interiors Inc.

We consent to the  incorporation  by  reference in the  registration  statements
(Nos.  333-47935 and 333-26949) on Form S-8 of Ethan Allen Interiors Inc. of our
report dated August 4, 1999, except for Note 16, which is as of August 25, 1999,
relating to the  consolidated  balance sheets of Ethan Allen  Interiors Inc. and
Subsidiary  as of  June  30,  1999  and  1998,  and  the  related  consolidated
statements of operations,  shareholders'  equity, and cash flows for each of the
years in the  three-year  period  ended  June 30  1999,  and  related  financial
statement  schedule,  which report appears in the June 30, 1999 annual report on
Form 10-K of Ethan Allen Interiors Inc.

                                                     /s/ KPMG LLP

Stamford, Connecticut
September 22, 1999



<TABLE> <S> <C>

<ARTICLE>                     5
<LEGEND>
This schedule  contains  financial  information  extracted from the consolidated
financial  statements  of Ethan Allen  Interiors,  Inc.  for the year ended June
30,1999  and is  qualified  in its  entirety  by  reference  to  such  financial
statements.
</LEGEND>
<CIK>                         0000896156
<NAME>                        ETHAN ALLEN INTERIORS, INC.
<MULTIPLIER>                                   1000
<CURRENCY>                                     U.S. Dollars

<S>                           <C>
<PERIOD-TYPE>                 Year
<FISCAL-YEAR-END>                              JUN-30-1999
<PERIOD-START>                                 JUL-01-1998
<PERIOD-END>                                   JUN-30-1999
<EXCHANGE-RATE>                                1 <F1>
<CASH>                                         8968
<SECURITIES>                                   0
<RECEIVABLES>                                  34302 <F2>
<ALLOWANCES>                                   2460
<INVENTORY>                                    144045
<CURRENT-ASSETS>                               209826 <F3>
<PP&E>                                         325968
<DEPRECIATION>                                 111476
<TOTAL-ASSETS>                                 480622 <F4>
<CURRENT-LIABILITIES>                          86246 <F5>
<BONDS>                                        9919 <F6>
<PREFERRED-MANDATORY>                          0
<PREFERRED>                                    0 <F7>
<COMMON>                                       447 <F8>
<OTHER-SE>                                     350088 <F9>
<TOTAL-LIABILITY-AND-EQUITY>                   480622
<SALES>                                        762233
<TOTAL-REVENUES>                               762233 <F10>
<CGS>                                          407234
<TOTAL-COSTS>                                  407234
<OTHER-EXPENSES>                               0
<LOSS-PROVISION>                               0
<INTEREST-EXPENSE>                             1882 <F11>
<INCOME-PRETAX>                                132717
<INCOME-TAX>                                   51429
<INCOME-CONTINUING>                            81288
<DISCONTINUED>                                 0
<EXTRAORDINARY>                                0 <F12>
<CHANGES>                                      0
<NET-INCOME>                                   81288
<EPS-BASIC>                                  1.97 <F13>
<EPS-DILUTED>                                  1.92 <F14>

<FN>
- -------
(1)  Not  applicable.  All figures for Ethan Allen  Interiors,  Inc. are in U.S.
     dollars.
(2)  Figure for  receivables  is net of allowances  for doubtful  accounts of
     $2,460.
(3)  Includes prepaid expenses of $14,088.
(4)  Includes goodwill of $10,970 (net of amortization).
(5)  Includes current portion of long-term debt of $757 as of June 30, 1999.
(6)  Includes  long-term debt of $9,611 (net of the current portion of long-term
     debt)  and  capitalized  leases  of $308  (net of the  current  portion  of
     capitalized  leases).  As of June 30, 1999,  outstanding  long-term debt of
     Ethan Allen on a consolidated  basis  consisted of (i)  industrial  revenue
     bonds of $8,455,  and (ii) other of $1,156 (net of current portion).  For a
     description of the terms of Ethan Allen's long-term debt, see Footnote 5 to
     Ethan Allen's fiscal 1999 Consolidated Financial Statements.
(7)  As of June 30, 1999, Ethan Allen had no shares of preferred stock, $.01 par
     value per share, outstanding.  For a description of Ethan Allen's preferred
     stock as of June 30,  1999,  see Ethan  Allen's  fiscal  1999  Consolidated
     Statement of  Stockholders'  Equity and Footnote 7 to Ethan Allen's  fiscal
     1999 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
(8)  As of June 30, 1999,  Ethan Allen had  44,666,791  shares of common  stock,
     $.01 par value per share, issued. For a description of Ethan Allen's common
     stock as of June 30,  1999,  see Ethan  Allen's  fiscal  1999  Consolidated
     Statement of  Stockholders'  Equity and Footnote 7 of Ethan Allen's  fiscal
     1999 Consolidated Financial Statements.
(9)  Consists of $267,286 of additional paid in capital, $161,689 of retained
     earnings, and ($78,887) of treasury stock.



(10) For the year ended June 30, 1999,  Ethan Allen's revenues were derived from
     sales generated by its wholesale and retail operations.
(11) Consists of $1,639 of interest expense and $243 of amortization of deferred
     costs during fiscal 1999.
(12) Not applicable.
(13) Basic  earnings  per share  for the year  June 30,  1999,  was  $1.97.  For
     information  on  Ethan  Allen's  earnings  per  share,  see  Ethan  Allen's
     Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended June 30, 1999.
(14) Diluted earnings per share for the year ended June 30, 1999, was $1.92.
</FN>

</TABLE>


